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         1       <PETER ANTHONY GEARY, on former oath:        [10.15am]

         2

         3       MR FORREST:   Thank you, Commissioner.  Could I seek leave

         4       or authority to be extended to Messrs Galbally Rolfe

         5       solicitors, to act for the witnesses Geary and Long.  In

         6       due course, I anticipate I will seek authority to appear

         7       for Ms Sarah Scales, who is also to be called at this

         8       inquiry, and I will seek leave then for Messrs Galbally

         9       Rolfe to act on behalf of her.  Present here instructing me

        10       today is Mr Leon Fluxman.  During the course of the hearing

        11       I will be instructed by either Mr Fluxman or Mr Brian Rolfe

        12       of that firm.  The various details of that firm and the

        13       correspondence have been supplied to the Commission.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that leave is granted on the usual

        16       terms.

        17

        18       MR FORREST:   Thank you, Commissioner.  I have also, I

        19       should say, supplied Mr Agius with a further "can say"

        20       statement prepared by Mr Long.  It speaks for itself and no

        21       doubt the Commission will have a copy of that shortly.

        22

        23            Insofar as the claim of privilege was made last week

        24       on behalf of Mr Geary at page 1316 of the transcript, we

        25       maintain that claim.  I think that completes the

        26       preliminary matters that I wish to raise.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   I should rise too, Commissioner, in response to

        29       the inquiry that you, sir, made about the claim for

        30       privilege of Mr Geary, on behalf of AWB.  Any claim for

        31       privilege is maintained.  As a courtesy to the witness,

        32       I understand that Mr Agius believes, at least at this

        33       stage, that he may complete the witness by the morning

        34       break, at which time I will take the opportunity, if

        35       convenient, to respond in relation to the matters raised on

        36       Wednesday.

        37

        38       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, you appreciate, don't you, that

        41       the oath that you took last week still applies to you?

        42       A.   Yes, sir.

        43

        44       Q.   When, if at all, do you say you became aware that the

        45       IGB was seeking some form of aftersales service or payment

        46       on account of aftersales service?

        47       A.   Well, I can't say, sir, that I can recall when



            .30/1/06 (16)              1452     P A GEARY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       I became aware of that.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you become aware of it?

         4       A.   I'm unsure, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   Can we bring up, please, AWB.5105.0253, which is an

         7       email from Mr Geary to Sarah Scales and others.  Can you

         8       see that document on your screen, Mr Geary?

         9       A.   Yes, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   If we just follow it through, it appears to be an

        12       email from yourself to Ms Scales and Mr Richardson,

        13       forwarding another document.

        14       A.   Yes, sir.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you see that what it forwards is in fact an email

        17       sent by Marise Wilson on behalf of Nigel Officer?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   It draws attention to attached messages from

        21       Mark Emons and Michael Watson.

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   If we go to the next page, this is the report to

        25       Nigel Officer by Messrs Watson and Emons of 29 May 2000.

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   You will see at the bottom they report on the outcome

        29       of the visit:

        30

        31            Appointment of protective agent in Iraq at

        32            the suggestion of IGB (this was done to

        33            handle admin and logistical issues at

        34            Umm Qasr).

        35

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   Were you aware that the AWB had appointed a protective

        39       agent before that appointment?

        40       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you become aware later - I mean, at some time did

        43       you become aware that Alia had been appointed the

        44       protective agent for AWB?

        45       A.   Yes, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   And that that was pursuant to a written contract?
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         1       A.   I was unaware of any written contract, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you become aware of that appointment shortly after

         4       it took place?

         5       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

         6

         7       Q.   Well, it seems this memo, in the form of an email of

         8       29 May, indicates that a protective agent had been

         9       appointed at the suggestion of the IGB.  If you read the

        10       email, you would have been aware of it then, would you not?

        11       A.   Not necessarily, sir.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why not?

        14       A.   My interest at that time, sir, would have been more on

        15       the - with interest to the national pool, such as other

        16       terms and conditions that they were proposing, like

        17       quality, final at either load port or discharge port.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Would you not have also been interested in

        20       issues such as demurrage?

        21       A.   Yes, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   And speeding up discharge and maximising unloading

        24       potential?

        25       A.   Yes, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, it is for those reasons that Mr Officer says

        28       that he sent this message on.  No doubt that's why you sent

        29       it on to Ms Scales and Mr Richardson?

        30       A.   There is doubt in my mind, sir, why I sent that on,

        31       but my focus at that time would have been the discharge at

        32       the - the terms and conditions in terms of quality.

        33

        34       Q.   It is likely, isn't it, that you would have read this

        35       before sending it on - otherwise, how would you know who to

        36       send it on to?

        37       A.   I can't recall, sir, in terms of how thoroughly I read

        38       that, but I would have forwarded it on to Mr Richardson and

        39       Sarah Scales for their attention.

        40

        41       Q.   Well, Ms Scales was in charge of the pool.  What was

        42       Mr Richardson doing?

        43       A.   Can we just go back to the actual date, sir?

        44

        45       Q.   31 May 2000?

        46       A.   Mr Richardson was in charge of setting prices for the

        47       international sales and marketing people to achieve on a
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         1       FOB basis.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   He worked for the pool?

         4       A.   Yes, sir.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Officer had sent it to you and others,

         7       and you had sent it to those two people in the pool.

         8       A.   Correct.

         9

        10       Q.   I appreciate you say you can't remember whether you

        11       read it, but isn't it likely that you would have read this

        12       before sending it on?

        13       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  Sometimes I would look at an

        14       email and forward it on very quickly to the relevant

        15       people.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   How would you know who the

        18       relevant people were if you didn't know what was in the

        19       email?

        20       A.   In terms of the detail on Iraq at that stage, the

        21       relevant people would have been certainly Sarah and Stuart

        22       Richardson, in terms of our efforts to make sure we better

        23       protected our FOB return.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Would you not have wanted to know the

        26       content of any information which touched upon such issues

        27       as demurrage and speeding up of handling at the port?

        28       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  Certainly --

        29

        30       Q.   What would you have wanted to know about?

        31       A.   I would want to know that international sales and

        32       marketing are taking action or understand the pool's

        33       concern about the build-up of demurrage.

        34

        35       Q.   Would you not want to know about information that

        36       touched upon the continuing relationship between the AWB

        37       and the IGB?

        38       A.   Sir, the people who managed the direct relationship

        39       was international sales and marketing.  So, yes, it was a

        40       concern for the national pool in terms of relationship, but

        41       the people who managed that relationship was international

        42       sales and marketing.

        43

        44       Q.   If we go over the page to page 0255, the first part of

        45       the page speaks of a request to provide data of test

        46       results, cargo arrangements being made for cargo to be

        47       sampled, the expedition of Cotechna certificates, and
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         1       matters which relate directly to issues concerning

         2       demurrage; isn't that right?

         3       A.   Yes, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   And then under the word "current":

         6

         7            There is no formal agreement between

         8            Pool/Chartering for Iraq.

         9

        10       That's something about which you would have wanted to know,

        11       is it not?

        12       A.   Yes, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   The next point:

        15

        16            Chartering has worked on the terms of the

        17            MOU and IGB/AWB agreed terms and conditions

        18            as per the UN Contract.  UN Contract does

        19            not allow for payment of

        20            demurrage/dispatch, ie no transfer of

        21            funds, with the exception of trucking fees,

        22            as agreed in the contract and approved by

        23            UN security council.

        24

        25       You would have wanted to know about that, would you not?

        26       A.   My concern then, sir, at that point in time would have

        27       been lack of business rules between pool and chartering.

        28

        29       Q.   So that's a matter which would have taken your

        30       interest, would it not?

        31       A.   Yes, sir.

        32

        33       Q.  :

        34

        35            Current discharge rate does not meet the

        36            terms of the MOU.

        37

        38       That would have taken your interest as well, would it not?

        39       A.   It is likely to have taken my interest, sir, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Then:

        42

        43            AWB has been approached by IGB to provide

        44            'after sales service'.

        45

        46       That would have taken your interest as well, would it not?

        47       A.   Not necessarily, sir.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   So you read the first three

         3       paragraphs and not the fourth?

         4       A.   Well, I can't recall reading the email, sir, but, in

         5       terms of the areas of interest, there was a lot of tension

         6       between the chartering group and the national pool, in

         7       terms of lack of business rules and who was responsible for

         8       demurrage.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But here is notification of an approach by

        11       IGB "to provide aftersales service", which means the IGB

        12       asking the AWB to do something extra.  Surely that would

        13       have taken your interest, given that anything extra that

        14       the AWB did would have impacted upon the contract?

        15       A.   At that point in time, sir, my interest was very much

        16       between the tension between the chartering group within AWB

        17       and the national pool.

        18

        19       Q.   But if you just take that statement as it stands, "AWB

        20       has been approached by IGB to provide 'aftersales

        21       service'", without knowing anything else, simply reading

        22       that line by itself, one possibility is that that was

        23       likely to affect the bottom line for the pool, if nothing

        24       else; isn't that right?

        25       A.   That would be right, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, then, unless you knew something else, and if you

        28       did, tell us, surely that would have taken your interest.

        29       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  I left those things to the

        30       international sales and marketing team.

        31

        32       Q.   Even though it might affect the bottom line from the

        33       point of view of the pool?

        34       A.   International sales and marketing had a responsibility

        35       to help the pool protect the bottom line, yes, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   I just can't understand why you, yourself, would not

        38       have taken an interest in this, if we accept, for the sake

        39       of argument, that you knew no more than what you read in

        40       that one line.  Why didn't that lead you to pick up the

        41       phone and ring somebody and say, "What's this all about?

        42       Does this affect me?  Will it affect the pool?"  Even to

        43       that extent, surely you would have had at least that much

        44       interest in it, Mr Geary?

        45       A.   At that point in time, sir, I think the issues had

        46       been identified between international sales and marketing,

        47       chartering group and the national pool.  The expectation
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         1       was that the people responsible would then take action.

         2

         3       Q.   But this line that I have read to you doesn't indicate

         4       who is responsible; it simply indicates the possibility of

         5       a further impost upon the AWB.  Is that the best

         6       explanation you can give as to why this might not have

         7       taken your interest?

         8       A.   Yes, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   Then you see "Current Action Plan"?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   The first three matters listed there, as part of the

        14       current action plan, all were matters of interest to you,

        15       were they not?

        16       A.   They would be of interest to me, sir, yes, in terms of

        17       my position in the national pool.

        18

        19       Q.   The fourth point:

        20

        21            Determine what 'after sales service

        22            required' i.e. equipment/cash (Board

        23            approval may be required for this).

        24

        25       Do you see that?

        26       A.   Yes, sir.

        27

        28       Q.   Are you going to say that that wouldn't have taken

        29       your interest?

        30       A.   I can't recall, sir, but at that particular time the

        31       relationship with IGB was with the international sales and

        32       marketing group.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   If the matter was going to the

        35       board, it would have to come from you as the sponsor of

        36       that matter.

        37       A.   Not necessarily, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   Who else?

        40       A.   Well, at that particular point in time, in 2000, there

        41       was a number of other people who were more senior to me.

        42

        43       Q.   No doubt, but it would have to pass through you up the

        44       line to get to the board?

        45       A.   Not necessarily, sir, no.

        46

        47       Q.   It could go around you to the board, could it, from



            .30/1/06 (16)              1458     P A GEARY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       one of your inferiors?

         2       A.   No, sir.  The report then may have been directly from

         3       international sales and marketing to the board.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, you would have known at the time

         6       that any payment of cash to the Iraqis or to the IGB would

         7       be a breach of resolution 661?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, before the witness answers, this

        10       is going to arise as an issue that we have to grapple with

        11       at some stage as to whether that is in fact the case.  It

        12       may be that eventually the submission would be made that

        13       the proposition is not necessarily a correct one, that

        14       there were circumstances in which payments of cash to Iraq

        15       were, or might have been, authorised.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Authorised by whom?

        18

        19       MR JUDD:  Authorised by the United Nations.  Much depends

        20       upon - perhaps we can address this in more detail at a more

        21       convenient time - the way in which the 661 committee

        22       functions, and the fact that if the 661 committee, in

        23       truth, permits a payment of cash, then, because of its

        24       make-up, that amounts to an authorisation, whether it is

        25       formal or otherwise.  That's a matter of construction as to

        26       the way in which the committee works.

        27

        28            The reason I rise is to flag only, at this stage, that

        29       it is likely, very likely, to be an issue that arises

        30       before the Commission, and we do not necessarily accept

        31       that as a correct proposition.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, what you say causes me a

        34       little surprise, I must confess.  I had thought that the

        35       position that AWB had maintained throughout, including in

        36       its letters to both government and to the United Nations,

        37       was that, first of all, it hadn't made any payments to

        38       Iraq, speaking generally; secondly, if it had, those

        39       payments went to Iraq via Alia, unknowingly from AWB's

        40       point of view.  But now you are telling me that payment of

        41       cash to Iraq is in some fashion authorised or justified.

        42       That seems to me a different factual situation.  Legally

        43       what you say may well be right, but, from a factual point

        44       of view, it seems to me a large gap between the position

        45       AWB has previously taken and your statement.

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   I'm not suggesting a factual difference,
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         1       Commissioner.  What I am suggesting is that the proposition

         2       carries with it a legal position, which we may advance at

         3       some point, is not necessarily correct.  That's the point.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I understand the point, but if

         6       AWB is intending to change the position it has previously

         7       maintained, from a factual point of view, and in particular

         8       the position that it set out in the letter of 25 October

         9       2005, I would like to know about that and know about it

        10       very promptly.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Not as presently --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Because this inquiry has asked on more

        15       than one occasion whether there was to be any departure

        16       from that, and we have been told that there would not be.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Not as presently instructed, Commissioner, and

        19       that's why I confined it to the legal issue.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Yes, Mr Agius.  I will

        22       allow the question.  I will note your objection, Mr Judd.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, you would have been aware, would

        25       you not, that resolution 661 did not permit the payments of

        26       cash to the IGB?

        27       A.   I was aware that the resolution had evolved over time,

        28       but I wasn't across the details of the resolution at that

        29       particular time, sir, no.

        30

        31       Q.   This part of the resolution didn't have any evolution

        32       about it, Mr Geary, so far as is relevant.  Resolution 661

        33       stated:

        34

        35            All states shall not make available to the

        36            government of Iraq or to any commercial,

        37            industrial or public utility undertaking in

        38            Iraq or Kuwait, any funds or any other

        39            financial or economic resources, and shall

        40            prevent their nationals and any persons

        41            within their territories from removing from

        42            their territories or otherwise making

        43            available to that government or to any such

        44            undertaking any such funds or resources,

        45            and from remitting any other funds to

        46            persons or bodies within Iraq or Kuwait,

        47            except payments exclusively for strictly
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         1            medical or humanitarian purposes and, in

         2            humanitarian circumstances, foodstuffs.

         3

         4       A.   Well, I wasn't aware at that time of the detail that

         5       you had pointed out, sir, no.

         6

         7       Q.   Look, it would have been irresponsible of you not to

         8       be aware that the AWB were not permitted under

         9       Resolution 661 to make payments of cash to the government

        10       of Iraq or to any other commercial or public utility

        11       undertaking business in Iraq?

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   I object for the same reason, Commissioner, and

        14       I assume you, Commissioner, will note the objection.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   It is asking the witness to interpret the

        19       resolution.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think you may assume I understand

        22       your resolution.  There is no need to keep repeat willing

        23       it.

        24

        25       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, I object on behalf of the

        26       witness.  In my submission it is quite unfair to ask this

        27       witness to offer his ad hoc legal interpretation of a

        28       sanction that is now merely a distant memory.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow it.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It would have been irresponsible of you

        33       not to know that basic detail about Resolution 661, would

        34       it not?

        35       A.   No, I disagree, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   What was the state of your knowledge as at May 2000 as

        38       to what could or could not be done so far as making

        39       payments of cash to the Iraqis was concerned?

        40       A.   My state of knowledge was limited, sir.  I knew that

        41       our - from time to time our office in New York, as I had

        42       done when I was in New York earlier, would work through our

        43       mission in New York to explain to the UN in terms of

        44       perhaps how the resolution could be amended to assist in

        45       terms of execution of business, sir.  That was my knowledge

        46       at that time.

        47
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         1       Q.   What's the answer to my question?

         2       A.   I thought I answered your question, sir, but can you

         3       please repeat the question.

         4

         5       Q.   What was the state of your knowledge as at May 2000 as

         6       to what could or could not be done so far as making

         7       payments of cash to the Iraqis was concerned?

         8       A.   I had no knowledge, sir.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What did you think the

        11       Oil-for-Food Program was about?

        12       A.   Commissioner, the Oil-for-Food Program was originally

        13       set up for - to help feed the Iraqis.

        14

        15       Q.   Because?

        16       A.   Certainly in terms of the sanctions that were put on

        17       at an earlier date, sir.  It was originally set up for food

        18       and medicine.

        19

        20       Q.   But the whole structure was based on the fact that the

        21       United Nations had said nations and companies within those

        22       nations will not deal with Iraq.  That induced a

        23       humanitarian crisis, so you had the Oil-for-Food Program?

        24       A.   Yes, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   Where they said, "Iraq can sell its oil but the

        27       United Nations will control the funds and Iraq can buy food

        28       and medicines but they will come from the proceeds of oil."

        29       It is as simple as that, isn't it?

        30       A.   Yes, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Doesn't that necessarily mean that you couldn't supply

        33       moneys to Iraq?

        34       A.   At this point in time, sir, we were looking at -

        35       I assume they were looking at working with the UN to speed

        36       up issues on discharge, and there was a whole range of

        37       issues that they were looking at, including supplying

        38       equipment.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius?

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, can we go to the next page,

        43       page 0256.  There are six matters listed under the heading

        44       "Implement following"; do you see that?

        45       A.   It is on the side, sir.  Now it is upside down.  Now

        46       I see it.  I can see it now, sir, yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Each one of those matters would have been of interest

         2       to you in the position you held as at May 2000.

         3       A.   In my position, sir, yes, those points would be of

         4       interest to the national pool.

         5

         6       Q.   So we have a situation, Mr Geary, where Nigel Officer

         7       has sent this email to you on 30 May; do you agree with

         8       that?

         9       A.   Yes, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   And that many of the matters that we have covered in

        12       this email are matters which you have conceded would have

        13       been of concern to you in the position you held in May of

        14       2000?

        15       A.   Yes, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Is it not likely, in those circumstances, that you

        18       would have read this email?

        19       A.   I can't recall, sir --

        20

        21       Q.   That's not my question.  Is it not likely that you

        22       would have read the email?

        23       A.   It is likely I could have skimmed the email and

        24       forwarded it on to relevant people in the pool.

        25

        26       Q.   Is it likely that you would have read it, as opposed

        27       to skimming it?

        28       A.   I can't say today, sir, whether it is likely or not.

        29

        30       Q.   But you will agree that, as early as May of 2000, this

        31       email raises the prospect of the AWB being approached by

        32       the IGB to provide aftersales service?

        33       A.   Well, if I had read that rather than skimming it, but,

        34       as I say, sir, I can't recall the details of that email.

        35

        36       Q.   And that somebody within AWB - indeed, Messrs Watson

        37       and Emons - at least considered the prospect that

        38       aftersales service might involve the provision of equipment

        39       or cash --

        40       A.   Yes, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   -- by the AWB to the Iraqis?

        43       A.   That's what it says there, sir, yes.

        44

        45       Q.   What was done about that suggestion, do you know, the

        46       suggestion that the current action plan involved

        47       determining what aftersales service was required - that is,
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         1       "equipment/cash (board approval may be required for

         2       this)" - what happened to that?

         3       A.   I can't recall, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   Who would be the person within AWB who would have had

         6       responsibility for overseeing that action plan?

         7       A.   Well, in my opinion, sir, it would be the person

         8       responsible for international sales and marketing and

         9       chartering at that time, which was Nigel Officer, and the

        10       senior person in charge of the pool, which would be

        11       Ted Laskie, and at that point in time, if I recall

        12       correctly, sir, we had a gentleman, chief operational

        13       officer, I think his name was Michael Tighe.  So those

        14       people would have been responsible if there was, indeed,

        15       any recommendation made to the board.

        16

        17       Q.   In your statement --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Just before we go on, Mr Geary, at

        20       some point of time I will be writing a report and I will

        21       have to make a finding about your credit and I will have to

        22       make a finding, inter alia, probably make a finding about

        23       whether you have read this document or not.  You have told

        24       me two things this morning - one is it is likely that you

        25       "skimmed it", and the second is that you can't say if it is

        26       likely that you read it or not.  Is that your best

        27       recollection?

        28       A.   I can't recall, sir, reading this document.  I am just

        29       trying to think at that point in time, with everything else

        30       going on - it was forwarded to me by Nigel Officer and I am

        31       likely to have forwarded it to Sarah Scales and Stuart

        32       Richardson.  Now, I haven't looked at the dates in terms of

        33       how long I held it before I forwarded it, but I can't

        34       recall actually going through this email in any great

        35       detail, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   We can tell you the times.  As I read it, it went to

        38       you on 30 May at 12.20 and you forwarded it on 31 May at

        39       2.25pm.  So you held it for somewhat more than a day.  Does

        40       that help you?

        41       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  As I say, I would have

        42       forwarded it on to the relevant people as information

        43       sharing, that international sales and marketing were

        44       actually doing something.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You sent it on to Ms Scales and

         2       Mr Richardson, neither of whom were in international sales

         3       and marketing.  Why would you not have contacted Nigel

         4       Officer and sought advice from him as to what he was doing

         5       about it?

         6       A.   Mr Officer has shared that information with Mr Laskie

         7       and Mr Tighe, so, no, I can't recall speaking to Mr Officer

         8       about that, sir.  I would have just been aware that, based

         9       on this email and my sketchy details in terms of what

        10       I actually did with it - that international sales and

        11       marketing were taking action on the pool's concerns.

        12

        13       Q.   What you said in your statement at paragraph 11.10 was

        14       this:

        15

        16            However, if it had come to my attention

        17            that people with AWBL suspected that the

        18            payments being made by AWBL to Alia were

        19            not entirely for trucking fees or were

        20            being channelled to the Iraqi government,

        21            I was conscious of the need to check our

        22            position with DFAT and I would have

        23            instructed the IS&M Group Manager to seek

        24            clarification from DFAT and if necessary

        25            the UN.

        26

        27       Now, you said that in connection with trucking fees and

        28       money being channeled to the Iraq government.  This report

        29       by Messrs Watson and Emons raises as a spectre or

        30       possibility the payment of aftersales service in cash to

        31       the IGB.  Why did you not take the kind of action that we

        32       read in your statement you would have taken, as you say, if

        33       you had become aware that Alia was being used to channel

        34       funds to the Iraqis?

        35       A.   Certainly, sir, in terms of my position in the

        36       organisation in early 2003, that was the case, but in the

        37       middle of 2000, sir, in terms of my responsibilities, as

        38       I said, it was very much focused on pool returns and other

        39       people had responsibility for customer relationship and

        40       smooth contract execution.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that chain of emails,

        43       commencing with AWB.5105.0253 through to and inclusive of

        44       0256.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #70 CHAIN OF EMAILS, BARCODED AWB.5105.0523-0526

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we bring up, please, AWB.5105.0258.

         2       Mr Geary, can you see there an email of 31 May 2000 at

         3       2.26pm that you forwarded?

         4       A.   Yes, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   If we follow that email through, at the bottom of the

         7       page you will see that Mark and Michael - that's Messrs

         8       Watson and Emons - were writing to Nigel Officer following

         9       their meeting with the transport company/protective agent

        10       and also the Iraq Trade Commissioner?

        11       A.   Yes, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   So you will see that we are about to read an email

        14       that you forwarded to Messrs Scales and Richardson on

        15       31 May 2000 at 2.26.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   This is a minute after you forwarded the last chain of

        19       emails that we have seen.  If we go to the next page, at

        20       page 0259, Messrs Watson and Emons are setting out the

        21       result of their meeting with the transport company and the

        22       protective agent and the Iraqi Trade Commissioner

        23       concerning delays.  Do you see in paragraphs 3 and 4, on

        24       page 0259:

        25

        26            3) March - trucks dispatched to Egypt to

        27            collect cargoes thereby reducing

        28            discharging capacity at Umm Qasr

        29            4) Minister instructed that all trucks

        30            return to Umm Qasr effective 21 May.

        31

        32       A.   Yes, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   Did that not indicate to you that it was the Iraqi

        35       minister who was controlling the availability of trucks at

        36       Umm Qasr?

        37       A.   Well, it wouldn't have indicated anything to me at

        38       that particular point of time, sir.  As I said, the

        39       relationship with the IGB and what was the execution of the

        40       contracts was left with international sales and marketing.

        41

        42       Q.   Does it indicate that to you now?

        43       A.   It indicates that to me now, yes, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   That would seem to run counter to any suggestion that

        46       it was Alia that was in control of the availability of

        47       trucks at Umm Qasr, would it not?
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         1       A.   I don't know, sir.  I don't know the inner workings of

         2       the instructions in terms of trucks between the IGB or the

         3       minister and Alia - the scheduling of trucks, et cetera,

         4       sir.

         5

         6       Q.   But on the face of what is reported there it would

         7       seem plain, would it not, that it was the minister, as

         8       opposed to Alia, that controlled the availability of trucks

         9       at Umm Qasr?  Isn't that the case?

        10       A.   Well, that may be the case, sir, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   That's the plain meaning of those words, isn't it?

        13       A.   As I say, sir, I wasn't, and still am not, aware in

        14       terms of the arrangements between the minister and Alia,

        15       so - obviously the minister is concerned about the lack of

        16       trucks at Umm Qasr.

        17

        18       Q.   But those statements go well beyond any concern of the

        19       minister; they speak about the power of the minister, do

        20       they not, to direct the trucks?

        21       A.   Well, I'm not quite sure, sir.  I can't really

        22       interpret what that means.  It could be that Alia had

        23       trucks that were being used elsewhere.  I don't really

        24       know, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   I put to you, "Did that not indicate to you that it

        27       was the Iraqi minister who was controlling the availability

        28       of trucks at Umm Qasr", and you said, "It indicates that to

        29       me now, yes, sir."  You don't want to change that, do you?

        30

        31       MR FORREST:   I object to this, Commissioner.  In my

        32       submission, the witness has been examined about this at

        33       length.  He has offered his answer.  To put to him now, "Do

        34       you wish to change the answer you gave me previously" is

        35       hectoring the witness.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow it.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Do you want to change that answer?

        40       A.   No, sir, I don't know what that means, that particular

        41       point 4.

        42

        43       Q.   What you said was, "It indicates that to me now".  Do

        44       you want to change that answer?

        45       A.   No, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Why didn't it indicate that to you in May of 2000 when
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         1       you forwarded this email on to Sarah Scales and Stuart

         2       Richardson?

         3       A.   Well, as I say, sir, I can't recall actually reading

         4       this email, but then, as in now, the relationship with the

         5       customer is at the international sales and marketing end,

         6       not at the pool end.

         7

         8       Q.   You were sending this to two people in the pool for

         9       their information.  You must have had in mind that it would

        10       be of interest to them.  Why would it not actually have

        11       been of interest to you?

        12       A.   The issue for the pool, sir, was the speed-up of

        13       discharge at Umm Qasr and the control of the demurrage.

        14       The action to be taken was left with international sales

        15       and marketing and the chartering group.

        16

        17       Q.   These two paragraphs relate directly to the speed of

        18       discharge, because they speak of the availability of

        19       trucks.

        20       A.   Yes, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   Why would these two matters have not been of interest

        23       to you, given that you had decided, in forwarding them to

        24       Ms Scales and Mr Richardson, that they would be of interest

        25       to them?

        26       A.   Of interest to the pool, sir, was that international

        27       sales and marketing were actually taking action to address

        28       our concerns.

        29

        30       Q.   Mr Geary, I suggest to you that it was plain to you,

        31       in May of 2000, that it was the Iraqis who were providing

        32       the trucks at Umm Qasr?

        33       A.   No, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   I suggest to you that it was plain to you in May of

        36       2000 that the Iraqis were requesting aftersales service

        37       which might take the form of cash?

        38       A.   No, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   I suggest to you that it was plain to you in May of

        41       2000 that if that had occurred it would have been a breach

        42       of the UN sanctions?

        43       A.   No, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   You deny that it would have been plain to you at May

        46       of 2000 that the payment of cash to the Iraqis would have

        47       been a breach of the UN sanctions; is that what you say?
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         1       A.   I wasn't aware of the detail of the UN sanctions so,

         2       yes, sir, that's what I'm saying.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I tender that chain of emails, which starts at

         5       AWB.5105.0258 and goes through to 0259.

         6

         7       EXHIBIT #71 CHAIN OF EMAILS, BARCODED AWB.5105.0258-0259

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When did you become aware of what you

        10       describe as the detail, so that you were mindful that the

        11       payment of cash to the Iraqis was in breach of the

        12       sanctions?  When did you become aware of that?

        13       A.   I never actually became aware of that, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Geary, we have seen the memorandum which you

        16       approved and to which you attached a note and which you

        17       sent to Mr Lindberg which contains the legal advice which

        18       we're not allowed to see, but which sets out sanction 661

        19       and which makes plain that the payment of money to the

        20       Iraqis was contrary to the sanction and that the Australian

        21       Government would be duty bound to prevent it.  You don't

        22       need to be reminded of all of that, do you?

        23       A.   No, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   So when did you become aware, between May of 2000

        26       and February of 2003, that the payment of cash to the

        27       Iraqis or the transfer of funds to the Iraqis was contrary

        28       to the UN sanctions?

        29       A.   Well, as I said, sir, in terms of the payment of hard

        30       cash, I wasn't aware, and we needed to seek advice on that

        31       issue.

        32

        33       Q.   I will ask you again:  as between May of 2000

        34       and February of 2003 when did you become aware that the

        35       payment of cash or the transfer of funds to the Iraqis was

        36       a breach of the UN sanctions?

        37       A.   I can't recall a point where I became aware of that,

        38       sir.

        39

        40       Q.   Were you aware of it at the time that Mr Long did his

        41       exercise on the white board that you told us about last

        42       week?

        43       A.   I can't recall whether I would have been aware at that

        44       point in time, sir.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you become aware of it between May of 2000

        47       and February, when you approved that memorandum and sent it
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         1       on to Mr Lindberg?

         2       A.   No, I wasn't aware of the detail of the UN

         3       Oil-for-Food Program, sir, the ultimate - the intimate

         4       detail.

         5

         6       Q.   I'm not asking you about detail; I'm asking you about

         7       the whole thrust of the document - that payments of cash to

         8       the Iraqi government or to an Iraqi entity were contrary to

         9       the sanctions.  Did you ever become aware of that?

        10

        11       MR FORREST:   I object to the question.  I ask Mr Agius to

        12       identify the document that is the document the subject of

        13       his question.  If Mr Agius is saying that the document of

        14       7 February 2003 is the document he is referring to, in my

        15       submission, the proposition that he builds into the

        16       question is far from made out.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I will allow the question.

        19

        20       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, would you hear me on this

        21       matter a little further?

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I think I've heard what you --

        24

        25       MR FORREST:   Could I ask you, Commissioner, to give me

        26       reasons why you will not hear me further?

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I don't propose to give reasons in

        29       relation to objections to evidence.  Judges are not

        30       required to do so, and I don't propose to do so.

        31

        32       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, in my submission, the

        33       question misstates the effect of this document and is quite

        34       unfair to the witness and, as such, is a denial of

        35       procedural fairness.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I have noted your objection.

        38       Yes, Mr Agius.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, I was asking about the whole

        41       thrust of the document - that is, sanction 661 - that

        42       payments of cash to the Iraqi government or to an Iraqi

        43       entity were contrary to the sanctions.  Did you ever become

        44       aware of that?

        45       A.   No, sir.  I can't say that I ever became aware of

        46       that.

        47
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         1       Q.   Can we bring up, please, exhibit 32, AWB.0188.0047.

         2       That's the memorandum that you approved and forwarded to

         3       Mr Lindberg, Mr Geary; do you remember that?

         4       A.   Yes, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   If we go to the bottom of page 0047, do you see there

         7       is raised as an issue:

         8

         9            Possible implications for AWB on a

        10            corporate governance basis ie/direct

        11            payment to a company with links to the

        12            Iraqi regime may be construed to be in

        13            contravention of the UN Sanctions.

        14

        15       Do you see that?

        16       A.   Yes, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   Do you see that the UN sanction is then set out?  Do

        19       you see that?

        20       A.   Yes, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   It is the same one I read to you earlier.  Read it

        23       again.  When you get to the end of the page, if you

        24       indicate, we can turn the page for you.

        25       A.   Yes, sir.  Can we turn the page, thanks.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you read the sentence that says this:

        28

        29            In summary, this means that the Government

        30            of the Commonwealth of Australia would be

        31            obliged to prevent AWB Limited from making

        32            any remittance of funds to the IGB.

        33

        34       A.   Yes, sir.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   They are pretty plain words,

        37       Mr Geary?

        38       A.   Yes, Commissioner.

        39

        40       Q.   You understood them, you approved them, and you sent

        41       it on to your chief executive officer?

        42       A.   With a covering note, sir, that I had concerns and

        43       I wasn't 100 per cent aware of the UN regulations; that

        44       legal advice does say "it may".

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   We haven't seen the legal advice;

        47       you had better not tell us what that says.
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         1       A.   Well, sir, I certainly had concerns, sir.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You approved and forwarded a memo which

         4       set out 661 and which set out a summary, unequivocally, "In

         5       summary, this means that the government of the Commonwealth

         6       of Australia would be obliged to prevent AWB Limited from

         7       making any remittance of funds to the IGB"?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Your covering note read:

        11

        12            My guess is that DFAT and the UN will have

        13            major problems with this.

        14

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   So your guess was that this information that the

        18       government would be obliged to prevent AWB Limited from

        19       making any remittance of funds to the IGB was correct -

        20       isn't that right?

        21       A.   I had concerns, sir, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Now, you developed those concerns long before

        24       7 February 2003, did you not?

        25       A.   I had concerns - no, sir, I can't recall.  I think

        26       I developed those concerns on the - from the email from

        27       the, or the memo from 7 February.

        28

        29       Q.   Is it your sworn testimony that, prior to this

        30       memorandum of 7 February 2003, you were not aware that the

        31       AWB was not permitted to make available to the government

        32       of Iraq or to the IGB any funds?

        33       A.   I was aware that we had a quality claim and I was

        34       aware that was normal commercial practice.  I wasn't aware

        35       of the exact procedures to remit those - that quality -

        36       settle that quality claim with the IGB, sir, no.

        37

        38       Q.   I will ask you again.

        39       A.   Yes, sir.

        40

        41       Q.   And I have to ask you this, because, at the end of the

        42       day, counsel assisting this inquiry may well make a

        43       submission that you were well aware of this before

        44       7 February, which is why I am putting this to you, so that

        45       you can deal with it.  Do you say that, prior to 7 February

        46       2003, you were not aware that the AWB was not permitted to

        47       transfer funds to the government of Iraq or to the IGB?
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         1       A.   No, I wasn't aware, sir.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Until 7 February 2003?

         4       A.   7 February, sir, I had some concerns, but my detailed

         5       knowledge of the UN regulations at that time, sir, no,

         6       I did not have exact knowledge.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Don't misunderstand me, Mr Geary:  I'm not

         9       asking you about your exact knowledge of the UN sanctions.

        10       I put it to you very broadly.  Were you or were you not

        11       aware before 7 February 2003 that, by the UN sanctions, the

        12       AWB was not permitted to make transfer of funds to the

        13       government of Iraq or to the IGB?

        14       A.   No, sir, I was not aware of that.

        15

        16       Q.   But you became aware of it on 7 February 2003?

        17       A.   No, sir, I did not become aware on 7 February 2003.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you read this memo before you signed it and sent

        20       it off to Mr Lindberg?

        21       A.   I read the memo in terms of all of the issues, sir.

        22       As I said, I had concerns, and a covering note to

        23       Mr Lindberg.

        24

        25       Q.   So you read it?

        26       A.   Yes, sir - I did read the memo.

        27

        28       Q.   Did it not inform you in spades that the AWB was not

        29       permitted to transfer funds to the government of Iraq or to

        30       the IGB?

        31       A.   No, sir.

        32

        33       MR FORREST:   I object to that, Mr Commissioner.  In my

        34       submission, that procures from this memorandum a very

        35       selective sentence and does not put the overall effect of

        36       the memorandum, in particular the effect of the

        37       paragraph under the heading "Actions" on page 3, which

        38       summarises the position of the AWB or the authors of that

        39       document.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Yes, I will allow the question.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did it not inform you in spades, Mr Geary,

        44       that the AWB was not permitted to transfer funds to the

        45       government of Iraq or to the IGB?

        46       A.   No, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   So you never came away from reading this memo with

         2       that information?

         3       A.   No, I had concerns, sir, but I certainly - it wasn't

         4       black and white to me.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you ever make up your mind about it?  When you say

         7       you had concerns, did you ever form an opinion as to

         8       whether or not at any time the AWB had been permitted to

         9       transfer funds to the government of Iraq or to the IGB?

        10       A.   In terms of my own opinion, sir?

        11

        12       Q.   Yes.

        13       A.   My opinion, sir, was that we could get funds back to

        14       settle a claim, either by reducing the price of a future

        15       contract or by loading some more wheat on to a vessel.  So

        16       that was my opinion, sir, without seeking clarification

        17       from DFAT or via DFAT to the UN, sir.  That was my opinion.

        18

        19       Q.   Neither of those methods would put any funds back into

        20       the hands of the IGB or the Iraqis, would they?

        21       A.   Well, sir, it would be a payment in kind for the - to

        22       settle the quality dispute, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   So you agree with my proposition, that neither of

        25       those methods would put funds back into the hands of the

        26       Iraqis?

        27       A.   No, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   You agree?

        30       A.   Yes, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Now, what about the question I asked you:  when you

        33       say you had concerns, did you ever form an opinion as to

        34       whether or not at any time the AWB had been permitted to

        35       transfer funds to the government of Iraq or to the IGB?

        36       A.   I formed an opinion, sir, but, as I said, I wasn't

        37       close to the UN policies and procedures at that time.

        38

        39       Q.   What was your opinion?

        40       A.   My opinion was that the moneys could be returned via a

        41       decrease in a contract price or an increase in tonnage,

        42       sir.

        43

        44       Q.   What was your opinion as to whether or not at any time

        45       the AWB had been permitted to transfer funds to the

        46       government of Iraq or to the IGB?

        47       A.   I wasn't - at that point in time, sir, I wasn't aware
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         1       of whether that was able to be done or not.

         2

         3       Q.   Mr Geary, have you at any time up until today formed

         4       an opinion as to whether or not the AWB had ever been

         5       permitted to transfer funds to the government of Iraq or to

         6       the IGB?

         7       A.   Up until today, no, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   You have never formed an opinion about that?

        10       A.   No, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   Are you serious?

        13       A.   The process was, sir, we would - if we had questions,

        14       we would pass them through the appropriate channels.

        15

        16       Q.   Is that a serious and honest answer - that you have

        17       not formed an opinion about whether or not the AWB had ever

        18       been permitted to transfer funds to the government of Iraq

        19       or to the IGB?

        20       A.   No, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   And you say that as a senior manager of the AWB?

        23       A.   Yes, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   As a manager who had some responsibility for ensuring

        26       that the AWB did not act in breach of sanctions?

        27       A.   Well, certainly, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   And you never formed an opinion about it?

        30       A.   My opinion, sir, was that we would have to seek

        31       clarification.  It was a grey area.

        32

        33       Q.   Did you ever seek that clarification?

        34       A.   In 2003, sir, no.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you hear my question?

        37       A.   You asked me --

        38

        39       Q.   Did you ever seek that clarification?

        40       A.   Myself personally, sir, no.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you ever direct anybody else to seek that

        43       clarification?

        44       A.   Myself personally, sir, no.

        45

        46       Q.   So you never directed anybody to seek that

        47       clarification?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you know whether anybody ever sought clarification

         4       of this issue - whether the AWB was permitted to transfer

         5       funds to the government of Iraq or to the IGB?

         6       A.   I'm unaware of that, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   If you couldn't form an opinion about it and if you

         9       didn't know, why didn't you make it your business to find

        10       out?

        11       A.   Certainly, sir, in terms of the memo to Mr Lindberg on

        12       the 10th, I was urging caution on where we were at and,

        13       yes, I was certainly recommending that we do find out on a

        14       number of issues.

        15

        16       Q.   What's the answer to my question?

        17       A.   Could you repeat the question, please, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   If you couldn't form an opinion about it and if you

        20       didn't know, why didn't you make it your business to find

        21       out, as to whether or not the AWB was permitted to transfer

        22       funds to the Iraqis or to the IGB?

        23       A.   In terms of my responsibility, sir, it had never

        24       become an issue until, as I say, March - February/March

        25       2003.

        26

        27       Q.   And my question is why did you never do anything about

        28       it?  Why did you never make it your business to find out?

        29       A.   In March 2003, sir?

        30

        31       Q.   At any time - at any time up until today, given that

        32       you have told us that up until today you still don't have

        33       an opinion on it?

        34       A.   It never raised - it was never raised as an issue in

        35       terms of my direct responsibility, sir.  It was only at

        36       that point in early 2003.

        37

        38       Q.   Yes, and why have you done nothing about it since

        39       then?  Your company, the AWB, has been dragged through the

        40       investigation by the IIC.  You have prepared a statement to

        41       assist this inquiry.  That is one of the prime matters

        42       which the IIC and this inquiry is looking at.  Why have you

        43       not made it your business up until now to find out?

        44       A.   In terms of the circumstances we were dealing with in

        45       early 2003, as I have explained, war intervened and the

        46       situation changed, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   How is it, then, you are able to make a statement,

         2       which you have told us is true, in which you say:

         3

         4            However, if it had come to my attention

         5            that people with AWBL suspected that the

         6            payments being made by AWBL to Alia were

         7            not entirely for trucking fees or were

         8            being channelled to the Iraqi government,

         9            I was conscious of the need to check our

        10            position with DFAT and I would have

        11            instructed the IS&M Group Manager to seek

        12            clarification from DFAT and if necessary

        13            the UN.

        14

        15       How were you able to say that in your statement if you

        16       didn't have a view one way or the other as to whether or

        17       not the transfer of funds to the Iraqi regime or to the IGB

        18       was within or without the sanctions?

        19       A.   That statement is dealing with the trucking fee.  The

        20       issue we're talking about, sir, is a quality claim.

        21

        22       Q.   Mr Geary, the issue we're talking about - and we have

        23       been talking about for the last 20 minutes - is the

        24       transfer of funds to the Iraqis, and that statement

        25       mentions those words precisely when it says "if it had come

        26       to my attention that people with AWBL suspected that the

        27       payments being made by AWBL to Alia were not entirely for

        28       trucking fees or were being channelled to the Iraq

        29       government".  Would you please answer my question?

        30

        31       MR FORREST:   In my submission, my learned friend ought

        32       read the full content of that paragraph and not just a

        33       selective portion of it, Mr Commissioner.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Would you read the full

        36       paragraph, Mr Agius, please?

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I will read it again.  Could we bring it up,

        39       please, so that there is no doubt?  It is in the statement,

        40       exhibit 55, barcoded WST.0001.0101, at page 0119.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is at the foot of the page.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Would you read 11.9 and 11.10, just to

        45       yourself.

        46       A.   Yes, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   How are you able to make that statement, Mr Geary, if

         2       you didn't have a view one way or the other as to whether

         3       payments to the Iraqi government were in breach of the

         4       sanctions?

         5

         6       MR FORREST:   I object to that question, Mr Commissioner.

         7       In my submission it is palpably unfair.  The question

         8       invites an answer to, "How can you make that statement",

         9       "How can you say that you are conscious of the need to

        10       check the position with DFAT if you don't have an opinion

        11       about payments".  Now, in my submission --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's precisely the question.

        14

        15       MR FORREST:   That's exactly why you might check the

        16       position.  In my submission, it's entirely unfair.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  No, I will allow the question.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   How are you able to make that statement if

        21       you didn't have a view one way or the other as to whether

        22       payments to the Iraqi government were in breach of the

        23       sanctions?

        24       A.   Sir, it was never ever brought to my attention that

        25       there was concern on the trucking.  Payments, as I said

        26       before, on the quality claim - the payment was in payment

        27       in kind, like, as I said in that memo to Mr Lindberg,

        28       adjustment to the contract price or some more wheat, but it

        29       was never brought to my concern at any time, sir, or to my

        30       attention, in terms of my position that I held, in charge

        31       of international sales and marketing.

        32

        33       Q.   Mr Geary, as I have said to you before in an earlier

        34       question, I am not asking you about the trucking fees.

        35       I drew your attention to the words which you have now read,

        36       "or were being channelled to the Iraq government".  How did

        37       you even know there was an issue about that which would

        38       require you, let alone make you conscious of the need, to

        39       check your position with DFAT, and which would have led you

        40       to instruct the IS&M group manager to seek clarification

        41       from DFAT and, if necessary, the UN?

        42       A.   This statement, sir, was written in - you know, well

        43       after the fact, so I was aware in terms of the outcome of

        44       the Volcker committee, but those issues were never raised

        45       with me at any point in time, sir, whilst I was in a

        46       position of authority over international sales and

        47       marketing.
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         1

         2       Q.   So are you saying that whilst you were at AWB, and

         3       before the Volcker committee published its final report,

         4       you were never aware even that there was an issue about

         5       whether payments could be made or funds could be

         6       transferred to the Iraqi government; is that what you are

         7       saying?

         8       A.   In 2003, sir, in terms of the quality claim, I had

         9       some concerns.  The memo to Andrew Lindberg says that we

        10       should seek clarification.

        11

        12       Q.   And you have said that up until the time of that memo

        13       you were not aware of the opinion expressed in that memo,

        14       that direct transfer of funds could not be made.  What I am

        15       trying to get from you, Mr Geary, is how that statement

        16       fits with what you have said in paragraph 11.10.  My

        17       question to you is how is it then that, at any time prior

        18       to February 2003, you were even aware that, if there was

        19       any likelihood that funds were being transferred or

        20       channelled to the Iraqi government, there was a need to

        21       check the position with DFAT or the UN?  How is it that you

        22       were even aware of that?

        23       A.   In my experience, sir, and my knowledge - bearing in

        24       mind that I wasn't in charge of international sales and

        25       marketing for a period of time - my knowledge is that we

        26       hadn't had a quality complaint to be settled with the

        27       Iraqis before.  Now, that may be right, that may be wrong.

        28       So I was seeking clarification from DFAT in terms of how

        29       that claim could be settled.

        30

        31       Q.   And you were told by DFAT two ways in which it could

        32       be settled, neither of which involved the transfer of funds

        33       to the Iraqis; isn't that right?

        34       A.   At that point in time, sir, I had not seen that advice

        35       from DFAT.

        36

        37       Q.   But you had read it in the memo, had you not?

        38       A.   There are a number of options set out --

        39

        40       Q.   Would you answer my question - had you read it in the

        41       memo or not?

        42       A.   I recall reading that in the memo, yes, sir.

        43

        44       Q.   Thank you.  Now, would you get back to what my

        45       question was, please, Mr Geary?

        46       A.   Yes, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   How was it that, before February of 2003, you were

         2       even aware of the issue that if funds were being channelled

         3       to the Iraqi government there was a need to check with DFAT

         4       or the UN?  How was it that you were even aware of that as

         5       an issue?  I'm seeking information from you.  I'm not

         6       challenging you, Mr Geary.

         7       A.   No, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   I'm trying to find out how it was that you could make

        10       that statement on your oath and what that statement means.

        11       A.   Well, I think, sir, it would have been an area that

        12       was obviously unclear to me personally, and then we would

        13       seek - if it was unclear, or if we didn't have copies of UN

        14       instructions or resolutions, then we would seek

        15       clarification from DFAT, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   How were you even aware that there was an issue about

        18       the channeling of funds to the Iraqi government?

        19       A.   Well, when this was written, sir, it was after the

        20       Volcker committee report, so I was aware of the issues

        21       raised in the Volcker committee.

        22

        23       Q.   So does it follow, then, that we should read

        24       paragraph 11.10 like this:  that you were never aware that

        25       there was any issue about the channeling of funds to the

        26       Iraqi government prior to the publication of the Volcker

        27       committee report, but, had you been aware, you would have

        28       done something about it; is that the way in which we should

        29       read paragraph 11.10?

        30       A.   If I had been aware, sir, yes, I would have sought

        31       clarification.

        32

        33       Q.   But the first part of my question - that you were

        34       never aware that there was any issue about the channeling

        35       of funds to the Iraqi government prior to the publication -

        36       is that what you say?

        37       A.   Sure.  My understanding, sir, of the UN resolution was

        38       from early - or, sorry, late in the piece when I was in the

        39       US.  If I had been aware, it was an area of concern I would

        40       have sought clarification, yes, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   You have said that twice now.

        43       A.   Yes, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   The first part of my question is that to which I am

        46       now asking you for an answer.

        47       A.   Yes, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   Are you saying that, prior to early 2003, you were not

         3       even aware of that as an issue?

         4       A.   No, I was aware it was an issue, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   How did you become aware that it was an issue, and

         7       when?

         8       A.   It was my just general understanding of the

         9       Oil-for-Food Program, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   So at all material times, then, you were aware that

        12       there was an issue about whether or not funds could be

        13       transferred to the Iraqi government or an Iraqi entity?

        14       A.   I was aware of just general, but I wasn't aware of the

        15       changes in the UN resolution or program over time, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   At all material times were you aware that there was an

        18       issue as to whether or not funds could be transferred to

        19       the Iraqi government or an Iraqi entity?

        20       A.   I was aware that there was an issue, yes, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   Indeed, could we bring up, please, AWB.0106.0260.  Is

        23       that memorandum of 16 September 2002 on your screen,

        24       Mr Geary?

        25       A.   Yes, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Were you a member of the CRRC committee in September

        28       2002?

        29       A.   No, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you receive this memo when it was copied to you

        32       in September 2002?

        33       A.   I can't recall exactly whether I received it or not,

        34       sir.

        35

        36       Q.   It says in the fifth paragraph, the second sentence:

        37

        38            AWB raised the possibility of settlement of

        39            this quality claim by AWB paying Tigris as

        40            settlement of the Iraqi debt to Tigris.  UN

        41            Regulations prohibit the direct payment of

        42            funds to Iraq whilst Iraq is under UN

        43            sanctions.

        44

        45       A.   Sorry, sir.  I can't see it.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The fifth paragraph.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The fifth paragraph, as I said, the second

         3       and third sentences, as I have read?

         4       A.   Right.

         5

         6       Q.  :

         7

         8            UN Regulations prohibit the direct payment

         9            of funds to Iraq whilst Iraq is under UN

        10            sanctions.

        11

        12       A.   Yes, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   That was sent to you in a memorandum on 16 September

        15       2002?

        16       A.   Yes, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   May we take it then that, from at least that date, you

        19       were aware that UN regulations prohibited the direct

        20       payment of funds to Iraq?

        21       A.   Well, I can't recall reading that document, sir, so I

        22       can't say I was aware from that date.

        23

        24       Q.   What is the point of AWB personnel sending you

        25       documents?  Surely you would have read this document,

        26       Mr Geary.

        27       A.   I can't recall.

        28

        29       Q.   It really isn't a matter of choosing later which

        30       documents you did read and which ones you didn't, or is

        31       that the way AWB was being run at that time?

        32

        33       MR FORREST:   Again I object to this, Mr Commissioner.  In

        34       my submission it is an extraordinary task for a witness,

        35       acting with the best will in the world, to say what

        36       precisely transpired, what documents he read, what

        37       documents he didn't read, three years ago.  There is

        38       nothing, in my submission, that is evasive or in any way an

        39       attempt to obfuscate the issue when this question was asked

        40       of him, and for my learned friend to build into the

        41       question the sorts of comments that he has in my submission

        42       is unfair.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will allow the question.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Surely you would have read this document,

        47       Mr Geary?
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         1       A.   I can't recall whether I read that document or not,

         2       sir.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Isn't it likely you did?

         5       A.   It is likely, Commissioner, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And if you did read it, you couldn't misunderstand the

         8       last sentence of paragraph 5?

         9       A.   That would be right, Commissioner.

        10

        11       Q.   And it would necessarily follow, then, that

        12       from September 2002 you knew - assuming you read this

        13       document - that UN regulations prohibited the direct

        14       payment of funds to Iraq whilst Iraq was under UN

        15       sanctions?

        16       A.   That would follow, Commissioner.

        17

        18       Q.   We have spent about an hour and a half trying to get

        19       there.

        20

        21       MR FORREST:   If the questions had been framed like that,

        22       and I make this as a comment, Mr Commissioner, we might

        23       have got there in five minutes.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   The questions have been fairly framed

        26       to give your client the opportunity to say whatever he

        27       wishes to say in exculpation.  May I say, if this matter

        28       had been properly addressed, as I expected it would, on

        29       behalf of AWB or the witnesses, I would have thought that

        30       all of these documents would have been assembled, they

        31       would have been shown to the particular witnesses in

        32       advance, and their statements would have addressed the

        33       content of them.  None of that has happened.  The

        34       consequence is that we have to go through this laborious

        35       process.  Yes, Mr Agius.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, last week, the day before

        38       Australia Day, in response to questions about a 1999

        39       document, I asked you this question at line 22, page 1330:

        40

        41            Q.   That implies, without doubt, that this

        42            payment was in effect to be a payment to

        43            the Iraqis, and that the problem was to

        44            find a mechanism by which it could be made,

        45            does it not?

        46            A.   That's what it implies there, yes.

        47            Q.   That would have been a clear breach of
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         1            the UN sanctions, would it not?

         2            A.   My memory of the sanctions at the

         3            time, it would appear so.

         4

         5       Now, that's the evidence you gave on 25 January 2006.

         6       A.   Yes, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   Does it not follow from that evidence that, at least

         9       from 1999, from your recollection of the sanctions, it was

        10       a breach of the sanctions to effect a payment of funds or a

        11       transfer of funds to the Iraqis?

        12       A.   In terms of my understanding, yes, sir, that follows.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, then, what is all this evidence that you have

        15       been giving today about the fact that you were not aware

        16       until February of 2003 that that was the fact, and that you

        17       would not concede as at September 2002 that that's what you

        18       were being told?  What does your oath mean to you,

        19       Mr Geary?

        20

        21       MR FORREST:   I object to this, Commissioner.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I will reject the question.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will adjourn for 10 minutes.

        28

        29       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, just one matter of

        32       housekeeping.  There was tendered a volume of material

        33       during the course of Mr Lindberg's evidence which became

        34       exhibit 20.  It contained a number of AWB and other

        35       documents which were said to bear the handwriting of either

        36       Mr Lindberg or of his secretary, and it was tendered on

        37       that basis, that it was simply a collection of documents

        38       that Mr Lindberg had produced to the Commission, being ones

        39       which bore that handwriting.

        40

        41            Included within exhibit 20, within that volume, were

        42       two documents entitled "Release".  They are WST.0002.0026,

        43       of two pages, and WST.0002.0028.  I ask, Mr Commissioner,

        44       that those documents be marked as confidential exhibits.

        45       They in fact replicate, in an unedited form, the substance

        46       of confidential exhibit 70C, and their inclusion in that

        47       volume was an oversight.
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   The documents WST.0002.0026 to

         2       WST.0002.0029 in exhibit 20 will be confidential exhibit 93

         3       and will be removed from exhibit 20.  I make a

         4       non-publication order in relation to those documents.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #93C TWO DOCUMENTS ENTITLED "RELEASE", ORIGINALLY

         7       CONTAINED WITHIN EXHIBIT 20, BARCODED WST.0002.0026-0029

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, last week you gave some evidence

        10       about Mr Lister having left a note concerning an inquiry

        11       that he made with DFAT.  Do you recall generally that

        12       evidence?

        13       A.   Yes, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   I wonder if we can bring up, please, AWB.0060.0089.

        16       This was a communication to the Department of Foreign

        17       Affairs and Trade from Mr Lister of 24 September 2003, in

        18       which he requests the provision of a "permission to export"

        19       certificate for a particular vessel which is allocated as

        20       being under contract A1680; do you see that?

        21       A.   Yes, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   If we go to the page ending 0091, you will see a note

        24       there in handwriting?

        25       A.   Yes, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Is that the note to which you were referring?

        28       A.   No, sir.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I will tender those three pages, from 0089

        31       through to 0091.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #72 THREE-PAGE DOCUMENT, BEING A COMMUNICATION TO

        34       THE DEPARTMENT OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND TRADE FROM MR LISTER

        35       OF 24/9/2003, BARCODED AWB.0060.0089-0091

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recognise that handwriting,

        38       Mr Geary?

        39       A.   I can't be sure, sir.  No.

        40

        41       Q.   Do you see that the note evidently relates to the fact

        42       that permission to export to Iraq was only required when

        43       the sanctions were in place, that they were no longer being

        44       issued and that they were no longer required?

        45       A.   Yes, sir.  I see that, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you become aware that Arthur Andersen had been
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         1       engaged to conduct an integrity risk review of the

         2       international marketing group?

         3       A.   I have become aware in recent days, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you become aware in December 2000 or in 2001?

         6       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, no.

         7

         8       Q.   When you say "in recent days", are you saying that you

         9       had no knowledge of that integrity risk review until

        10       evidence was called about it in this Commission or in this

        11       inquiry?

        12       A.   As I recall, yes, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   You were never given a briefing in relation to the

        15       outcome of that integrity risk review?

        16       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   Or its findings or recommendations?

        19       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you yourself have knowledge of any arrangement

        22       that anybody at AWB had with an agent in Pakistan?

        23       A.   I had knowledge in terms of Pakistan in the - when

        24       I was in the US, sir, yes, and before that, when I was on

        25       the Middle East desk.

        26

        27       Q.   What was your knowledge of the AWB arrangement with

        28       the agent in Pakistan?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I reluctantly rise to interrupt to

        31       contend that the subject matter of this examination does

        32       not fall within the terms of reference.  This is an issue

        33       that we have taken up with counsel assisting before, but

        34       I don't think it has been taken up before the Commission.

        35       The terms of reference, we contend, are confined to an

        36       examination of the decisions, conduct and like matters

        37       mentioned in the Volcker Report.  These matters were not

        38       the subject of the Volcker Report, and unless these matters

        39       can in some way be made directly relevant to the

        40       investigation that the Commission is expressly authorised

        41       to investigate - and at present we don't see the

        42       connection - then the Commission is not authorised to

        43       investigate them and, therefore, it is inappropriate that

        44       our friend ask questions which require answers under

        45       compulsion in relation to such matters.

        46

        47       MR FORREST:   Could I say on behalf of the witness,
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         1       Commissioner, that I support that, perhaps without so much

         2       reluctance.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius?  What do you say about

         5       that?

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Part 2.5, division 12, clause 12.3 of the

         8       criminal code - that's the Commonwealth Criminal Code

         9       relating to corporate criminal responsibility - under the

        10       heading "Fault Elements other than Negligence", records as

        11       follows:

        12

        13            If intention, knowledge or recklessness is

        14            a fault element in relation to a physical

        15            element of an offence, that fault element

        16            must be attributed to a body corporate that

        17            expressly, tacitly or impliedly authorised

        18            or permitted the commission of the offence.

        19            (2) the means by which such an

        20            authorisation or permission may be

        21            established include...

        22

        23       and there are a number of matters listed, including

        24       subparagraph (c):

        25

        26            proving that a corporate culture existed

        27            within the body corporate that directed,

        28            encouraged, tolerated or led to a

        29            non-compliance with the relevant provision;

        30            or

        31            (d) proving that the body corporate failed

        32            to create and maintain a corporate

        33            structure that required compliance with the

        34            relevant provision.

        35

        36       In our respectful submission, if this Commission is to

        37       consider the application of the Commonwealth Criminal Code

        38       to any of the facts as they might in due course be found to

        39       be - and it is too early to say what they are - then one

        40       matter which this Commission will necessarily have to

        41       consider, in considering the application of the criminal

        42       code, are the two subparagraphs to which I have made

        43       reference.

        44

        45            It is our respectful submission that the arrangements

        46       that the AWB had with the agent in Pakistan, which have

        47       already been opened as a matter of evidence in the
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         1       examination of Mr Lindberg on the Arthur Andersen report,

         2       bear directly on the nature of the corporate culture that

         3       existed at AWB and also bear directly on the question of

         4       whether or not AWB Limited failed to create and maintain a

         5       corporate culture that required compliance with the

         6       relevant provisions of the Commonwealth Criminal Code.

         7       Now, it is against that background that we seek to examine

         8       this and other witnesses on the issue of the relationship

         9       with the Pakistani agent, within the terms that have

        10       already been opened in the Arthur Andersen report.

        11

        12            It is, in our respectful submission, not accurate to

        13       say that the terms of reference limit this inquiry to the

        14       matters which were reported upon by the IIC, and it would

        15       follow, in our respectful submission, as a matter of common

        16       sense, that that could not be the case, because it was

        17       always intended that this inquiry would use its powers of

        18       compulsion to obtain material, which powers the IIC never

        19       had.  There was always a likelihood that this Commission

        20       would obtain material which was not available to the IIC

        21       and in respect of which the IIC was not in any position to

        22       make any findings, but which material might well have been

        23       relevant to the IIC had it been aware of the material.

        24

        25            This material falls directly within that class - that

        26       is, material which is directly relevant to the findings

        27       made by the IIC, which implicitly involve findings as to

        28       the culture at AWB at the time.  For that reason as well,

        29       we submit that this line of inquiry is relevant.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, it is not the authorised role of

        32       this inquiry to investigate the shortcomings of the IIC.

        33       The terms of reference, of course, prescribe what it is

        34       this inquiry is authorised to do.  We don't contend that,

        35       if matters are relevant to that which is being investigated

        36       under the terms of reference, the Commission is not

        37       authorised to investigate such matters.

        38

        39            If my learned friend is putting matters in relation to

        40       a particular offence which he may have in mind, and I might

        41       say which hasn't been articulated, evidence of a corporate

        42       culture might, if available to the Commission, be something

        43       that the Commission can take into account on making a

        44       recommendation, there may be some weight in that argument.

        45       But of course two things are necessary to establish first:

        46       one is what the offence is that is under consideration.

        47       The second, sir, is to make a judgment about the connection
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         1       between the culture which is to be investigated and the one

         2       which is authorised under the terms.

         3

         4            If I can put it this way:  it may be that there is an

         5       investigation authorised into conduct of a corporation

         6       involving breaches of banking regulations, and the like.

         7       It may also be found, among material, that members of the

         8       corporation have been involved - that is, some employees -

         9       in a car stealing racket.  It can't be said that evidence

        10       in relation to the car stealing racket, if there be any,

        11       has any bearing on or provides any assistance to the court,

        12       or to a Commission, in this case, in identifying what might

        13       be the corporate culture that is authorised to be

        14       investigated.

        15

        16            So those two primary considerations must first be

        17       brought to mind:  first, what offence is under

        18       consideration; secondly, what is the relationship between

        19       the material sought to be adduced and the authorised terms

        20       of reference.  In our submission, it is not to the point to

        21       say that the Arthur Andersen report has already been opened

        22       up.  It has, in the context of the examination of

        23       Mr Lindberg about what he did about the Arthur Andersen

        24       report.  What has not been hitherto opened up and hitherto

        25       permitted to be opened up by this Commission is to

        26       investigate the subject matter of that investigation in

        27       relation to rebates and the like in connection with

        28       particular individuals under investigation there.

        29

        30            In our submission there is no sufficient connection.

        31       They are discrete incidents.  Even if it could be said that

        32       there were a number of such events which are described in

        33       the report, and therefore there was a culture of sorts of a

        34       particular kind, it has no relationship to what is under

        35       investigation here.  It provides no assistance in terms of

        36       the criminal code, and you, sir, should not permit this

        37       inquiry to go down that path.

        38

        39       MR FORREST:   I adopt those submissions.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Very well.  I will allow the

        42       question.  I will give my formal reasons at 10am tomorrow.

        43       It does seem to me that there are a large number of

        44       prospective offences under the Commonwealth Code that will

        45       have to be considered by this inquiry, and in relation to a

        46       significant number of them the culture of the organisation

        47       may be a material matter.  Insofar as this matter relates
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         1       to that culture, I will permit an examination of it.  Yes,

         2       Mr Agius.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, what did you know of the AWB's

         5       arrangements with the Pakistani agent - and I will ask you

         6       not to name the Pakistani agent?

         7       A.   Well, there was an agent we shared with Cargall, he

         8       was based in Karachi, and Pakistan was not a regular

         9       customer.  So they were - sometimes they would buy wheat,

        10       sometimes they wouldn't.  So he would help arrange to get

        11       smooth letters of credit, he would provide some market

        12       intelligence in terms of what the local crop situation was

        13       in Pakistan, what they were likely to buy and when they

        14       were likely to buy.  That was my understanding in terms of

        15       his role.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you know the period over which AWB had the

        18       arrangement with that agent?

        19       A.   I would have met the agent myself prior to 1995, and

        20       my understanding is the arrangement was still in place with

        21       the agent when - whilst I was in New York from 1995 to

        22       1998.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you know whether the arrangement continued after

        25       1998?

        26       A.   No.  The arrangement ceased from around - I can't be

        27       sure of the date, sir - when we felt there was a conflict

        28       between AWB and Cargall using the same agent.

        29

        30       Q.   The arrangement with this agent, did it involve the

        31       payment of $4 per tonne commission?

        32       A.   No, sir.  That commission was too - no, not that I'm

        33       aware, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Are you aware of an arrangement between the AWB and an

        36       agent in Pakistan which involved the payment to the agent

        37       of a commission of $4 per tonne?

        38       A.   During my time in the US, sir, I was aware that there

        39       was another agent and that commission was much higher - $4

        40       could be right, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   That's the agent about whom I am speaking.

        43       A.   Okay, sorry, sir, yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Were you aware that, over the three years prior

        46       to September 2000, that agent had been paid US$12m --

        47       A.   I was unaware of that, sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- by the AWB?

         3       A.   I was unaware of that, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   Are you aware as to whether or not that agent was a

         6       government official in Pakistan?

         7       A.   I'm not aware of that, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   You are not aware one way or the other?

        10       A.   No, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   Are you aware that the agreement was cancelled in

        13       2000 - the agreement with this particular agent?

        14       A.   I am aware that the agreement was cancelled but I'm

        15       not aware of the actual date, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Is 2000 an approximate date within your awareness?

        18       A.   That could be right, sir, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   And were you aware that, as at the date of

        21       cancellation, there was approximately US$5m owing to the

        22       agent?

        23       A.   I'm not aware of that, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   And that at that time Pakistan owed the AWB

        26       approximately $110m?

        27       A.   I'm not aware of that, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   In relation to this agent - I'm not speaking of the

        30       earlier one of whom you gave evidence - are you aware of

        31       how it came about that AWB commenced its relationship with

        32       this agent?

        33       A.   No, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you meet with this agent?

        36       A.   No, sir.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you have any dealings with this agent, either by

        39       email or any other form of correspondence?

        40       A.   No, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   Have you ever spoken to this agent?

        43       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   What's the source of your knowledge, such as you have

        46       any knowledge, about this agent?

        47       A.   My source of knowledge was there was two agents.  One
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         1       agent I was familiar with, and obviously the other agent

         2       I was not familiar with.

         3

         4       Q.   The agent with whom you were familiar, was he based in

         5       Karachi?

         6       A.   Yes, sir.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Can we call him agent P1 -

         9       Pakistan 1 - and the second one agent P2.

        10       A.   P2 and P1.  Okay, sir.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Was P2 based in Islamabad?

        13       A.   I'm not aware of where he was based, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   What was the source of such knowledge as you did have

        16       about P2?

        17       A.   P2, in terms of - as I was - my source of knowledge

        18       provided information to the Middle East desk at that time,

        19       sir, which I was never privy to.

        20

        21       Q.   How did you come to know that P2 did that?

        22       A.   In terms of when I was in New York, sir, we would

        23       provide information to the pool in terms of prices out of

        24       the US, availability for white wheat - Pakistan is a white

        25       wheat buyer.  I was aware that we had information in - out

        26       of the US, we had information coming from P1, but there was

        27       another agent, P2, which was managed by the Middle East

        28       desk.  So I knew there was somebody else in there, but that

        29       was my knowledge at the time, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you know the name of P2 at that time?

        32       A.   No, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you subsequently come to know the name of P2 or to

        35       learn of his name?

        36       A.   Look, someone may have mentioned it, sir, but I can't

        37       even recall the name today.

        38

        39       Q.   How did you come to know of the fact that this agent,

        40       P2, was paid a commission?

        41       A.   In terms of the outcome of the tender, Pakistan would

        42       tender and we would build up the price, as I said, from a

        43       FOB position, freight, and the results of the tender were

        44       on a landed basis.  I was aware that the costing back to

        45       the pool, including agent's commission - and that was what

        46       I was aware in terms of the particular agent.  But my role

        47       at that time, sir, was to provide market intelligence.
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         1       I wasn't actually in the national pool.

         2

         3       Q.   So you gained some general knowledge that, in the

         4       build-up of the price, there was an amount included to

         5       cover the commission of P2?

         6       A.   Yes, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   And it was in that connection that you came to learn

         9       of the fact that he was paid a commission and of its

        10       approximate amount?

        11       A.   Yes, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   You learnt of this whilst you were in New York?

        14       A.   Yes, sir.

        15

        16       Q.   Did you learn of it through meetings with AWB

        17       personnel as they came to New York and as you came back to

        18       Australia, or did you learn of it through email?

        19       A.   I can't recall how I learnt of it, sir.  I can't

        20       recall whether someone on the Middle East desk told me or

        21       there was emails; I can't recall.

        22

        23       Q.   Are you aware of how that commission was paid?

        24       A.   No, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   Are you aware of whether or not it was paid into the

        27       bank account of P2?

        28       A.   I'm unaware, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   Are you aware of whether the fact that this commission

        31       was being paid to P2 was kept secret or confidential within

        32       AWB - I don't mean AWB as against the rest of the world,

        33       but I mean within groups of people themselves within AWB?

        34       A.   I'm aware that it certainly wasn't shared with me in

        35       New York, but I'm unaware at that point in time how widely

        36       the information was shared within groups of AWB in

        37       Melbourne.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you know whether AWB personnel ever met with this

        40       agent, P2?

        41       A.   I'm unaware, sir.  I don't know.

        42

        43       Q.   Are you aware of any AWB personnel meeting with him in

        44       London?

        45       A.   I'm unaware of that, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Are you aware of any negotiations that took place with
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         1       P2 at the time the arrangement with him was cancelled in an

         2       effort to ensure that the Pakistani government paid for the

         3       wheat that it had received and acquitted the debt?

         4       A.   I'm unaware of that, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   When you came to the pool, were you given information

         7       from time to time about how the Pakistani debt was being

         8       funded?

         9       A.   In terms of how the Pakistani debt - I know that we

        10       were doing business to Pakistan on credit terms, but how it

        11       was actually being funded, sir, that would have been built

        12       into the interest of the FOB price component, but I'm not

        13       aware of the actual calculations, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   It was probably too broad a question.

        16       A.   Yes, sir.  Sorry, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   Were you aware when you came back to the pool that

        19       there was an issue within AWB as to whether or not the AWB

        20       should keep paying P2 so as to ensure that the outstanding

        21       Pakistani debt was still met by Pakistan?

        22       A.   When I came back from New York, sir, back to the

        23       national pool, I do recall there was an issue around that,

        24       yes, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   Can you recall who were the persons who were concerned

        27       in that issue?

        28       A.   I think that issue came to light after the restructure

        29       and, if I recall correctly, sir, Charles Stott was managing

        30       that issue at that point in time.

        31

        32       Q.   Were you concerned with that issue?  Was it a matter

        33       that impacted on the pool?

        34       A.   Yes.  That would impact on the pool, sir, so if

        35       I recall, yes, I would have been concerned.

        36

        37       Q.   And was it a matter about which you received updates

        38       from time to time?

        39       A.   If I recall, I would have received that Charles was

        40       reviewing the situation.  In terms of his detailed review,

        41       no, but he would keep me, if I recall, up to date in terms

        42       of he was reviewing the situation, sir.

        43

        44       Q.   During the course of that process did you ever inquire

        45       as to how it came about that AWB entered into an

        46       arrangement with P2 which required the payment of such a

        47       commission?
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         1       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   You never inquired about it?

         4       A.   Not that I can recall.

         5

         6       Q.   Were you ever told?

         7       A.   Not that I can recall.

         8

         9       Q.   Is it not a matter that would have been of interest to

        10       you?

        11       A.   It was certainly of interest, but, as I said, Charles

        12       Stott and Tim Goodacre, at that stage, were reviewing a

        13       number of issues in international sales and marketing.

        14

        15       Q.   Once that review was under way, was this not a matter

        16       that was discussed amongst managers as a matter that ought

        17       to be avoided in the future?

        18       A.   Well, my understanding, sir, it set in train a number

        19       of issues in terms of policies and procedures and delegated

        20       authorities.  So, yes - but in terms of actually detailed

        21       discussion on that issue, not that I can recall, sir, no.

        22

        23       Q.   What I am drawing to your attention - perhaps I will

        24       do it more directly now --

        25       A.   Yes, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   -- it seems that this arrangement with the agent was

        28       identified within AWB and then dealt with as an issue - are

        29       you with me so far?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   You nod your head.

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   At the heart of it was the payment of a not

        36       insignificant commission to an agent in connection with at

        37       least the facilitation of contracts for the sale of wheat

        38       between Pakistan and the AWB?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   My question to you is really this:  that issue having

        42       been identified, what was done to audit or ensure that the

        43       rest of AWB's business in relation to the sale of wheat

        44       didn't involve the payment of like commissions?

        45       A.   Well, there were a number of - my understanding, and

        46       I haven't seen the recommendations from Mr Stott, but there

        47       was ongoing continual improvement in terms of AWB
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         1       governance and policies and procedures.

         2

         3       Q.   What we know, Mr Geary - and I am not challenging you

         4       on this - is that at least as at December 2000 this matter

         5       and the AWB relationship with P2 was exposed in the Arthur

         6       Andersen report.  You have said that you didn't see the

         7       report.  May I take it that you were not aware that that

         8       was a subject of the Arthur Andersen report?

         9       A.   I was unaware of that, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   Were you aware of anything that was done specifically

        12       with a view to determining whether or not the AWB was

        13       making any payments in connection with its sale of wheat to

        14       the IGB, which payments might be considered side payments

        15       or payments in addition to an agreed contract price?

        16       A.   As an outcome of that report, sir - the Andersen

        17       report?

        18

        19       Q.   No, as an outcome of the issue with the Pakistani

        20       agent having been identified?

        21       A.   I'm unaware, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   When you learnt of that issue with the Pakistani

        24       agent, was it a matter that gave you concern?

        25       A.   Yes, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   It was clearly a matter that senior managers in AWB

        28       had identified as one which needed to be addressed?

        29       A.   Yes, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   Was it addressed only in relation to Pakistan or was

        32       it an issue that was addressed in relation to the sale of

        33       wheat to the IGB?

        34       A.   I don't know, sir.

        35

        36       Q.   Is it not something of which you ought to have been

        37       made aware in your position as head of the pool?

        38       A.   Shortly after that, sir, in 2001, there was another

        39       restructure and I was appointed to the head of trading.  So

        40       at that point in time Mr Stott was still in charge of

        41       international sales and marketing and I moved on to other

        42       areas of responsibility.

        43

        44       Q.   Even in your position as head of trading, would it not

        45       have been a matter which ought to have been brought to your

        46       attention?

        47       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  Those issues were handled, as
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         1       far as I know, by Mr Stott.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you attend any ELG meetings where matters arising

         4       from the Arthur Andersen report were addressed?

         5       A.   I may have, sir, but I can't recall.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you attend any ELG meetings where matters relating

         8       to the restructuring of chartering were addressed?

         9       A.   Certainly in terms of the restructuring of chartering,

        10       yes, I had very firm views on the chartering group and its

        11       performance and its - the need for review, sir, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Weren't you told that one of the reasons why

        14       chartering was being restructured was as a response to the

        15       issue that had been identified concerning the payment of

        16       commissions to P2?

        17       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   You were told, weren't you - or perhaps you weren't -

        20       that there was an issue about the legality of these

        21       payments to P2?

        22       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   Was the issue concerning P2 discussed in terms of

        25       perhaps the payments to him were in the nature of secret

        26       commissions and were therefore contrary to both the civil

        27       and the criminal law?

        28       A.   I can't recall those discussions, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   What was, so far as you were informed, the outcome

        31       concerning the investigation of any issues concerning P2?

        32       A.   Well, if I recall, I was informed that P2 was no

        33       longer an agent for AWB in Pakistan, and, in terms of my

        34       recollection, that's all I can recall in terms of the

        35       outcome, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   Were you told why he was no longer an agent?

        38       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you inquire?

        41       A.   Not that I can recall.

        42

        43       Q.   If it be the case that P2 was receiving secret

        44       commission for whatever he had done in order to facilitate

        45       contracts for the sale of wheat to Pakistan, would you not

        46       have expected, given your seniority at AWB, to have been

        47       informed about that?
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         1       A.   Not necessarily, sir.  If it related to my direct span

         2       of control then yes, but, no, I don't see every report that

         3       is written, sir, no.

         4

         5       Q.   But you yourself, if you had been told about it in

         6       those days, would have regarded it as a serious matter,

         7       would you not?

         8       A.   If I had been told, yes, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   Would you not have expected, knowing simply what I

        11       have told you about it, that you ought to have been told

        12       about it?

        13

        14       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, this line of questions has been

        15       predicated on the basis of the hypothesis that P2 was

        16       receiving secret commissions.  If there is a document in

        17       existence which suggests that that is the case and imputes

        18       some knowledge of this witness of that fact, then, in my

        19       submission, as a matter of fairness, it ought to be

        20       produced rather than he being asked questions in the

        21       abstract.

        22

        23            I am also concerned as to the lack of access that I,

        24       on behalf of Mr Geary, have had to the confidential

        25       transcripts and exhibits that have been withheld, no doubt

        26       for very good reason, from us at this stage.  I am very

        27       concerned that I have not, because of that lack of access,

        28       had an opportunity to, firstly, fully acquaint myself with

        29       that material, and, secondly, acquaint my client.  I rise

        30       to say that I feel very inhibited in my capacity to

        31       represent my client in this process because of that.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that all you wish to say?

        34

        35       MR FORREST:   Yes, it is.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Forrest, I understand your concern.

        38       The problem, of course, is the documents we are addressing

        39       all come from AWB and your instructing solicitors, insofar

        40       as it was Arnold Bloch Leibler until this morning, have had

        41       those documents certainly since this inquiry was first

        42       mooted, and probably for a year earlier.  Now, there is

        43       nothing this Commission can do about that.  If you have not

        44       been provided with an adequate set of the relevant

        45       documents by those who previously, until today, acted for

        46       this witness, and who continue to act for AWB, there is

        47       nothing I can do about that.
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         1

         2       MR FORREST:   With the greatest of respect, sir, that does

         3       not address at all the issue of confidential transcript of

         4       witnesses, and I ask you to do so.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   What are you asking me to do?

         7

         8       MR FORREST:   I ask you to note --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, what do you want?

        11

        12       MR FORREST:   We would like access to the transcript,

        13       please?

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which transcript?

        16

        17       MR FORREST:   Well, the transcript is confidential --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you asking this Commission to tell

        20       you of all of the evidence which it took in confidential

        21       session?

        22

        23       MR FORREST:   Insofar as it affects Mr Geary, because

        24       otherwise I am inhibited in my capacity to represent him

        25       effectively.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, you may be assured that if that

        28       confidential transcript becomes public transport, as

        29       I expect it will, you will then have it available to you

        30       and you will be given adequate time to consider it and your

        31       client will have an adequate time to respond to any matters

        32       which arise from it.

        33

        34       MR FORREST:   In my submission the sequence is unfair.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is it unfair?

        37

        38       MR FORREST:   This witness is in the witness box now being

        39       asked questions on oath and being reminded of that fact

        40       regularly.  It is entirely unfair that he not have access

        41       to what other people may have said about him.  I don't

        42       know --

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is that?

        45

        46       MR FORREST:   Well, if there is --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   He will have a chance to respond to

         2       anything they have said about him in due course.  He is not

         3       being asked about that now; he is being asked about

         4       particular documents which, as I have said, come from AWB.

         5       I think your complaint, if you have one, ought to be made

         6       to the solicitors for AWB.

         7

         8       MR FORREST:   The question was broader than the documents.

         9       He wasn't being asked simply about documents; the sequence

        10       of questions related to events that have occurred in the

        11       period under inquiry, which seems to be around 2000, or

        12       thereabouts.  He is being asked to what extent he had

        13       knowledge of those events, and if there is evidence

        14       available to the Commission that is not available to us

        15       that imputes this witness with knowledge, in my submission,

        16       he ought to be able to have access to that as a matter of

        17       fairness.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Well, if there is such a

        20       document, at some appropriate point of time, I am sure it

        21       will be shown to you.  But this Commission cannot be

        22       responsible for any lack of adequate preparation on behalf

        23       of AWB or its witnesses, or the witnesses for whom its

        24       solicitors previously acted.

        25

        26       MR FORREST:   Access, with respect, sir, to secret material

        27       is not a matter of preparation.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Secret material?

        30

        31       MR FORREST:   Material that is in confidence.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you mean material that this

        34       Commission has by exercise of its compulsive powers to

        35       obtain documents from AWB?  That's not secret material, it

        36       is material that AWB has, and until this morning the

        37       solicitors for AWB acted for your client.  If they didn't

        38       choose to appropriately distil the documents they had and

        39       show it to him, that's not the responsibility of this

        40       Commission.

        41

        42       MR FORREST:   I was referring, Commissioner, to

        43       transcripts.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have addressed transcripts already.

        46

        47       MR FORREST:   Well, I ask the Commission to note our
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         1       position.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Of course.  That's all recorded.  Yes,

         4       Mr Agius?

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if I could draw to my friend's

         7       attention the fact that the relevant portions of the Arthur

         8       Andersen report which relate to the Pakistan agent therein

         9       referred to by me as AA6 were in fact all read on to the

        10       transcript during the course of my examination of

        11       Mr Lindberg, and they do form part of the public record of

        12       this inquiry.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I wonder if we can bring up - I will try

        17       to assist your recollection, Mr Geary - the agenda for the

        18       executive group meeting on Friday, 16 February 2001,

        19       ELG.0001.0282.  We have been given, Mr Geary, by AWB, four

        20       pages relating to this meeting of Friday, 16 February 2001,

        21       conducted between 8am and 11am, of the executive group.

        22       You will see the agenda on the first page.  If we go to the

        23       next page, which is 0283, the next page is headed

        24       "Board/Committee Action List" and there is a subheading

        25       dealing with AWB (International) Board and then AWB Limited

        26       Board?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Each entry is given a number.

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   If we go to page 0284, item 17 is:

        33

        34            Report on Chartering - Performance/Business

        35            Plan (AA Review).

        36

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   That entry would seem to indicate that there was

        40       discussion about the Arthur Andersen review before this

        41       meeting of the executive group on 16 February 2001, which

        42       is a little under two months after the report was provided

        43       to AWB.  Would you agree with me?

        44       A.   It is making reference to "AA Review".  I'm not quite

        45       sure that means that there was discussion on that

        46       particular report, if indeed it is the Arthur Andersen

        47       report.
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         1

         2       Q.   What else could "AA Review" mean?

         3       A.   It is likely that it is Arthur Andersen, yes, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   It is unlikely to be anything else, in fact, isn't it?

         6       A.   I don't know.

         7

         8       Q.   What else could AA stand for in the context of this

         9       report --

        10       A.   I can't be sure, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   -- in February of 2001?

        13       A.   I can't be sure, but it is likely it is Arthur

        14       Andersen.

        15

        16       Q.   It is not "Alcoholics Anonymous", is it?

        17       A.   Not that I'm aware of, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   Can you think of anything else that "AA" might refer

        20       to?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, may I interrupt, that may all be

        23       terribly humourous, but my friend knows that there are at

        24       least two Arthur Andersen reports.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Preceding this date?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   Yes.  I believe, sir, that that's correct.

        29       There is one report which was the one which has been under

        30       consideration.  There is one into practices, policies,

        31       I believe the charter mission.  It may be an issue that he

        32       wishes to clarify, but it may render the usefulness of the

        33       examination arid if it is about the wrong report.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Thank you, Mr Judd.  Yes,

        36       Mr Agius?

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There is a reference, we may take it, at

        39       point 17 in these papers to a report on chartering, which

        40       is referred to in brackets as the AA review.

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   You were a member of the ELG in February of 2001?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   You can now see the action list, item number 17.  To

        47       what did that refer?
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         1       A.   Likely - it is likely that that refers that chartering

         2       had been underperforming and the information officer had

         3       the responsibility to take a report to the March 2001 board

         4       meeting.

         5

         6       Q.   Did you see the report?

         7       A.   I can't recall, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   Do you remember seeing any reports from Arthur

        10       Andersen in 2000 or 2001?

        11       A.   Certainly Arthur Andersen at that point in time were

        12       doing a lot of work with AWB executives on risks in the

        13       business, sir.  So I do recall seeing those reports.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you see any reports that referred to the

        16       relationship between a Pakistan agent who was based in

        17       Islamabad?

        18       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I tender those four pages, ELG.0001.0282

        21       through to 0285.

        22

        23       EXHIBIT #73 FOUR PAGES IN RELATION TO ELG MEETING OF

        24       16 FEBRUARY 2001, BARCODED ELG.0001.0282-0285

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, you would have been present at

        27       that meeting, would you not?

        28       A.   Well, I can't recall whether I was present at that

        29       meeting or not, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   You are not recorded as having offered an apology.  If

        32       you were not going to be present at a meeting, would you

        33       not have offered an apology?

        34       A.   That was the normal practice, sir.

        35

        36       Q.   Is it likely, then, that you were present at the

        37       meeting?

        38       A.   If there is no apology, then it is likely that I would

        39       be present at that meeting, sir

        40

        41       Q.   What was your position in February 2001?

        42       A.   February 2001 I was still group general manager of AWB

        43       International.

        44

        45       Q.   If we go to page 0283, items 5 and 7 refer to "GM

        46       International".  Was that you?

        47       A.   Under AWB International, GM International, yes, that
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         1       would be me, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   That would make it more likely than not, then, that

         4       you were at the meeting?

         5       A.   Not necessarily, sir, but it is - if I'm not an

         6       apology, and it's documented, then it is likely I am at

         7       that meeting.

         8

         9       Q.   One of the recommendations that Arthur Andersen made

        10       after reviewing the relationship with a person that is

        11       named in their report, and to whom reference has been made

        12       prior to your evidence as AA6, was a recommendation that

        13       AWB prepare a strategy and policy in relation to the

        14       Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  Were you aware of the

        15       development of such a strategy and policy?

        16       A.   No, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you even know that there had been a recommendation

        19       that such a strategy or policy be prepared?

        20       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        21

        22       Q.   Are you aware of any review of the arrangements

        23       between the AWB and the IGB as a result of any of the

        24       recommendations made by Arthur Andersen?

        25       A.   Not that I'm aware, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Were you ever given any training, after December 2000

        28       or early 2001, to assist you as a manager in ensuring

        29       compliance with the law as it related to foreign corrupt

        30       practices?

        31       A.   There was ongoing training run by our legal

        32       department, sir, on that issue and also domestic issues in

        33       Australia in terms of ACCC and things like that, yes, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Leaving aside domestic things within Australia, what

        36       about specifically in relation to bribing of foreign

        37       officials?

        38       A.   Yes, there was discussions and certainly training for

        39       staff on those issues, sir.

        40

        41       Q.   Including the training of yourself?

        42       A.   I was involved in those discussions, yes, sir.

        43

        44       Q.   When you say "discussions", are we speaking of

        45       training or are we speaking about discussions concerning

        46       the implementing of such training?

        47       A.   It was concerning the implementation of training and
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         1       certainly clarification, yes, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   Clarification of what?

         4       A.   Clarification of what the training should entail, what

         5       people should be involved.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you personally undertake

         8       training?

         9       A.   I can't exactly recall, sir, whether I was in a formal

        10       training session or not, so --

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You see, the Arthur Andersen report, which

        13       you say you didn't see, which for the purpose of these

        14       questions I accept, refers to this person who I have

        15       referred to as AA6, and appears to be P2 - refers to his

        16       arrangements with certain persons employed at AWB, and it

        17       lists a number of recommendations following upon a number

        18       of significant integrity risks that were identified.  Did

        19       your training, such as it was, deal with the payment of

        20       money such as commissions to agents in foreign countries in

        21       order to secure business?

        22       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   What did it deal with, leaving aside domestic issues?

        25       A.   Well, there was ongoing continual improvement process

        26       and there were then policies and procedures which were

        27       drawn up in terms of the payments of rebates, service fees,

        28       and things like that, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   Did that occur before February of 2003?

        31       A.   It was an ongoing process, sir, with a number of other

        32       issues, run by both legal and the corporate risk unit.  In

        33       terms of the exact date, sir, I can't be sure - I can't

        34       recall.

        35

        36       Q.   You said that there were policies and procedures which

        37       were drawn up, in your words, "in terms of the payments of

        38       rebates, service fees, and things like that".  We have

        39       covered in evidence the proposal to pay the IGB what some

        40       have referred to as a rebate for the quality issues

        41       concerning the wheat.  Did the continual improvement

        42       process that you referred to in your answer deal with that

        43       matter - the payment of the US$2m to the Iraqis over those

        44       quality issues?

        45       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, no.

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Geary, what use would that continual improvement
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         1       process have been if in early 2003 a mechanism was being

         2       proposed which was said in the memo itself to be contrary

         3       to the UN sanctions?

         4       A.   Well, that process in terms of - if I recall,

         5       commenced from 2004 over the 2005 year, but that process

         6       was run by our legal department, sir.

         7

         8       Q.   So the process of which you are speaking didn't begin

         9       to occur until some time in 2004?

        10       A.   If I can recall correctly, sir, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   So may we take it, then, that during 2000, 2001, 2002

        13       and 2003 there was, so far as you were aware, no process or

        14       training in place to deal with the integrity risk

        15       associated with the payment of commissions?

        16       A.   I couldn't say there was no process in place, sir.

        17       What I can say is that the processes in place at that point

        18       in time were not as well developed as they are today.

        19

        20       Q.   Did anybody within AWB, to your knowledge, identify

        21       the integrity risk associated with making payments in order

        22       to secure contracts before 2004?

        23       A.   I think that would have been identified, to my

        24       knowledge, yes, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   And how was it identified?  How was it identified to

        27       you?

        28       A.   Well, certainly in terms of it was the general

        29       corporate ethics of the company to make sure that any

        30       procedures followed legal policies and procedures, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   That was the statement in a document which set out the

        33       corporate ethics?

        34       A.   Yes.  That document set out corporate ethics.

        35

        36       Q.   What was the process in place to give life to that

        37       statement?

        38       A.   Well, there was an ongoing process of continual

        39       improvement, internal audit reports, rating of risks,

        40       issues such as delegated authorities, market risk control

        41       framework, and well documented policies and procedures and

        42       business rules between AWB International and AWB Limited.

        43       That evolved over time, sir.  It wasn't done in one

        44       particular chunk of time.  That evolved over time as we ran

        45       our internal audit program.

        46

        47       Q.   You see, this Arthur Andersen report that you didn't
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         1       see referred specifically to what were said to be extra

         2       payments that were made as part of the contractual

         3       arrangements with the IGB.  In part, the report records the

         4       following:

         5

         6            [AA3] --

         7

         8       who was a person employed in chartering in AWB --

         9

        10            stated that the extra payments were

        11            commissions to the best of his knowledge,

        12            that the friend in the Middle East is

        13            probably Zuhair and that Zuhair had dealt

        14            with [AA1].

        15

        16       another employee of AWB --

        17

        18            Zuhair was the one that instructed which

        19            trucking company to use.  At an airport

        20            lounge one time [AA1] received a mobile

        21            call and said that it had been Zuhair who

        22            had asked if extra payments could be made.

        23            [AA1] said he told him he could not make

        24            those payments.

        25

        26       Now, I appreciate that you didn't see the report, but the

        27       report identified an integrity risk in relation to these

        28       very payments that were being made to the IGB at the

        29       insistence of Mr Zuhair, who, for all relevant purposes at

        30       the relevant time, was the head of the IGB.  Do you know if

        31       anything was done within the AWB to address that integrity

        32       risk that had been raised by Arthur Andersen?

        33       A.   Certainly myself personally, sir, no.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time, Mr Commissioner?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        38

        39       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, I wonder if you would look at

         4       the next document, which is confidential exhibit 79C, which

         5       I believe is AWB.0199.0051.  This is a Jordan/Iran trip

         6       report which was prepared for an ELG meeting following a

         7       trip to Jordan and Iran by Messrs Whitwell and

         8       Edmonds-Wilson immediately after the coalition forces had

         9       entered Iraq.  I want to take you to page 0054.  This page

        10       deals with, among other things, what the authors of this

        11       report had to say about Alia, and you will recall that this

        12       is after the coalition forces had entered Iraq.

        13       A.   Yes, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   If we go to the bottom of that page, I'll just let you

        16       read the last two paragraphs on that page and over the

        17       page.

        18       A.   Yes, sir.

        19

        20       Q.   Have you read the portion over the page, that finishes

        21       it off?

        22       A.   No, sir.  Yes, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   So the situation was that the Pearl of Fujairah had

        25       travelled to Iraq and that 2.5 million Euros, on account of

        26       inland transport, had been paid, but, as you will recall,

        27       that ship had been diverted and had offloaded outside of

        28       Iraq due to the outbreak of hostilities?

        29       A.   Yes, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   You will see that two AWB personnel, Messrs Whitwell

        32       and Edmonds-Wilson, had spoken with the chairman and

        33       general manager of Alia particularly about the fees that

        34       had been paid on account of inland transport for that

        35       shipment.

        36       A.   Yes, sir.

        37

        38       Q.   Alia had said that as soon as someone with authority

        39       to sign the appropriate documentation from the Iraq side

        40       could be found, the money would be returned to Alia and

        41       then to the company in question and that this affected

        42       about 10 companies other than the AWB.  Are not those two

        43       paragraphs a clear indication that the money that the AWB

        44       was paying to Alia on account of inland transport was in

        45       fact being paid by Alia to the Iraqis?

        46       A.   I'm not sure, sir.

        47
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         1       Q.   How else can you read those two paragraphs?

         2       A.   You'd have to ask the authors of this trip report,

         3       sir.

         4

         5       Q.   Well, how else could those two paragraphs be read

         6       other than as an indication that the money that Alia had

         7       received on account of inland transport had been paid by

         8       Alia to the Iraqis and that Alia was awaiting the

         9       appointment of somebody with appropriate authority in Iraq

        10       to return the money to it so it could return it to the AWB?

        11       A.   I don't know the inner workings of the arrangements in

        12       Iraq, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   I'm not asking you that; I'm asking you whether

        15       there's any other way to read those two paragraphs other

        16       than as an acknowledgment that the money that AWB paid to

        17       Alia on account of the inland transport fee that's referred

        18       to was paid by Alia to the Iraqis?

        19       A.   Well, as I said, sir, Mr Long and Mr Whitwell had

        20       discussions.  It could have been paid to the sister company

        21       they talked about.  You'd have to ask those gentlemen, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   How else can you read the two paragraphs, Mr Geary;

        24       that's what I'm asking you?

        25

        26       MR FORREST:   I'm sorry, Mr Commissioner, I object to this.

        27       If the witness is simply being asked as to his opinion as

        28       to what those two paragraphs mean, in my submission, to ask

        29       him the question three or four times is, to use my friend's

        30       words, an arid exercise.  The paragraphs speak for

        31       themselves.  You'll make a conclusion on those paragraphs.

        32       To ask what this witness's opinion is on what they say, in

        33       my submission, wouldn't assist any more than the paragraphs

        34       themselves.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   The problem is I have to make findings

        37       about what people knew or understood about all these

        38       documents, and that's why I'd like to hear what this

        39       gentleman has to say about it.

        40

        41       MR FORREST:   With respect, sir, that's a different

        42       question.  The question might be, "Did you read those

        43       paragraphs at the time?  What did you understand they

        44       conveyed?"  But he's asked now to convey what he thinks the

        45       meaning now is of those paragraphs.  In my submission, the

        46       answer to that question wouldn't assist.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  No, I'll allow it.

         2

         3       THE WITNESS:   Sorry, sir, could you repeat the question?

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is it not plain from those two paragraphs

         6       that the money that the AWB had paid to Alia on account of

         7       the inland transport that's referred there had been paid by

         8       Alia to the Iraqis and that Alia was awaiting the

         9       appointment of someone in authority on the Iraqi side to

        10       return the money?

        11       A.   Without being involved in that discussion, that's what

        12       it appears, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   Now, you received this report as a member of the ELG,

        15       did you not?

        16       A.   Well, I can't recall, sir, but it would be unusual for

        17       a trip report to go to the ELG.

        18

        19       Q.   I wonder if we could bring up exhibit 48, please.  The

        20       copy I have doesn't have a barcode.  It's EXH.0001.0052.

        21       This is a train of emails beginning with Mr Whitwell asking

        22       for a document to be sent to ELG members, confirmation from

        23       Ms Robertson that the document was sent to ELG members, and

        24       a thank you from Mr Whitwell, recording his thanks for her

        25       having sent the document.  The document was the Jordan/Iran

        26       trip report that was compiled by Mr Whitwell and

        27       Mr Edmonds-Wilson.  Does that not suggest to you, Mr Geary,

        28       that that is a document that you would have received in the

        29       ordinary course of your work at the AWB?

        30       A.   That suggests to me that that document, according to

        31       this chain of emails, has been sent to the ELG.

        32

        33       Q.   You were a member of the ELG, were you not?

        34       A.   Yes, sir.

        35

        36       Q.   So doesn't it make it more likely than not that you

        37       would have received that document?

        38       A.   It's likely that - this says that it's been sent.

        39       Yes, it's likely that, as a member of the ELG, I would have

        40       received the document.

        41

        42       Q.   And you would have read it, would you not?

        43       A.   Not necessarily, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   This was the first trip report after the invasion of

        46       Iraq at a time when the AWB was interested in ensuring that

        47       its contractual relationship with Iraq to deliver more than
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         1       a million tonnes of wheat was kept in place; you agree with

         2       that, don't you?

         3       A.   Yes, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   Isn't it likely, Mr Geary, that, in those

         6       circumstances, you would have read this?

         7       A.   It's likely, sir, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   When you read it, was it not plain to you, from that

        10       portion that I have read to you, that the money that had

        11       been paid to Alia on account of inland transport had in

        12       fact been paid on by Alia to the Iraqis?

        13

        14       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, I object to this.  The witness

        15       conceded that it was likely that he read it, no more than

        16       that.  The next question was predicated on the basis, "When

        17       you read it", which presumed absolutely what was considered

        18       as likely.  In my submission, the question should read, "If

        19       you read it".

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll allow the question.

        22

        23       THE WITNESS:   I can't actually recall reading that trip

        24       report, sir.  It would be highly unusual for a trip report

        25       like that to be distributed and discussed at an ELG

        26       meeting.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Yes, but this time we do know it

        29       was distributed to every member of the ELG, and you said

        30       it's likely that you read it?

        31       A.   It's likely.

        32

        33       Q.   If you read it, did you not understand those two

        34       paragraphs that have been put to you?

        35       A.   I can't recall those two paragraphs, sir.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is it not the case that, at least from the

        38       date of that ELG meeting, you would have been aware that

        39       the payment of inland transport which AWB had paid to Alia

        40       had in fact been passed on to the Iraqis?

        41       A.   No, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   Why not?

        44       A.   Well, you're assuming that I read the trip report in

        45       great detail and was aware of it.  I can't recall that part

        46       of the trip report.  I can't recall absolutely reading it.

        47       I may have - it's likely that I opened it and looked at it,
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         1       but did I actually go through the trip report?  I can't

         2       recall, sir.

         3

         4       Q.   Isn't it likely that you would have read it, Mr Geary?

         5       A.   It's likely, sir, that I could have skimmed it.  I

         6       can't recall what I did.

         7

         8       Q.   By "skimmed it", you mean skim-read it?

         9       A.   It's likely I would have opened it.  Whether I read it

        10       or not I can't recall, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   I'm not asking you what you can recall.  Isn't it

        13       likely, given the circumstances in which this trip report

        14       was made and distributed, that you would have made it your

        15       business to read it?

        16       A.   Not necessarily, sir.

        17

        18       Q.   Why not?  This was the first entry into Iraq after the

        19       invasion.  Why would you not have been desperate to know

        20       what it was that the two AWB personnel who'd been sent

        21       there had to report about what they'd seen, heard and done?

        22       A.   Well, as I said, sir, I have a broad portfolio.  I'm

        23       not quite sure in terms of what was the major focus of my

        24       attention in the business at that point in time.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This is addressing recovering some

        27       $4.5m Australian.  Is that not a matter of concern to you -

        28       it's recovering it for the pool.

        29       A.   Sir, certainly I would rely on Michael Long and

        30       Chris Whitwell in those instances.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you know they went across to Iraq?

        33       A.   Yes, I would have been aware that there were

        34       delegations.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you know that one of the reasons they went there

        37       was to try to recover this $4.5m?

        38       A.   No, I wasn't across that detail, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   Why did you think they went there?

        41       A.   I think it was just obviously there was a lot of

        42       uncertainty after the war.  As I said before, there was a

        43       lot of decisions made in a quick period of time, and from

        44       an operational point of view, you know, Chris Whitwell and

        45       Michael Long ran that part of the operation, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   Wouldn't that make it the more likely that you'd want
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         1       to know what the outcome of the visit was?

         2       A.   As I said, sir, in terms of general skimming, without

         3       going into any great detail, we didn't have a verbal

         4       debrief after those trips, sir.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If you didn't have a verbal debrief,

         7       wouldn't that make it even more important to read the

         8       document?

         9       A.   No, I relied on those people, sir, in terms of the

        10       operation.

        11

        12       Q.   Relied on them to do what?

        13       A.   To make sure in terms of AWB was able to manage our

        14       customer relationship and maintain sales into the market,

        15       sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Without taking an interest in it yourself?

        18       A.   No, Michael and Chris are professionals and I relied

        19       on their judgment, sir.

        20

        21       Q.   In part, this was about recovering 2.5 million Euros,

        22       which was something over $4m Australian at the time; you

        23       appreciate that now, don't you?

        24       A.   Yes, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   You know, don't you, from other material we've covered

        27       whilst you've been in the witness box, Mr Geary, that

        28       inland transportation fees were paid in advance of the

        29       berthing of a vessel and prior to discharge?

        30       A.   I certainly wasn't across the details in terms of how

        31       payments were made, sir.

        32

        33       Q.   You know now, don't you, that inland transportation

        34       fees which were paid in advance were an expense of the pool

        35       which was not recouped until the letter of credit was met

        36       some many days after delivery of the grain?

        37       A.   I'm not across the detail in terms of how the prices

        38       were set, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   I'm not asking you about how the prices were set.

        41       This is the mechanism for payment of the inland

        42       transportation fee.  Remember we went through a lot of

        43       evidence about this?

        44       A.   Yes, yes.  I know now that some was paid before and

        45       some after, sir, yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Do you know that that which was paid in advance was
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         1       paid to the account of the AWBI; that is, the pool?

         2       A.   No.  As I said, I'm still not aware of the internal

         3       workings, sir, in terms of the flow of the accounts.

         4

         5       Q.   Would you not concede that I have taken you to a

         6       number of documents which demonstrate that the forward

         7       portion of the inland transportation fee was paid by the

         8       AWBI in advance of the ship arriving at port?

         9       A.   I'm not quite sure in terms of the time frames, sir,

        10       that you showed me those documents, what dates --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  I may be wrong, but I thought we

        13       went through all this on Wednesday.

        14       A.   As I said, though, sir, in terms of the details,

        15       Chris Whitwell and Michael Long managed that part of the

        16       business.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I thought you had already conceded that in

        19       fact the pool bore the fiscal responsibility for those

        20       prepayments and that the pool recouped the money after

        21       delivery when the UN paid the money out of the escrow

        22       account, and my recollection was that you went so far as to

        23       say that an interest component was built into the price so

        24       as to protect the pool because of the delay in payment.

        25       A.   Yes, sir.  That's my understanding, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   So you knew that it was the pool that paid in advance

        28       a proportion of the inland transport fee?

        29       A.   Certainly after you showed me some invoices, sir, yes,

        30       that's what it appeared to be.

        31

        32       Q.   And you knew that at the time?

        33       A.   In 2003 - no, I didn't, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   It's apparent on the face of this document that

        36       2.5 million Euros was paid in advance of the delivery of

        37       any wheat that was transported on the Pearl of Fajairah,

        38       isn't it?

        39       A.   That's what it appears to be, sir, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   What I'm suggesting to you is that at that time - that

        42       is, at the time that this document was available to you -

        43       you would have been interested to know whether or not that

        44       money was going to be recouped?

        45       A.   In terms of the operation, sir, as I say, I relied on

        46       Chris and Michael.

        47
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         1       Q.   Well, what do you say about my question:  would you

         2       have been interested to know whether or not that money was

         3       going to be recouped or not?  Would it not have been a

         4       matter of interest to you, as head of the pool?

         5       A.   At that point in time, sir, I'm not head of the pool,

         6       but it would be of interest to me to make sure that

         7       international sales and marketing took the appropriate

         8       steps.  In 2003 I was not head of the pool.

         9

        10       Q.   Yes, I'm sorry, I correct myself.  As at May/June 2003

        11       then you would have been interested to see that AWB had

        12       procedures in place to recoup that money?

        13       A.   Well, assuming I'm aware of the issue, and I can't

        14       recall that, but certainly if there was moneys outstanding

        15       to the national pool, I would be certainly sure to make

        16       sure that international sales and marketing would recover

        17       any moneys, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   You would have made it your business, wouldn't you, to

        20       ensure that that was happening?

        21       A.   I can't recall this, sir, and I can't recall anyone

        22       bringing it to my attention.

        23

        24       Q.   Ought it to have been brought to your attention?

        25       A.   If there was an issue, if the pool manager, Sarah

        26       Scales, felt that it needed to be brought to my attention,

        27       then she would.  I can't recall Sarah bringing it to my

        28       attention, and I can't recall Michael or Chris bringing it

        29       to my attention, sir.

        30

        31       Q.   Wasn't the very purpose of this note to bring that,

        32       amongst other things, to your attention?

        33       A.   I'm not quite sure what the purpose of the note was,

        34       sir, apart from an update in terms of the trip report.

        35

        36       Q.   To provide information as to the result of the trip?

        37       A.   Yes, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   Which information would have been available to you if

        40       you'd read the document?

        41       A.   Correct, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   So you are sure of what the purpose of the trip report

        44       was, to provide information to you, amongst other members

        45       of the ELG?

        46       A.   Yes, sir.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   As I understand your evidence, the

         2       authors took the somewhat unusual step of making sure that

         3       a copy of the trip report was sent to every member of the

         4       ELG.

         5       A.   Yes, sir.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, doesn't it follow that every

         8       member of the ELG had an opportunity, if they'd read this

         9       report, to conclude that money that was being paid to Alia

        10       on account of inland transport had in fact been passed on

        11       by Alia to the Iraqi regime?

        12       A.   I think there's a lot of assumptions there that the

        13       ELG read the report and they understood those two

        14       paragraphs, sir.  So I think I can't speculate.

        15

        16       Q.   Would you not agree that anybody who had the

        17       wherewithal to reach the position where they were a member

        18       of the ELG, the executive leadership group - that those

        19       people would have been able to understand the ordinary

        20       plain English meaning of those two paragraphs?

        21       A.   No, sir, because I don't believe the various members

        22       of the ELG would have an understanding of the inner

        23       workings in Iraq, sir.

        24

        25       Q.   These two paragraphs fulfil that role.  They contain

        26       information about the inner workings as to what happened to

        27       the payment of the inland transportation fee that was made

        28       by the AWB.  They make it plain that it was paid to Alia

        29       and that Alia paid it on to the Iraqis and that, on behalf

        30       of AWB, Alia was trying to get it back.  Don't you see all

        31       of those concepts in those two paragraphs?

        32       A.   I can see that, sir, but in terms of the ELG, that if

        33       that was a particular issue that the ELG needed to be

        34       brought to its attention and discussed at the ELG, there

        35       would be a paper raised with those two issues alone.  A

        36       trip report copied to the ELG - I can't speak for my fellow

        37       ELG members, I can't assume in terms of if they read it

        38       and, if they did read it, how much attention to detail they

        39       took, sir.

        40

        41       Q.   Mr Geary, this was no ordinary trip report; this trip

        42       report dealt with the prospect of contracts with Jordan,

        43       Iraq, Iran, in circumstances where the AWB had been

        44       providing up to about 80 per cent of Iraq's wheat.

        45       A.   Yes, sir.

        46

        47       Q.   At a time at which the AWB had in place a standing



            .30/1/06 (16)              1516     P A GEARY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       crisis committee to deal with the situation in Iraq, did it

         2       not?

         3       A.   I understand that there was a committee, yes, sir.

         4

         5       Q.   And the AWB was taking, shall we say, a very keen

         6       interest in what its future might be as a supplier of wheat

         7       to Iraq?

         8       A.   Yes, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   So this was not the provision of a trip report in

        11       ordinary circumstances, was it?

        12       A.   No.  Iraq was a unique set of circumstances, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   You read this, didn't you?

        15       A.   I can't recall, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   I suggest to you that you are saying you can't recall

        18       because you do not want to have to deal with the

        19       consequences of admitting that you read it.

        20       A.   No, sir, I cannot recall reading that document.

        21

        22       Q.   If you read it, it would have fixed you with knowledge

        23       as to what was happening to the inland transportation fee

        24       that the AWB had been paying to Alia?

        25       A.   Not necessarily, sir, no.

        26

        27       Q.   Why?

        28       A.   Well, just looking at the document now, and I can't

        29       see the document in its entirety, the issue then would have

        30       been obviously getting food to the Iraqis, maintaining our

        31       customer relationship, and working with the World Food

        32       Program, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   What's that got to do with getting the 2.5 million

        35       Euros back from the Iraqis through Alia?

        36       A.   I haven't read the whole document, sir, but that

        37       appears to be one issue amongst many.

        38

        39       Q.   And?

        40       A.   I can't recall reading the document, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   Mr Geary, if those two paragraphs mean what they say,

        43       then it gives the lie to any later statement made by AWB

        44       that it was not aware that payments made to Alia were being

        45       passed on to the Iraqi regime; isn't that right?

        46

        47       MR FORREST:   I object to this, Commissioner.  In my
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         1       submission, this witness has been, firstly, cross-examined

         2       about these two paragraphs for the last 25 minutes and

         3       asked about his knowledge of them, his construction of

         4       them, what he makes of them now, what he made of them then,

         5       if he read them.  It's been put to him he did read him.

         6       The examination has been very extensive and he's dealt with

         7       it.  Now he's being asked to comment not only on what those

         8       two paragraphs mean, but how it impacts on a position taken

         9       not by him but by the AWB.  On behalf of Mr Geary, I

        10       object.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   He's the second line of authority.

        13

        14       MR FORREST:   That's right.  If it's suggested to him that

        15       he took that position and it is inconsistent with that

        16       position he took --

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, what's being suggested is something

        19       a little different.  We know the AWB has maintained a

        20       public position to the Government of Australia and to the

        21       United Nations inquiry.

        22

        23       MR FORREST:   Yes.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   And we also know that the nine most

        26       senior executives received this document.  This document

        27       and that public position do not sit happily together.

        28       What's being put to him is that if any one of those nine

        29       had put up their hand, having read this document, AWB could

        30       not have maintained the public position that it has.

        31       That's what's being put to him.  He's one of the nine.

        32

        33       MR FORREST:   Yes.

        34

        35       MR FORREST:   My objection is he can speak on behalf of

        36       himself, he can perhaps be asked, "Did anyone else in your

        37       presence voice an objection to those two paragraphs or what

        38       flows from them", but to put to this witness that it gives

        39       the lie to the position AWB took, in my submission, is

        40       asking this witness more than he can give.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I'll allow the question.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, can you answer my question?

        45       A.   Could you repeat the question, please, sir?

        46

        47       Q.   If those two paragraphs mean what they plainly say,
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         1       then it gives the lie to any later statement made by AWB

         2       that it was not aware that payments on account of inland

         3       trucking made to Alia were being paid to the Iraqis?

         4       A.   No, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   Why do you say that?

         7       A.   Well, can I actually go back and have a look at the

         8       authors of the trip report, sir?

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Look at the what?

        11       A.   The authors of the trip report.

        12

        13       Q.   They are Messrs Whitwell and Edmonds-Wilson.

        14       A.   In the normal course of events the junior on the

        15       delegation writes the notes, sir.  Now, I assume - I'm

        16       making assumptions here, sir, and I'm not quite sure

        17       whether that's what Mr Agius is looking for, but I assume

        18       that Nigel had taken the trip report, taken the notes, and

        19       I really don't know what that means, sir, and you have to

        20       talk to people who were involved in that trip.  So I can't

        21       add any more than that, I'm sorry.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Or you won't, Mr Geary?

        24       A.   I can't, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   We know that Mr Whitwell organised for that trip

        27       report to be disseminated amongst the ELG.

        28       A.   Yes, sir.

        29

        30       Q.   One would be entitled to assume that Mr Whitwell was

        31       aware that the ELG members would receive the report and

        32       that he would expect that various of them would read it?

        33       A.   I think that's a fair assumption, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Indeed, his name is on it, and given that he has

        36       organised for its dissemination, one could fairly imply

        37       that he has adopted it himself, could one not?

        38       A.   Imply that he's adopted - I don't understand the

        39       question, sir, I'm sorry.

        40

        41       Q.   It's obvious, isn't it, if he's asking for the report

        42       to be distributed, that he is backing the report, that he's

        43       adopted it?

        44       A.   Well, I don't know, sir.  You'd have to ask Chris how

        45       thoroughly he read the report.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, we will in time.  I'm asking you your opinion,
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         1       not about what was in Mr Whitwell's mind or

         2       Mr Edmonds-Wilson's mind, but I'm asking you about what

         3       appears on the face of the document, and I'm asking you as

         4       a senior manager of AWB, responsible as you are, to express

         5       an opinion as to whether or not those two paragraphs are

         6       plainly at odds with any statement made by the AWB

         7       thereafter that it was not aware that payments that it made

         8       to Alia on account of inland transport were paid to the

         9       Iraqi regime.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   For the record, Mr Commissioner, I also object

        12       to this.  Again, it's asking this witness to speculate

        13       about what others might have thought, what the collective

        14       "you" is.  I understand the point the Commissioner makes in

        15       relation to this man's position in the company and the fact

        16       that his knowledge may, on one view, be said to be his

        17       knowledge of the company.  What he's in effect being asked

        18       to do is to speculate about the understanding of others

        19       about this particular document, about these particular

        20       passages.  In our submission, that's not helpful, it's not

        21       appropriate and it's unfair.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is it unfair?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Unfair, sir, to other witnesses who may come

        26       along and it may be put to them that this is the opinion

        27       Mr Geary has ventured; unfair to the AWB because it has not

        28       yet been established that others who might be attributed

        29       with this particular understanding of the document have

        30       that knowledge; unfair in those circumstances.  It's unfair

        31       to expect the witness, sir, to venture an opinion of the

        32       kind that Mr Agius is seeking from this witness, an

        33       opinion, sir, about the mind of the AWB and an opinion that

        34       ordinarily no person in this man's position would ever be

        35       asked in a proceeding in court.  I understand this is not a

        36       proceeding in court and that there's a greater scope here

        37       for questioning than might otherwise be the case, but the

        38       fact is the answer is, in our respectful submission,

        39       useless.  It's an arid opinion.

        40

        41            We are concerned, sir, that questions of this kind,

        42       eliciting answers of the kind that this witness is being

        43       asked to give, then adopted as being a position which is

        44       reported in the media, it's a position which militates

        45       against the interests of the AWB in circumstances where

        46       this man is not competent, we say, to answer.  It's unfair

        47       in that sense also.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not concerned about what the media

         3       do with material that's provided here, except in relation

         4       to material which is confidential.  I'm very concerned that

         5       they don't publish that.  As to the balance, I have no

         6       control over what they do.  But it does seem to me that

         7       where you have a situation, which I think is established,

         8       that AWB has taken a public position, not least in the

         9       letter of 25 October 2005 and elsewhere, and it has been

        10       established that this document went to the nine most senior

        11       executives in the executive leadership group of the

        12       company, and the two paragraphs have, some might think, an

        13       apparent meaning, that this witness is not able to be

        14       asked, on your submission, whether or not the position

        15       adopted by the company and the position apparently known,

        16       if they read this document, to the nine senior executives

        17       are not inconsistent.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   First of all, sir, if I may respond in this way:

        20       save for the addressees of the memorandum being members of

        21       the ELG, it has not been established that they indeed saw

        22       it or read it.  It might be presumed they did.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   They will all be called.  It may be the

        25       situation that the nine most senior executives on the ELG

        26       didn't read the memorandum specifically sent to them;

        27       that's one position.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   That's possible as one position.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   I hope it's not so.  It would be a

        32       terrible indictment.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Another position, sir, is that persons might

        35       read a particular paragraph or paragraphs without

        36       appreciating what is now read from those paragraphs.  That

        37       is also possible, whilst reading the document.  It depends

        38       upon the mindset of the reader.  The position that the AWB

        39       has taken, and taken since the first report of the Volcker

        40       Inquiry, is an acknowledgment that moneys were channelled

        41       through to the Iraqi Government.  That's clear enough in

        42       the letter.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's accepted by AWB, is it?

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   It's found in the letter.  If I can read the

        47       passage in the letter of the 25th:
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         1

         2            AWB never intended for payments to be

         3            channelled to the former Iraqi Government.

         4            It is, nonetheless, of serious concern to

         5            the AWB that any part of the trucking fees

         6            paid to the AWB in the final phases of the

         7            OFP program were channelled to the

         8            government.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does AWB accept that the fees were

        11       channeled through Alia to the Government of Iraq, IGB, or

        12       not?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   The AWB has accepted the findings of the Volcker

        15       Inquiry in that regard.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's a very simple question I asked,

        18       Mr Judd:  does AWB accept that the moneys which were paid

        19       to Alia were channelled from Alia through to the Iraqi

        20       Government?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   That is an appropriate question to ask each

        23       witness as they come to this inquiry, sir.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   But you're not going to answer the

        26       question?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   I'm not going to answer it, sir.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Right.  Then I'll allow this question.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What's the answer, Mr Geary?

        33       A.   Sir, I cannot speculate whether each individual member

        34       of the ELG opened and read this trip report.  I can't

        35       recall the two issues, or the issues in those two

        36       paragraphs, being discussed as a particular issue at an ELG

        37       meeting.  For myself, I can't recall reading this trip

        38       report, and certainly I cannot recall having a discussion

        39       with Chris Whitwell about the issues that he raises in the

        40       two paragraphs that you have highlighted.  That is my

        41       answer, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   That's not an answer to my question, Mr Geary.  What

        44       is the answer to my question?

        45       A.   Sir, could you repeat the question?

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Geary, is not the statement that we read in those



            .30/1/06 (16)              1522     P A GEARY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       two paragraphs inconsistent with any later statement by AWB

         2       that it was not aware that payments made on account of

         3       inland transport to Alia were paid to the Iraqi regime?

         4       A.   In terms of AWB's knowledge after the Volcker

         5       committee report, sir - is that the time frame we're

         6       talking about now?

         7

         8       Q.   You know it's not, Mr Geary.

         9       A.   Certainly in terms of the date of this trip report,

        10       sir, no, sir, that's not my interpretation.

        11

        12       Q.   Is not the statement in those two paragraphs

        13       inconsistent with any later statement made by AWB that it

        14       was not aware that payments made on account of inland

        15       transport to Alia were paid to the Iraqi regime?

        16       A.   No, sir, I don't believe that that is inconsistent.

        17

        18       Q.   How do you say that?  On the one hand a statement that

        19       the AWB was not aware that payments made on account of

        20       inland transport to Alia were paid to the Iraqi regime,

        21       and, on the other hand, what you read in those two

        22       paragraphs - how are those two positions not inconsistent?

        23       A.   Certainly, sir, in terms of the understanding of those

        24       two paragraphs, you'll need to speak to Mr Whitwell about

        25       that.  I can't add any more to what I've already said.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Well, you can, because the

        28       document was sent to you.

        29       A.   Sir, I understand that.

        30

        31       Q.   You've now recently read it.  You mightn't have read

        32       it before, but you've certainly read it now?

        33       A.   I've read it now, sir, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   You're being asked whether the terms of those two

        36       paragraphs, the substance of them, is inconsistent with a

        37       position adopted by AWB that it was not aware that moneys

        38       paid to Alia were paid to the Iraqi Government?

        39       A.   Okay.  From our knowledge today, sir, and from reading

        40       this again today, I think obviously AWB has accepted many

        41       of the findings of the Volcker committee, although, as I

        42       said yesterday, in my mind there are still issues about who

        43       moved the wheat, and issues about discussions that Michael

        44       Long has had with Alia about whether Alia directly moved

        45       the wheat or whether there was a sister company.  They're

        46       discussions that you need to take up with Michael Long,

        47       sir.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mr Geary, did you not understand the question I asked

         3       you?

         4       A.   Yes, sir, and I've tried to answer it.

         5

         6       Q.   But the answer you gave was unrelated to the question.

         7       A.   I apologise, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   I'm not going to repeat it, because it's been asked

        10       about five times.

        11       A.   I apologise, sir.  I've tried to answer it to the best

        12       of my ability.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Geary, were you consulted by anybody at

        15       AWB, prior to the time that Mr Volcker published his final

        16       report, about the preparation of any response to the

        17       Volcker Inquiry?

        18       A.   The response to the Volcker Inquiry - no, I wasn't -

        19       not that I can recall, sir, in terms of direct involvement

        20       in the response, no.

        21

        22       Q.   Were you consulted in any indirect way, or did you

        23       have any indirect role to play in the response that the AWB

        24       made to the announcement of the IIC inquiry?

        25       A.   Certainly there were discussions, sir, but in terms of

        26       my general involvement, my question remains the same - who

        27       moved the wheat?  So, no, I was not directly involved in

        28       the response to the Volcker committee report.

        29

        30       Q.   You said there were discussions.  Who did you have

        31       discussions with?

        32       A.   There were general discussions in terms of the

        33       meetings with Mr Volcker himself, but that project was run

        34       very much by other people within the organisation.

        35

        36       Q.   Who ran that project, the response to the IIC inquiry?

        37       A.   That would have been stakeholder relations and that

        38       was headed up by Mr Hargreaves.

        39

        40       Q.   Anybody else, aside from Mr Hargreaves?

        41       A.   Mr Hargreaves was the lead in terms of the stakeholder

        42       relations, sir.  I'm not quite sure who else was involved.

        43

        44       Q.   Stakeholder relations is a term with which I'm not

        45       familiar, Mr Geary, so perhaps you might - what does it

        46       mean?

        47       A.   Within the AWB, sir, we have a group that manages - as
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         1       I've said earlier, we have a number of stakeholders and we

         2       have a group that manages relationships with various

         3       stakeholders.  That group in the AWB is headed up by

         4       Mr Hargreaves.

         5

         6       Q.   The IIC wasn't a stakeholder in the AWB, was it?

         7       A.   Well, they were a stakeholder in terms of - no, you

         8       couldn't say they were a stakeholder, but they were a

         9       party, sir, that we had to work with, and that was work

        10       through stakeholder relations.

        11

        12       Q.   Is Mr Hargreaves a lawyer?

        13       A.   I'm not aware of Mr Hargreaves' formal training and

        14       background, sir.

        15

        16       Q.   Tell me, at any time prior to Mr Volcker publishing

        17       his final report, did anybody come to you and say to you in

        18       substance, "Well, Peter, what do you know about this?  Is

        19       there anything you know about this?  Is there any

        20       contribution you can make to this inquiry?"

        21       A.   No, sir, not that I can recall.

        22

        23       Q.   Nobody sought your view?  Nobody interviewed you, took

        24       a statement from you or asked you about any matter of

        25       substance that might be the subject of the IIC inquiry?

        26       A.   Certainly there was no formal interview.  I expressed

        27       my bewilderment in terms of, as the question is today, who

        28       moved the wheat?  No, sir, I was not involved in preparing

        29       the response to the Volcker committee.

        30

        31       Q.   That's still an open question, is it, who moved the

        32       wheat?

        33       A.   In my mind it is, yes, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   So you don't suggest that Alia moved the wheat, then,

        36       do you?

        37       A.   Sir, I don't know, and there has been subsequent

        38       discussions with Alia and, as I said, Mr Long has had those

        39       discussions where they talk about a sister company.

        40

        41       Q.   Do you know whether he included those in his revised

        42       statement?

        43       A.   I'm unaware, sir.  I haven't seen anybody else's

        44       statements.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you asked to provide any documents that might be

        47       relevant to the IIC inquiry by anybody in the AWB?
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         1       A.   We were asked to provide any files that we had in my

         2       particular office.  As I said, I don't keep a lot of files

         3       on individual markets, but certainly everything that we had

         4       was provided.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, did you provide a copy of this trip report from

         7       May 2003, setting out the opinion of Messrs Whitwell and

         8       Edmonds-Wilson?

         9       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you provide any Tigris documents which talk of

        12       inflating the price of the contracts 1670, 1680?

        13       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you provide any documents?

        16       A.   The process was that the legal group would ask to have

        17       a look at files and I would vacate my office and let them

        18       look at whatever they liked, sir, so I wasn't there when

        19       they were going through particular files.

        20

        21       Q.   Were you given a list of files?

        22       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, no.

        23

        24       Q.   What, you were just asked to leave your office so that

        25       they could look through any file you had in your office?

        26       A.   No, I wasn't asked to leave my office, sir.  They

        27       asked to look at things and then I left and did other

        28       things, so gave them full access, as well as through my

        29       secretary, who had obviously soft copies of files, and

        30       things like that, on emails.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you draw their attention to any trip reports or

        33       any material that suggested that money being paid to Alia

        34       was in fact being paid to the Iraqis?

        35       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you draw to their attention the memorandum that

        38       you had sent to Mr Lindberg on 7 February 2003?

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   10 February?

        41       A.   In preparation for the Volcker committee?

        42

        43       Q.   No, 10 February.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   10 February?

        46       A.   In preparation for the Volcker committee findings,

        47       sir?  Are we talking about the Volcker --
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         1

         2       Q.   Yes.  As part of the AWB's response to the Volcker

         3       Inquiry, did you draw anybody's attention to that

         4       memorandum?

         5       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, no.

         6

         7       Q.   Why not?

         8       A.   I let them - they had access, sir.  They were choosing

         9       in terms of what was relevant or not.

        10

        11       Q.   How would they know that it existed?

        12       A.   Well, they had access to both hard copy and soft

        13       copies of files, sir, so --

        14

        15       Q.   How would they know that that particular memo that you

        16       had delivered to Mr Lindberg's office with your note

        17       attached, which we've seen and which is an exhibit - how

        18       would they know that existed?

        19       A.   I don't know, sir.

        20

        21       Q.   Well, why didn't you draw it to their attention?

        22       A.   They had access to all the files, they didn't draw any

        23       particular file or memo that - they didn't actually - they

        24       weren't specific in terms of what they were looking for,

        25       sir.

        26

        27       Q.   But you knew the Volcker Inquiry had been commenced

        28       and you knew that the issue was in part whether or not any

        29       payments had been made by AWB to the Iraq regime; you knew

        30       that, didn't you?

        31       A.   I knew that the Volcker committee had commenced.  It

        32       was only later in the piece, sir, that I understood in

        33       terms of the issues for the AWB, when there were some

        34       discussions at higher levels.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you not know that one of the issues before the

        37       Volcker Inquiry was whether or not the AWB had made

        38       payments to the Iraqis in breach of the sanctions?

        39       A.   I'm not quite sure whether, in terms of my awareness,

        40       it was before the Volcker committee started, sir, or

        41       inquiry started, or during the process, but - during the

        42       investigation, but --

        43

        44       Q.   It was fundamental, wasn't it, to the inquiry?

        45       A.   I must admit, sir, I can't recall whether I took

        46       particular note at that time in terms of the terms of

        47       reference of that inquiry.
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         1

         2       Q.   You said you might have become aware of it during the

         3       course of discussions.  Who did you have those discussions

         4       with - the high-level discussions that you spoke of?

         5       A.   Ongoing discussions - Peter Hargreaves was the normal

         6       point of contact.

         7

         8       Q.   So you discussed things with him, did you?

         9       A.   He informed me in terms of some of the preliminary

        10       findings of the Volcker committee, yes, sir.

        11

        12       Q.   Before he told you about the preliminary findings, did

        13       you have a knowledge that the Volcker Inquiry or the IIC

        14       was looking at the issue of whether or not the AWB had made

        15       payments to the Iraqis in breach of the sanctions?

        16       A.   I don't recall whether I had that knowledge going into

        17       the Volcker committee.  Certainly through the process that

        18       became clear later on, sir.

        19

        20       Q.   Did it become clear before you saw the preliminary

        21       findings, or the advance notice of findings?

        22       A.   I think there'd been some discussions between

        23       Mr Volcker and Mr Lindberg, and that was, to my knowledge -

        24       that was when it became clearer to me.

        25

        26       Q.   I take it you accept that Mr Lindberg was entitled to

        27       rely upon the managers immediately below him to inform him

        28       of any knowledge that they had which was of relevance to

        29       the IIC inquiry that he was responding to?

        30       A.   In terms of the - that project, sir, that project, as

        31       I said, was managed by - the lead was Mr Hargreaves, and

        32       assisted by our legal department.

        33

        34       Q.   That was the mechanism, but didn't you think that, as

        35       a senior manager, you had a responsibility to go to your

        36       CEO with any information or knowledge or opinions that you

        37       had which might affect the AWB's response to the IIC?

        38       A.   No, sir, my responsibility was to make sure that that

        39       team had open access to whatever they were looking for.  So

        40       that was my response, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   How would they know what they were looking for if you

        43       didn't tell them?  This material isn't radioactive,

        44       Mr Geary; they couldn't come in with some kind of counter

        45       and find it.  How were they to know what to look for

        46       without the assistance of people like yourself?

        47       A.   Well, they had meetings with - my understanding is
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         1       with some investigators from the Volcker committee.  I

         2       wasn't at those meetings, I wasn't privy.  So I assume they

         3       got instructions from those investigators in terms of

         4       particular areas they were interested in, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   I'm talking about material within AWB about which one

         7       would not have expected the IIC to be giving AWB personnel

         8       instructions.  My question to you was:  why wouldn't you

         9       have regarded it as part of your job as a senior manager to

        10       raise with your CEO, through whatever mechanism - through

        11       Mr Hargreaves or any other body - any information you had

        12       or any opinion you had on the issue as to whether or not

        13       AWB was making payments to Alia which were being passed to

        14       the Iraqis?

        15       A.   Well, at that point in time, sir, my role was to make

        16       sure that any information that Mr Hargreaves required he

        17       had access to, so, you know, as I say, I wasn't involved in

        18       the particular briefing that he may have taken from the

        19       Volcker investigators.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you hear my question?

        22       A.   Yes, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   How was that a response to my question?  Did you or

        25       did you not regard it as any part of your duty to inform

        26       your CEO of any material or of any opinion you had

        27       concerning whether or not the AWB had been making payments

        28       to Alia and they were being passed on to the Iraqis?

        29       A.   Well, at that point in time I didn't see it as my duty

        30       to inform the managing director directly, sir.  My duty was

        31       to make sure that Peter Hargreaves and the legal team had

        32       full access to any information they needed.

        33

        34       Q.   And that was the limit of your duty as you saw it?

        35       A.   Yes, sir.

        36

        37       Q.   So if you had a document, and you were aware of it,

        38       which bore directly on that issue - payments to Alia which

        39       were being passed on to the Iraqis - unless you had been

        40       specifically asked for that document, you would not have

        41       produced it; is that what you say?

        42       A.   If I was aware of a particular document that was of

        43       particular concern, then, yes, I would have raised it with

        44       Mr Hargreaves, but I wasn't aware of any particular

        45       document that the investigators from the Volcker committee

        46       were actually looking for, sir, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   Why didn't you raise with him the memo of February

         2       2003, which records that the Iraqi minister had insisted on

         3       the iron filings compensation being paid through the inland

         4       transport mechanism?

         5       A.   There was a thorough review of all documents.  That

         6       document would have been within the international sales and

         7       marketing group.  I try the best I can to keep a paperless

         8       office as much as I can, sir, and those documents would

         9       have been available within international sales and

        10       marketing.

        11

        12       Q.   They would have existed within international sales and

        13       marketing, and you had sent a copy to Mr Lindberg; that's

        14       right, isn't it?

        15       A.   That's right, sir, with a covering note.

        16

        17       Q.   Why didn't you raise with Mr Hargreaves or his group

        18       the existence of that document and, indeed, the fact that

        19       the minister, the Iraqi minister, had insisted that the

        20       payment be made through the mechanism of the inland

        21       transport fee?

        22       A.   I made the assumption at the time, sir, that all

        23       documents were available to Mr Hargreaves and he would have

        24       access to that.

        25

        26       Q.   So you assumed, did you, that Mr Hargreaves had that

        27       document when the AWB's response was being prepared to the

        28       IIC committee's investigation?

        29       A.   I assumed he had access to all documents that were of

        30       interest, yes, sir.

        31

        32       Q.   Including that document?

        33       A.   Yes, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Do you know whether that document was ever made

        36       available to the IIC investigators?

        37       A.   I don't know as a matter of fact, no, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   Do you know why it was not made available to the IIC

        40       investigators?

        41       A.   Sir, I don't know if it was made available and I don't

        42       know if it wasn't made available.

        43

        44       Q.   Now, as we understand the process, Mr Volcker wrote to

        45       the AWB enclosing a draft, if you like, of his findings,

        46       preliminary findings, to which the AWB then responded and

        47       then, very shortly thereafter, Mr Volcker published his
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         1       final report - is that how you understand the process?

         2       A.   Yes, sir.

         3

         4       Q.   In between receiving what I will call the draft report

         5       and the transmission of the AWB's final response in October

         6       of last year, were you consulted by anybody at AWB?

         7       A.   Not that I can recall, sir, no.

         8

         9       Q.   So you weren't given a copy of the draft report to

        10       read?

        11       A.   No, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   And your opinion as to its content or the draft

        14       findings was not sought?

        15       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Are you aware whether that process was followed at

        18       all?

        19       A.   Well, in terms of the draft report, I assume - look,

        20       sir, I shouldn't assume.  I would assume that certain

        21       people within the organisation read the draft report, yes,

        22       sir.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, we might all make assumptions, and I mean that

        25       with no disrespect to you, Mr Geary, but we're trying to

        26       find out what actually happened.  Do you know whether such

        27       a process was in place?

        28       A.   From a factual point of view, sir, I'm not quite sure

        29       what the process was at that point in time.

        30

        31       Q.   When you came to make your own statement, the December

        32       statement that we have, did you access any trip reports

        33       prior to making that statement?

        34       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you access any emails?

        37       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        38

        39       Q.   Did you access the February 2003 memorandum?

        40       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you have access to any documents at all?

        43       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   Was that a deliberate choice on your part not to refer

        46       to any documents prior to or during the process of making

        47       that statement?
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         1       A.   No, in terms of the process of making the statement,

         2       sir, I was - it was more of an interview process than a

         3       research process.

         4

         5       Q.   Did it not occur to you at the time that it might have

         6       been better to actually access contemporaneous records if

         7       you were making a statement about matters that had occurred

         8       in the past?

         9       A.   It didn't occur to me at that point in time, sir, no.

        10

        11       Q.   It's occurred to you since?

        12       A.   Absolutely.

        13

        14       Q.   This is the last matter, I believe, that I can cover

        15       with you today, Mr Geary.  In relation to the Tigris

        16       matter, you became aware of how that issue was resolved as

        17       between the AWB and Tigris?

        18       A.   No, sir, not that I can recall.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you become aware that there was an agreement

        21       between the AWB and Tigris concerning how that issue would

        22       be resolved?

        23       A.   Is this pre-war or postwar, sir?

        24

        25       Q.   Well, at any time.

        26       A.   Certainly, sir, I was aware of an agreement with

        27       Tigris going into the war, yes, sir.

        28

        29       Q.   We know from your memo of February 2003 that the

        30       Tigris debt had been acknowledged by the Iraqis and that an

        31       agreement had been reached between the AWB and the Iraqis

        32       that the contract prices for the forthcoming million tonne

        33       sale of wheat would be inflated to cover a component for

        34       the Tigris debt; that much we've covered so far - do you

        35       agree with that?

        36       A.   Yes, we have, sir.

        37

        38       Q.   We've seen documents - that is, AWB documents - which

        39       itemised that proportion of the inflated price which

        40       related to the Tigris debt?

        41       A.   Yes, we have, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   And we know, don't we, that, however those contracts

        44       were renegotiated and whatever happened to them - we'll

        45       come to that with other witnesses - as the wheat was

        46       delivered and as AWB was paid for deliveries, proportions

        47       were set aside to meet the Tigris debt?
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         1       A.   As far as I'm aware, yes, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   At the end of that process the Tigris debt was paid

         4       out by AWB?

         5       A.   As far as I'm aware, yes, sir.

         6

         7       Q.   And the US$500,000 fee that the AWB received was paid

         8       to the benefit of the pool?

         9       A.   As far as I'm aware, yes, sir.

        10

        11       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 38.  This is the

        12       agreement between AWB International Limited and Tigris

        13       Petroleum Corporation Limited, which is AWB.0193.0265 could

        14       we go to the last page, please, which is 0269.  Mr Geary,

        15       can you identify the signature or the identity of the

        16       person who signed on behalf of AWB (International) Limited?

        17       A.   No, sir.

        18

        19       Q.   Do you know who signed that agreement on behalf of

        20       AWBI?

        21       A.   No, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   Have you seen that agreement before?

        24       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        25

        26       Q.   Were you aware that AWBI and Tigris were looking to

        27       agree in writing as to the arrangements as between

        28       themselves?

        29       A.   Not that I'm aware, sir.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, are you able to help us with

        32       whose signature that is?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   I'll get some instructions, Commissioner.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up exhibit 34, which is

        39       AWB.0129.0298.  We have two emails here, Mr Geary, one at

        40       the bottom of the page to Mr Whitwell and then one at the

        41       top of the page where Mr Whitwell adds a message of his own

        42       and forwards the first email to Ms Lyons and Mr Cooper,

        43       with copies to you, Mr Stott and Mr Hockey.  Do you see at

        44       the bottom of the page somebody from Tigris - we'll take

        45       this up with Mr Whitwell later - has written to him

        46       attaching an agreement for his consideration, and I'll

        47       leave you to read that last email for yourself.
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         1       A.   Yes, sir.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you see that he has attached a draft agreement, and

         4       then Mr Whitwell has sent to you, amongst others, that

         5       email together with his comments on the draft.  That's an

         6       email you would have received on 28 May 2003.

         7       A.   Yes, sir.

         8

         9       Q.   So it seems that you had some notice that AWB and

        10       Tigris were looking to set down their arrangement in

        11       writing, at least as at May 2003?

        12       A.   That's what that email says, yes, sir.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, it's the fact as well, isn't it?

        15       A.   It's the fact, but, as I say, I can't recall seeing

        16       that, but that's a fact that that email says, sir.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   While my friend is pausing, Commissioner, at

        19       transcript page 809, line 22, Mr Lindberg said he believed

        20       it's Mr Richard Fuller, the company secretary.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You'll see that the author from Tigris

        25       speaks of attaching an agreement for consideration.

        26       A.   Yes, sir.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you recall what you did when you received that?

        29       A.   No, sir, I cannot recall.

        30

        31       Q.   The agreement that was finally reached is exhibit 38,

        32       which we've seen, 0193.0265, and it speaks of AWBI paying

        33       to Tigris a service fee, in clause 3.

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   To your knowledge, AWB was in fact assisting Tigris so

        37       that the IGB could repay a debt; isn't that right?

        38       A.   To my knowledge, yes, sir.

        39

        40       Q.   The money that AWB was to pay to Tigris was in

        41       repayment of the debt that IGB had incurred way back in

        42       1995-96?

        43       A.   That was my understanding, yes, sir.

        44

        45       Q.   And that the money that the AWB was to pay to Tigris

        46       would be money that it, AWB, would receive from the escrow

        47       account from time to time upon the delivery of the wheat
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         1       referred to in the contracts 1670 and 1680?

         2       A.   Well, I'm unaware of actual timing, sir, whether the

         3       escrow account was still running in terms of the recovery,

         4       so I can't help you in terms of the detail, sir.

         5

         6       Q.   But that was the agreement?

         7       A.   Certainly pre-war, sir, but I don't know what happened

         8       in terms of this agreement afterwards.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you know how it came about that the arrangement as

        11       we see it in this signed agreement speaks of the payment to

        12       Tigris of a service fee?

        13       A.   No, I don't, sir.

        14

        15       Q.   Were you ever told that indeed the arrangement between

        16       AWBI and Tigris was one where the payment of the money to

        17       Tigris was being passed off as a service fee?

        18       A.   Not that I can recall, sir.

        19

        20       Q.   Have you ever heard it referred to in that way?

        21       A.   I can't recall that, sir.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you know whether the board was ever told that the

        24       arrangements between AWBI and Tigris were for AWBI to pay

        25       Tigris a service fee?

        26       A.   Certainly I've read the transcript of Mr Lindberg,

        27       sir, so today I have to say yes.

        28

        29       Q.   But other than what you've read in the transcript of

        30       this inquiry?

        31       A.   No, sir.

        32

        33       Q.   You've no knowledge of that at all?

        34       A.   Not that I'm aware, sir, no.

        35

        36       Q.   The agreement that was attached to the email that you

        37       forwarded can now be brought up.  It's AWB.0129.0300.  This

        38       is the draft that had evidently been prepared by Tigris,

        39       forwarded to you by Mr Whitwell.  Could we bring up 0301.

        40       Do you see this is described as a service agreement?

        41       A.   Yes, sir.

        42

        43       Q.   If we go to the next page, paragraph 3, "Tigris's

        44       Compensation":

        45

        46            Subject to the terms and conditions of this

        47            Agreement, AWB shall pay to Tigris an
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         1            amount equal to US$7,875,000.

         2

         3       That's referred to as compensation; do you see that?

         4       A.   I see that, sir, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   You never understood this payment to Tigris as being

         7       any form of compensation, did you?

         8       A.   That wasn't my understanding, sir.

         9

        10       Q.   Mr Geary, what did you do when you received this draft

        11       from Mr Whitwell?

        12       A.   Sir, in terms - I can't recall receiving this draft.

        13       In terms of the previous email that you showed me, there's

        14       no icon on that, sir, to say that there was an attachment

        15       anyway.  So I can't recall actually doing anything with it.

        16       As I say, I can't recall receiving it.

        17

        18       Q.   The email itself says:

        19

        20            As agreed, I attach an agreement for your

        21            consideration.  It is very simple.

        22

        23       Then Mr Whitwell forwards that email, with six numbered

        24       paragraphs in which he addresses various clauses in the

        25       document that's on the screen.  He asks of Ms Lyons and

        26       Ms Cooper:

        27

        28            Please have a look at this and provide

        29            comments/redraft so I may pass back to

        30            Tigris.

        31

        32       All of that material would tend to suggest that Mr Whitwell

        33       in fact forwarded a copy of the draft that he had been

        34       provided by Tigris?

        35       A.   Well, I can't recall him sending that to me, sir.  As

        36       I said, the previous email, there was no icon in terms of

        37       the attachment, so how it was attached, I don't know.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   I tender the draft service agreement of May

        40       2003, which is AWB.0129.0300 through to 0305.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #74 DRAFT SERVICE AGREEMENT OF MAY 2003, BARCODED

        43       AWB.0129.0300-0305

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, that is as far as I can take

        46       the examination of Mr Geary at this point in time.  We have

        47       as late as yesterday received further documents from AWB
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         1       and there is more evidence yet to come, so I would ask you,

         2       whether he is or is not further examined today, not to

         3       release Mr Geary from his notice and we will be in contact

         4       with his legal representatives as to the adjourned date.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, do you wish to ask the witness

         7       any questions at this stage?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   No, sir.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Forrest?

        12

        13       MR FORREST:   Not at this stage, Commissioner.  There may

        14       be some questions arising from further matters, but not at

        15       this stage.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll adjourn any further examination of

        18       Mr Geary to a date to be fixed by arrangement.

        19

        20       THE WITNESS:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        21

        22       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, you've been waiting there

        25       anxiously.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Would it be convenient if I were to respond now

        28       to the matters that you raised on Wednesday afternoon?

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I must say that we were very

        33       concerned at the issues that you raised and, as I

        34       foreshadowed on that occasion, it should not come as a

        35       surprise to the Commissioner that we reject what

        36       conclusions you there drew, sir.

        37

        38            If I can take a moment to perhaps encapsulate what we

        39       understand was said in this way:  you, sir, outlined three

        40       expectations which you said you or the Commission had.  The

        41       first one was put in this way:

        42

        43            I would have expected that AWB would have

        44            had an analysis done of the documents which

        45            are in their possession.

        46

        47       That's at 1301.  The second expectation, sir, was that you,
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         1       sir, would have expected that AWB would have consulted with

         2       all of the witnesses who were likely to be called in this

         3       inquiry.  The third expectation was that you would have

         4       expected that the statements that would be given to this

         5       inquiry would address both the matters which are the

         6       subject of this inquiry and the documents that relate to

         7       it.

         8

         9            You then, sir, went on to say that those statements

        10       told the inquiry nothing, and concluded in this way:

        11

        12            The result of that is at least twofold.

        13            One is that we have to go through this

        14            laborious process...

        15

        16       which you, sir, described as tedious and expensive:

        17       And, second, you said at 1302:

        18

        19            ...the process is doing AWB immeasurable

        20            harm from a reputational point of view

        21            and --

        22

        23       I expect that is intended to say "immeasurable harm from an

        24       economic point of view".

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, "measurable".

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   "And a measurable harm from an economic point of

        29       view."

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   By reference to this movement on the

        32       Stock Exchange.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Then, sir, you described the level of

        35       cooperation as a facade and there was an exchange between

        36       you, sir, and myself, and this matter was stood over until

        37       today.

        38

        39            I want to address in due course each of the

        40       expectations which, sir, you said you had because, in our

        41       submission, whilst we can't gain say the fact that you have

        42       those expectations, we would contend, sir, that they are

        43       unreasonable and, in at least one respect in relation to

        44       the statements, it cannot be an expectation that is held by

        45       the Commission staff, counsel assisting and the Commission

        46       solicitor.

        47
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         1            We assume, sir, that what is meant when you draw

         2       conclusions as to the consequences of the failure to

         3       produce the detailed statements is to contend that the

         4       damage caused to AWB is in some way attributable to that.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Sorry, I don't understand that.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   That in some way the damage which is caused to

         9       AWB is in some way attributable to the fact that statements

        10       were delivered which were not, as you put it, sir, in a

        11       detailed or sufficiently detailed fashion.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   What I had in mind was this:  I should

        14       have thought it was in AWB's interest to address the

        15       matters the subject of the inquiry in some detail and, that

        16       not having occurred, the process of obtaining information

        17       is elongated, and that is what I had in mind in relation to

        18       the causing of the damage.

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, the nature of the statements that

        21       were prepared - perhaps I can turn to that matter first -

        22       is something which has been the subject of not only

        23       discussion, and I won't go into that, but correspondence

        24       between my instructing solicitors and the Commission.

        25       Perhaps it's best described in this way, if I can direct

        26       the Commission's attention to a letter which is dated

        27       21 December 2005 from Arnold Bloch Leibler to the

        28       Commission solicitor.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I have the document.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   On the second page of that letter my instructing

        33       solicitor says this:

        34

        35            We confirm that we explained to you that

        36            can-say statements were being provided

        37            because in the time available it was not

        38            possible to prepare extensive witness

        39            statements that dealt with every single

        40            relevant document...

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think you need to go back to the

        43       start of the paragraph.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   I will do that, sir.  This is on the last

        46       paragraph commencing on page 1:

        47
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         1            As we informed yourself and counsel

         2            assisting in our meeting of 12 December, we

         3            have prepared and provided can-say

         4            statements on behalf of the individuals

         5            that you have requested statements be

         6            provided.  These may be verified on oath by

         7            the witness at the hearing and supplemented

         8            by further oral evidence --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's the problem, the statements are

        11       recognised by the instructing solicitors to be incomplete.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   May I continue, sir, because it will make clear

        14       the point that I wish to make?

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:

        19

        20            We confirm that we explained to you that

        21            the can-say statements were being provided

        22            because, in the time available, it was not

        23            possible to prepare extensive witness

        24            statements that dealt with every single

        25            relevant document and communication, and

        26            the purpose of the can-say statements was

        27            to assist the Commission by providing it

        28            with a general overview of the person's

        29            role and responsibility and involvement

        30            with the Iraqi market.  In particular, we

        31            explained it would not be possible to take

        32            each witness through the material on a

        33            contract-by-contract basis as suggested by

        34            counsel assisting the Commission.

        35

        36            If, upon reviewing the statements, there

        37            are further specific areas that you wish

        38            the witnesses to address, we will be able

        39            to provide supplementary statements or they

        40            can be matters for evidence.

        41

        42       So, Commissioner, first of all it would come as no surprise

        43       to the Commission's solicitor and, indeed, we would say

        44       counsel assisting, that what they were being provided with

        45       was what is described there as a general overview of the

        46       person's role and responsibility.  What they were not being

        47       provided with, sir, was what was intended to be a
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         1       substitute for the whole of the evidence to be given by the

         2       individual, and there is very good reason, in our

         3       submission, for this.  One is the time available; second,

         4       the availability of documents - I'll come to that

         5       separately, because the document production process is one

         6       which was substantially only completed shortly before this

         7       Commission commenced its hearings, and in that regard, sir,

         8       it's our submission that what was said earlier this

         9       afternoon in relation to Arnold Bloch Leibler that they

        10       have probably had the relevant documents for a year is not

        11       justified and, on my instructions, quite incorrect.

        12

        13            There are additional quite important reasons as to why

        14       these statements took the form which they did, not the

        15       least of which, sir, is that it seemed to us that it would

        16       be irresponsible for us to become engaged in a process of

        17       dealing with what could only be described as contentious

        18       material, given the view that was taken by the Commission

        19       as to what it was contending as far as the issues in this

        20       inquiry, in the preparation of statements for persons who

        21       would be examined under oath in this Commission.  That is

        22       point number 1.  We considered it to be irresponsible if we

        23       were to descend into that detail and statements with

        24       contentious issues.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't understand that.  I don't

        27       understand why, if you are acting for witnesses and you are

        28       providing statements of their evidence, you wouldn't

        29       address the matters that are in issue, particularly where,

        30       on 9 December, as I understand it, a letter with four pages

        31       of topics to be addressed was sent, and when we get the

        32       statements they address barely if any of those.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   The statements for the most part were delivered,

        35       sir, in late December.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I understand that.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   I'll come to that document, that four-page

        40       document, in just a moment.  We say that it doesn't help at

        41       all.

        42

        43            Perhaps as important, sir, is the concern that we have

        44       as practitioners to have a witness swear outside of the

        45       Commission, outside of the protection of the Commission,

        46       detailed responses to documents about which it is

        47       inevitable that witness is going to be examined and
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         1       examined on contentious issues.  It seemed to us that the

         2       only prudent course was to allow that examination to occur

         3       before this Commission, and the Commission staff were so

         4       informed.

         5

         6            In relation to the document that you, sir, just

         7       identified, the fact is that it contains something in the

         8       order of 70 questions in relation to 26 contracts.  It

         9       might be said that this should provide the guide to what it

        10       is the witnesses ought to have descended to in detail.

        11       Sir, that document addresses for the most part trucking

        12       fees on a contract-by-contract basis.  It does not descend

        13       to inquire of matters which have come to become those which

        14       are important to this Commission.  So it can't be said,

        15       sir, that --

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   You must remember this is before I

        18       think the Commission was informed of the Tigris matter and

        19       given any documents in relation to it.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   With respect, no, sir.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that not right?  When did AWB

        24       provide the Tigris documents to the Commission?

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Sir, we informed counsel assisting of the Tigris

        27       matter I think as early as it may have been 12 December, or

        28       thereabouts.  It was the legal representatives who brought

        29       it to the attention of counsel assisting.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   That makes what I just said accurate -

        32       9 December precedes the 12th.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   That's correct.  This particular document, in

        35       any event, sir, cannot be relied upon as a guide in those

        36       circumstances to what has become important before this

        37       Commission.  The statements that were provided did deal,

        38       albeit in an overview sense, with Tigris.  These questions

        39       which are contained in the document dated 9 December did

        40       not, for example, deal with the iron filings rebate,

        41       inquire of the 10 per cent or the Arthur Andersen report,

        42       all of which are important issues now before this

        43       Commission.

        44

        45            It's our submission, sir, that, first of all, the

        46       preparation of these statements, in the form which they

        47       took, was done responsibly and properly in circumstances
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         1       where it was not reasonably open to us, as legal

         2       practitioners, to do otherwise.  We also submit, sir, that

         3       the preparation of these statements, in the form which they

         4       took, has not had the effect of protracting examination.

         5       Had the statements descended to the kind of detail that it

         6       is suggested they should, one can assume that it would

         7       perhaps have simply excited more examination as to the

         8       accuracy, completeness, and the like, of those particular

         9       statements.

        10

        11            So, in our submission, there is no justification at

        12       all in the suggestion that the delivery of these

        13       statements - which, after all, was a voluntary matter; it's

        14       a matter that we were not required to do, and I understand

        15       the Commission is putting this on the basis of

        16       cooperation - has not had the effect of extending the

        17       hearings.  Perhaps a good example of this is in the past

        18       witness, Mr Geary, who had put to him his existing

        19       statement as a document that he should review as a complete

        20       statement of what he has to say.  Mr Geary went away and

        21       came back and said yes, it was.

        22

        23            Now, the Commission may or may not accept that

        24       evidence, but the fact is one can conclude that these

        25       statements in their current form are ones which, in our

        26       submission, have not had the effect of protracting the

        27       hearing one bit.

        28

        29            As for the analysis of documents that you, sir,

        30       assumed would be undertaken, the fact is that it was not.

        31       One might understand why this is so, given the

        32       circumstances of the Volcker Inquiry.  The Commission has,

        33       for example, a Memorandum of Understanding that was agreed

        34       between the Volcker Inquiry and AWB as to what was going to

        35       be produced and in what circumstances.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I also have seen the history of the

        38       various drafts of that document.  I don't know if you've

        39       seen them.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   I have seen them, the history of drafts of that

        42       document.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   The first request from Volcker was for

        45       the production by AWB of all relevant documents, and that,

        46       after much correspondence to and fro between the chief

        47       executive officer and Mr Volcker's senior lawyer, resulted
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         1       in AWB producing only those documents which they were

         2       specifically asked for.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   This Commission served a notice for the

         5       production also of all relevant documents with something in

         6       the order of I think two working days to comply.  That,

         7       sir, was a process which then had to be moderated by

         8       discussion and commonsense.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Of course.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   We say, sir, that the same process was

        13       undertaken with the Volcker Inquiry, and of course the

        14       Volcker Inquiry did not involve any coercive process.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   So the position is, sir, that once this inquiry

        19       was called there were, first of all, two circumstances:

        20       one, not the massive array of indexed and analysed

        21       documents that one might consider perhaps ought to have

        22       been in place in anticipation of such an inquiry, but a

        23       process and circumstance where that kind of inquiry had to

        24       be undertaken.  It was necessary to put in train a process

        25       at AWB involving up to 30 persons, nearly a dozen lawyers,

        26       to undertake a search according to criteria that would

        27       expose the relevant documents, then to identify what, if

        28       any, such documents were privileged, then to provide those

        29       documents to this Commission in very short time frames.

        30       Added to that, sir, was the fact that the Commission

        31       required the documents to be collated into particular

        32       categories, which we understand was not an unreasonable

        33       request, if it could be done.  It had the effect of

        34       assisting the Commission in its analysis of the documents.

        35

        36            The Commission has asked at the outset that a person

        37       be made available, if necessary, to give evidence of the

        38       document searches and the process.  Such a person is

        39       available if necessary and can take the Commission through

        40       what various steps were undertaken, what categories of

        41       documents were looked for, what the results were, who was

        42       involved in making those searches, who made decisions in

        43       relation to the categories, and the like.  So we say, sir,

        44       that the criticism that might be levelled at AWB in

        45       relation to the production of documents, if there be a

        46       criticism, is not justified.

        47
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         1            Of course our obligations under the notices we regard

         2       as continuing.  Documents as and when they're found are

         3       produced.  That may well give rise to some complaints and

         4       criticisms from time to time, and we understand that.  We

         5       understand that it may necessitate witnesses being

         6       recalled.  In the circumstances, we can only do the best we

         7       can in terms of production of documentary material.

         8

         9            The process, sir, of undertaking the email searches

        10       was quite monumental.  There were millions of documents

        11       that were exposed by the criteria, and these had to be then

        12       analysed and brought into some sort of manageable form

        13       which could then be provided to the Commission.  Not all of

        14       those documents that responded to the criteria were

        15       necessarily relevant documents because of the normal

        16       exigencies that attend computer-generated analysis of that

        17       kind.

        18

        19            We can assure the Commission that, as far as the

        20       production of documents is concerned, every effort is being

        21       made to comply with our obligations, and insofar as

        22       requests are made from time to time they are being

        23       responded to as quickly as possible.  We do not regard it,

        24       sir, as in our interests for this inquiry to continue a day

        25       longer than it must.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would agree with you on that.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   The third expectation that you identified, sir,

        30       was this, that we would have consulted with all available

        31       witnesses.  That was made, of course, in the context of the

        32       other two expectations and the preparation of witness

        33       statements.

        34

        35            To some extent, that expectation is a reasonable one

        36       where the people concerned are our employees.  However, as

        37       the Commission now knows, some of the principal people

        38       involved in setting up what were the early transactions

        39       with Iraq, with the IGB, are no longer with AWB.  That

        40       doesn't mean, sir, and I don't intend to contend, that we

        41       have not had the opportunity of speaking with some of these

        42       people, but you will understand, sir, that persons such as

        43       Mr Flugge, Mr Emons, Mr Watson, and the like, are all

        44       separately represented, and not by my instructing

        45       solicitors.  That does inhibit the process that might

        46       otherwise have been undertaken to obtain instructions on

        47       some very important matters.
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         1

         2            Mr Hogan, sir, is not a person who we've communicated

         3       with.  Mr Hogan is at the apex of those involved in the

         4       discussions with the IGB.  To a limited extent, yes, we

         5       have had that opportunity, yes, we have taken advantage of

         6       the opportunity where possible, but it is not one that has

         7       been a fruitful one in relation to some of the very early

         8       important matters.

         9

        10            Sir, then in what you said on Wednesday you moved on

        11       from that point to contend that the cooperation was a

        12       facade, and at the time I said that it would be rejected,

        13       and I do say now.  The cooperation that has been provided

        14       has not been a facade and we would contend that, insofar as

        15       we have cooperated - again, we do understand it's not our

        16       obligation to cooperate, but there has been a high level of

        17       cooperation and voluntary cooperation on the part of the

        18       AWB.

        19

        20            That cooperation we discern, sir, the Commissioner has

        21       perhaps not expressed in words, but you, sir, would perhaps

        22       graft on to what was said on Wednesday cooperation in terms

        23       of waiving legal professional privilege.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Completely different issue.

        26

        27       MR JUDD:   Well, sir, with respect, I'm grateful to hear

        28       that, because it has appeared to us that the contrary may

        29       be the case.  If I can explain what I mean by that.

        30       Following the exchange between you, Commissioner, and

        31       myself on Wednesday after lunch, we received in the evening

        32       a letter containing some 20 questions or interrogatories

        33       directed to the directors, the members of the board, past

        34       and present, of the AWB.  Those questions were to be

        35       responded to, if at all, by today.  A cursory glance at the

        36       expectation conveyed in the letter as to what was to be

        37       conveyed and how, and what searches, and the like, would be

        38       necessary, what inquiries must be made to answer it, or

        39       answer those questions, would reveal, in our submission, to

        40       the ordinary reader that it would not have been possible

        41       for any one of those persons on the current board, let

        42       alone the past boards, to properly respond in a way which

        43       the Commission would consider to be satisfactory.  More

        44       particularly, sir, those questions descended to matters

        45       which, in our submission, are not appropriate to inquire of

        46       in this manner.  If I can perhaps read two of the

        47       questions --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have a copy of the letter?  I

         3       don't think I've seen this.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   I have my copy.  We have one that's scribbled

         6       on, sir.  I can hand up my copy, which just has underlining

         7       marking, and the Commission, of course, will ignore that.

         8       It may well assist in identifying the relevant paragraphs.

         9

        10            Sir, you will see that this request, which is provided

        11       as a formal request of the Commission, commences, "Please

        12       specify your knowledge for the period 1 June 1999 to

        13       17 January 2006 of the following matters", and then, on the

        14       second page, "and for the period 1 January 1995 to

        15       17 January 2006".  If I can immediately go to the

        16       concluding paragraph of the document before directing

        17       attention to any particular question and read the

        18       following:

        19

        20            In relation to each of the matters

        21            identified of which you have knowledge,

        22            please state the person/persons who

        23            informed you or the source of your

        24            knowledge, the substance of any information

        25            provided, including whether the information

        26            was verbal or written, and providing a copy

        27            of the writing, if possible, the date and

        28            dates on which the information was provided

        29            or the knowledge gained, whether the board

        30            made a decision or a resolution involving

        31            the matter and, if so, when, whether the

        32            information was provided as part of a board

        33            meeting or otherwise, and, if otherwise,

        34            stating the circumstances and whether you

        35            informed fellow directors of the matter.

        36            The Inquiry requests that answers be

        37            verified by statutory declaration.  If you

        38            do not propose to respond, please advise by

        39            no later than Monday, 30 January 2006.

        40            Otherwise please let me have your response

        41            by that date.

        42

        43       Sir, the first submission we make about that is that it is

        44       plainly oppressive and incapable of a response in any

        45       meaningful sense by that time.  Secondly, notwithstanding

        46       the practice note of the Commission, it would be surprising

        47       if a person were to verify by statutory declaration or any
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         1       other circumstance under oath evidence of that kind to this

         2       Commission outside of the Commission.  Third, sir - this

         3       goes to the question of privilege and the way in which it,

         4       in our submission, is being dealt with here, which we say

         5       is inappropriate at the very least - the board is asked, in

         6       paragraph (f) on the first page, in relation to the board's

         7       decision to claim legal professional privilege on behalf of

         8       AWB so as to prevent legal advice given to AWB being made

         9       available to this inquiry.

        10

        11            Now, sir, we can only conclude that the author of that

        12       either does not accept what I said about the matter, does

        13       not accept the instructions I received about the matter, or

        14       proposes to interrogate by means of the question the board

        15       itself about the decision of the board in relation to the

        16       claim for legal professional privilege.  That's not the end

        17       of the matter.  If one goes across the page to

        18       paragraph (r), what is asked there is as to the legal

        19       advice as to any payments to Tigris and, if so, what the

        20       board was informed were the facts of the transactions upon

        21       which the legal advice was based and whether the legal

        22       advice was to enter into an agreement which fairly and

        23       accurately reflected those facts and true nature of the

        24       transactions between the parties.

        25

        26            On reading that, sir, we concluded that what was being

        27       pursued was a process by which pressure was being put on

        28       the board to waive legal professional privilege in what we

        29       contend would be a quite improper way.  Now, we accept,

        30       sir, that this was not something that's been brought to

        31       your attention, but those particular requests, in our

        32       submission, are quite inappropriate, given the instructions

        33       that I have and have conveyed to this Commission.  We have

        34       said, sir, that the whole of the inquiry that is contained

        35       in this document is oppressive in any event.

        36

        37            We could be forgiven, in our submission, for

        38       concluding that part of the strategy that was being

        39       employed by this Commission was to try to induce the board

        40       to waive legal professional privilege in some way to enable

        41       the disclosure of otherwise privileged and confidential

        42       material to this inquiry.

        43

        44            The process, sir, that has been undertaken here in

        45       this inquiry is something that we are concerned about for a

        46       number of reasons.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which process is that?

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   I'm about to explain why.  We are concerned,

         4       sir, about questions of fairness in the way in which this

         5       inquiry is being conducted.  To some extent, sir, our

         6       concerns bear upon the way in which matters have been

         7       reported and the damage that has been caused to AWB as a

         8       consequence of what we contend in some respects are unfair

         9       elements of the process.

        10

        11            Can I perhaps premise what I have to say in that

        12       regard in this way:  we, sir, came to this inquiry with

        13       certain expectations ourselves about the way in which it

        14       would be conducted.  We understand and accept that

        15       inquiries of this kind are not as they are conducted in a

        16       court.  We understand that there is a great deal more

        17       latitude extended to counsel assisting to ask questions,

        18       they are not confined by the ordinary rules of evidence,

        19       and the like.  But it's our submission that what that

        20       freedom to investigate carries with it are special

        21       obligations.  Those obligations are, to some extent,

        22       reflected in the secrecy that inquiries conducted by the

        23       Australian Crime Commission, the ACCC and ASIC undertake.

        24       Those inquiries are conducted in private, because it is

        25       acknowledged that the kind of investigation that is

        26       undertaken into commercial affairs, the kind of

        27       investigation that involves a line of inquiry directed to

        28       ascertain whether or not there are breaches of the law is

        29       one which almost inevitably will damage reputations and

        30       other legitimate interests.

        31

        32            In those circumstances, sir, it was our expectation -

        33       we say not an unreasonable one - that, where a commission

        34       of inquiry is to inquire into such matters as to breaches

        35       of the law, in a public fashion, the obligation of those

        36       conducting the examination in particular is a special one.

        37       The examination and the inquiry itself, sir, must be fair,

        38       of course.  The examinations must be conducted courteously.

        39       Reputations must be protected where possible.  There must

        40       be special attempts, in our submission, to avoid

        41       unnecessary damage, and there cannot be, in our submission,

        42       prejudging of issues.

        43

        44            Unfortunately, sir, the manner in which this

        45       investigation is being conducted through the examination of

        46       witnesses fails in each respect.  In our submission, that

        47       process has been one which has been particularly damaging
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         1       to our client.

         2

         3            The unfairness starts, we would say, sir, with the

         4       secret hearings that my friend Mr Forrest raised earlier.

         5       We understand what may be said about that, that, as a

         6       matter of law, the Commission is only required to give

         7       notice of the substance of any adverse allegations to a

         8       party under investigation or a party who may be affected so

         9       as to discharge the duty to accord natural justice.  But we

        10       say, sir, that, in the circumstances of this inquiry, where

        11       there are contentious issues as to recollections and

        12       understanding and issues of credit which we have seen

        13       raised, about the time events were known and circumstances,

        14       it can only be concluded that what we are at risk of seeing

        15       is an ambush, an ambush of our clients through their

        16       employees, through their witnesses, people such as

        17       Mr Lindberg, Mr Geary, perhaps Mr Stott, Mr Long, whose

        18       evidence might in the end, in some respects, be

        19       contradicted by somebody having said something in a private

        20       session which has not been put to them.  It's all very well

        21       to say, "Well, you can deal with that later", but, in our

        22       submission, there is an element of unfairness in having

        23       witnesses examined about matters which go to their credit

        24       or go to their recollections or perhaps expose them to the

        25       risks of giving incorrect answers when the Commission has

        26       available to it, through secret hearings, material which

        27       might be contradictory or adverse to the interests of those

        28       people.  That's one form of unfairness, sir, that we

        29       perceive.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   So what's the rectification for that,

        32       that a witness is entitled to see all material and

        33       documents which the Commission of Inquiry may have gathered

        34       in advance of giving evidence; is that the proposition?

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   What is the minimum, sir, that is required is

        37       that the witness should have squarely put to them when they

        38       are in the witness box what, if any, contradictory material

        39       the inquiry has which is likely to be employed at any time

        40       by the inquiry.  The second form of unfairness, sir --

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have not heard that proposition

        43       before, but an administrative inquiry according natural

        44       justice has that obligation.  Is there some authority for

        45       that?

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   The way in which the obligation of natural
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         1       justice unfolds in a particular inquiry will depend on upon

         2       the circumstances.  That is why I premised what I said by

         3       ordinarily the obligation is to give notice of the

         4       substance.  This is the demand principle of Newscorp, and

         5       the like.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I accept all that.  The

         8       proposition you put went further.

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   The proposition I put went further, in these

        11       circumstances where the investigation has taken evidence

        12       from persons who have been involved in the establishment,

        13       as we understand it, of the very events under

        14       consideration; involved in the communications which have

        15       been put to the witnesses one after the other; sometimes

        16       the authors of those communications, and the like; where

        17       evidence is taken in secret from those persons, and

        18       Mr Lindberg or Mr Geary or someone else is being asked to

        19       comment on communications involving those persons about the

        20       very subject matter that we must assume evidence has been

        21       taken, comment on propositions and conclusions about the

        22       knowledge of AWB in circumstances where evidence has been

        23       given by those who set up the mechanisms, if I can call it

        24       that, then in our submission the obligation of natural

        25       justice has not been discharged unless what is said by

        26       those persons whose evidence was given in secret which

        27       contradicts something that the witness says is put to them.

        28       That's the way in which, sir, in our submission, it goes

        29       further in this case.

        30

        31            If, of course, nothing has been said by these people

        32       which at all contradicts what the witness says, so be it,

        33       but if it has, we would expect it to have been put.  We are

        34       surprised --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why is not natural justice served, if

        37       there be such people and their evidence becomes public,

        38       that those who preceded them in evidence are given the

        39       opportunity to respond?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Sir, this is an inquiry to establish facts.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   In no circumstance is an ambush an appropriate

        46       tactic.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not a question of ambush.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   In our submission, sir, it would be ambush if

         4       these witnesses were allowed to give evidence about matters

         5       in circumstances where this inquiry knows of facts which

         6       would contradict - they ought to be given the opportunity,

         7       in the course of their evidence, to comment on what

         8       somebody else may say.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, "ambush" is a very colourful

        11       term.  What you mean by that is that witnesses should be

        12       informed in advance of all of the material that the inquiry

        13       has before they are called upon to give sworn evidence;

        14       that's in substance what you're saying?

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   If the inquiry, sir, is not prejudging the

        17       credit of a witness, then perhaps that's so.  If the

        18       purpose of the inquiry --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   I can assure you I will not prejudge

        21       anything until I've heard all the evidence.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   I accept what you say, sir, but if the inquiry

        24       is not prejudging, then, in our submission, there is no

        25       disadvantage to the process of investigation by assisting a

        26       witness who is giving evidence in the recollection of fact

        27       or the correction of fact by providing them information

        28       which somebody else may have given that contradicts what

        29       they say.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, that is a proposition that would

        32       deny to a commission of inquiry seeking to establish the

        33       truth a very strong forensic tool.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   An advantage which, in our submission, in these

        36       circumstances, is unfair.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   But if the person giving evidence does

        39       tell the truth, why are they at a disadvantage?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Then, sir, if the assumption is that the witness

        42       is going to be a witness of truth, he's telling the truth,

        43       there can be no disadvantage to the inquiry in providing

        44       the information.  If the assumption is that the witness is

        45       not a witness of truth, then the credibility of the witness

        46       is being prejudged.  We have assumed that the witnesses

        47       would come to this inquiry with the inquiry open to the
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         1       prospect of having truthful evidence given, and we

         2       sought --

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's what I am seeking.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   -- well in advance of the commencement of this

         7       inquiry access to that material.

         8

         9            I might say, sir, that the persons who we understand

        10       have been examined in private are persons in respect of

        11       whom we, as the AWB, have a real interest, because we

        12       understand that these persons are former employees, or may

        13       include former employees.  If that's so, then we would have

        14       expected, in the ordinary course, to have been given leave

        15       to attend and be given notice of that private hearing, and

        16       we were not.  Quite frankly, sir, we wonder why.  We can

        17       understand the forensic advantage that one might seek to

        18       obtain if one has a view about the credit of forthcoming

        19       witnesses, but if that's not the case, sir, we cannot see

        20       how it is that, as the AWB, and as a party having been

        21       given leave to appear generally in relation to matters

        22       relating to the conduct of the AWB, its past and present

        23       employees, we were not notified.  That is a matter of

        24       concern.

        25

        26            The second unfairness that we have encountered, sir,

        27       which we say in part has contributed to the damage that the

        28       AWB has suffered is --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   The first one is secret hearings; is

        31       that right?

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   Secret hearings.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, what's the second one?

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   The second one is best described as ridicule of

        38       witnesses.  In our submission, although entertaining to the

        39       media, ridicule of a witness in any circumstances is

        40       unfair, and we have observed on numerous occasions since

        41       this inquiry commenced the tool of ridicule being used, the

        42       most profound being the comment to Mr Lindberg, "Are you a

        43       complete fool?"  Sir, that kind of examination, we say, is

        44       not just inappropriate, it is highly damaging.  It attracts

        45       media attention and it ought to be known and understood to

        46       be damaging.  That, of course, is not the only example.

        47       There are numerous examples.  In the fullness of time we
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         1       will provide the Commission with transcript references, but

         2       there are instances where it's been said, "Are you the only

         3       person in this room that doesn't understand" a particular

         4       interpretation, or "If I were to ask a 12-year-old", or

         5       "What were you doing in your job?" That sort of thing, we

         6       say, is ridiculing a witness, demeaning the witness, it's

         7       not becoming of counsel.  More than that, it has been

         8       highly damaging because of the way in which those comments

         9       have attracted media attention and been reported.

        10

        11            I know, sir, that you say the media response is not a

        12       matter for you, and I have no doubt that you will go on

        13       saying that --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   -- but the fact is there is a responsibility, we

        18       say, for this Commission to ensure a fairness which

        19       involves the absence of ridicule.

        20

        21            Sir, I notice the time.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we should go on.

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Thank you, sir.  The next complaint of

        26       unfairness we have is what we would describe as the

        27       predetermination of issues.  We do say, sir, that, quite

        28       obviously, there has been a predetermined case theory which

        29       has been employed in the course of this examination.  This

        30       is best manifest in the evidence that is sought or the

        31       admissions that are sought from witnesses about misleading

        32       the United Nations.  In our submission, it is not, and

        33       never has been, in this inquiry legitimate to ask a witness

        34       to agree that the United Nations was misled.  The damage,

        35       of course, is that --

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Has that question been objected to?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   It has, sir, yes.  Indeed, in one circumstance,

        40       sir, I objected to a question that was formulated on the

        41       assumption that it had been misled, and it was overruled.

        42

        43            It can't be said, sir, with confidence what the state

        44       of mind of the United Nations was, but what we can do, sir,

        45       is go to the Volcker Inquiry, and particularly the interim

        46       report, the September report, and we can discern from that

        47       the following:  that the 661 Committee was informed as



            .30/1/06 (16)              1554

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       early as 9 February 2001 of the demand by Iraq for the

         2       10 per cent fee, and that's volume 2, chapter 3, page 162

         3       of the September report.  Again, on 13 February, there was

         4       a meeting of the 661 Committee in which it considered the

         5       issue of the 10 per cent commissions.  Both the United

         6       Kingdom and the United States were making recommendations

         7       in relation to an approach by the committee.  Again, that's

         8       in the September report, volume 2, chapter 3, at page 161,

         9       and volume 3, chapter 4, at pages 83 and 87.

        10

        11            We say that, on 7 March 2001, the 661 Committee became

        12       acquainted with the fact that additional charges like

        13       inland transportation were required to be paid by those

        14       importing into Iraq.  That's in chapter 3, at pages 160 to

        15       163 of the September report.  Of course, as you will be

        16       aware, sir, there is the deliberation of the committee

        17       concerning the advice from Mr Johnston in which the issue

        18       of payments going to Iraq were directly raised and

        19       considered by the 661 Committee and the OLA.

        20

        21            What that means, sir, is this, that, first of all, it

        22       would seem that there is a body of material which would

        23       suggest that the 661 Committee had some knowledge at least

        24       of elements of that which is being put to the witnesses

        25       involves a misleading position; that is, a 10 per cent fee,

        26       inland transportation, payments to Iraq.  It's not

        27       suggested in the Volcker Report, of course, that the

        28       committee had the breakdown, the detail, of the actual

        29       amounts contained in the contracts.  What might be

        30       contended, sir - this, in part, arises out of the matter I

        31       raised this morning - is that, given the way in which the

        32       committee works, given its composition, and, according to

        33       principles of international law which have a strange

        34       operation on the interpretation of UN resolutions of this

        35       kind, what the committee knows and what the committee does

        36       is what the resolution means.  In those circumstances, the

        37       knowledge of the committee is vitally important.

        38

        39            It is unfair to continue to have witnesses peppered

        40       with the proposition that the United Nations was misled in

        41       circumstances where that, as a proposition, may be quite

        42       wrong.  That's not to say, sir --

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Wrong as a matter of law?

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Yes, and I'm going to qualify what I was saying

        47       a moment ago.  That's not to say that this inquiry cannot
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         1       investigate what that person thought or what that person

         2       believed or what that person did, but what is quite wrong,

         3       in our submission, is to roll up a proposition which, in

         4       our submission, involves a prejudgement of an issue that

         5       there was a misleading and an attempt to have the witness

         6       accept it.

         7

         8            The reason we are, sir, sensitive about it, if that

         9       might be said, is the fact that this, again, attracts undue

        10       media attention and thus damage, with a headline or an

        11       article to the effect that AWB accepts that the UN was

        12       misled.

        13

        14            Another example, sir, of the unfairness and the

        15       prejudging is the position put to Mr Geary at transcript

        16       1142, "You won't win" - "You won't win" - in an exchange

        17       that may have been frustrating for counsel, but "You won't

        18       win", or, "You will not win".  That speaks volumes about

        19       the approach that has been taken in the investigation.

        20

        21            Sir, there are numerous other items of unfairness

        22       which we say are evident in the process, some of which are

        23       more potent in terms of damage than others.  I've

        24       identified those which, in our submission, are the more

        25       potent that have been more damaging.  The others, if I can

        26       note, are these:  from time to time a witness is asked to

        27       construe a document, and it is put to a witness that one

        28       particular construction is the only construction which is

        29       open.  In our submission, in many instances what is being

        30       put may not in truth be the only solution or the only

        31       interpretation, but it fits the case theory of counsel

        32       assisting.  What has become commonplace is that these

        33       occasions have been used, sir, as the springboard for what

        34       we've described as ridicule that has occurred from time to

        35       time.  That, sir, is a matter which you as Commissioner

        36       have a duty, in our submission, to curtail and control, and

        37       we would ask you to do that, if only to minimise the damage

        38       which we perceive is being caused.

        39

        40            I raise those matters, sir, because, in the exchange,

        41       as I said, that occurred last Wednesday, it seemed to us

        42       that the attribution of damage was laid at our feet, and we

        43       reject that.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Attribution of damage?

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   The damage to AWB was being attributed to the
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         1       statements, it was being attributed in this way, that the

         2       long and tedious examination was necessary because of the

         3       inadequate statements.  We reject that, that there would

         4       have been any shortening of the proceeding.  But in the

         5       end, sir, that is not the point.  Much of the damage,

         6       embarrassment, much of the media attention, flows, in our

         7       submission, from issues such as ridicule, from

         8       predetermined issues, such as the misleading of the UN, and

         9       the like.  In our submission, that has been unfair and a

        10       process in which we have suffered considerable damage as a

        11       result.

        12

        13            Sir, by way of summary, we would contend that the

        14       expectation that you had in relation to the statements,

        15       sir, was not a reasonable one.  We hope that we have

        16       provided an explanation as to why the statements were in

        17       the way they were, and certainly counsel assisting could

        18       have been under no misunderstanding about that.

        19

        20            Secondly, sir, we contend that the duration of

        21       examination and the nature of the examination would not

        22       have been influenced had the statements had more detail.

        23       In truth, it may have well inflamed the examination.  Sir,

        24       we reject the proposition that such cooperation as was

        25       provided - and, indeed, we contend there was real

        26       cooperation, and continues to be real cooperation, from the

        27       AWB - was a facade.

        28

        29            Sir, probably the only remaining issue that I should

        30       deal with formally is the position of the board in

        31       responding to those 20-odd questions, because a response

        32       was sought by today.  You, sir, can assume that individual

        33       board members may well take their own view as to what they

        34       will do, but those for whom we continue to act are unable

        35       to provide any meaningful response by today.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   For whom do you continue to act?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   The current board, sir.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   The current board and the company?

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   And the company.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that all?

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Yes, sir.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then who is going to be acting

         3       for all of the witnesses who have provided statements

         4       through Arnold Bloch Leibler?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   The witnesses, sir, are being provided with the

         7       opportunity to get separate representation, and they are,

         8       for the most part, I think - I can inform the Commission

         9       more accurately - taking up that opportunity and each will

        10       separately be represented so as to avoid any issue that

        11       might arise between the company and the witness.

        12

        13            Sir, we don't see at this stage a position of conflict

        14       arising between the company and the board.  It's very

        15       difficult to see such a position arising because the

        16       company don't speak through the board.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is anybody at all acting for

        19       Mr Lindberg?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Mr Lindberg will be separately represented at an

        22       appropriate time, and, sir, someone will arrive and make

        23       application to represent him.  But the Commission should

        24       not assume that Arnold Bloch Leibler act on behalf of

        25       previous members of the board for the purpose of seeking

        26       their cooperation for that letter of request, and I

        27       understand that's been conveyed to the Commission

        28       solicitor.  There are quite a few previous members of the

        29       board going back during the period under inquiry.

        30

        31            Sir, it's always difficult to raise issues of this

        32       kind which reflect on the way in which the proceeding has

        33       been conducted and not feel some embarrassment as a

        34       practitioner, because it reflects on the profession.  But

        35       the Commissioner will understand that we are duty bound to

        36       raise our concerns.  They do, in our submission, reflect on

        37       the profession.  We say that this proceeding has been

        38       unfair and has been prejudicial.  We as practitioners are

        39       embarrassed about that, but our company, our client, is

        40       suffering, and we are most concerned to ensure that we do

        41       whatever we can and encourage you, sir, to seek to avoid as

        42       far as possible the very real prejudice that has been

        43       conducted through the manner in which the examination was

        44       undertaken.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Judd.  I've heard what

        47       you've said and I will obviously read it again.  Is there
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         1       anything you're asking me to do?

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Sir, yes, there is, and I thought I did just

         4       before I sat down.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'd like you to express it as clearly

         7       as you can, because, as I understand it, to date there is

         8       criticism of --

         9

        10       MR JUDD:   Unfairness.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- unfairness, mainly arising from the

        13       conduct of counsel assisting.  If you're making allegations

        14       that I've been unfair, I'd like you to spell them out.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   Can I perhaps identify what it is you, sir, can

        17       do, to assist.  The first is - we've been through this at

        18       the very outset - provide such transcript as was available

        19       of the in-camera hearings.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   The second:  identify such of the confidential

        24       exhibits - I think it's the first 50 or so - tendered

        25       during the in-camera hearings which are documents from the

        26       AWB.  In other words, if a third party provided a document,

        27       it places it into a slightly different category.  If the

        28       document is treated as confidential, we have to have

        29       identified the document and make application for its

        30       release.  But we are entitled to know what of those

        31       confidential exhibits are our documents.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   You want the Commission to tell you

        34       which documents it's relied upon that you gave to the

        35       Commission?

        36

        37       MR JUDD:   Correct, sir.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I understand that.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   These are ones which have been employed in the

        42       confidential hearings, the secret hearings.  It may be,

        43       sir, that each and every one of those documents is well

        44       known to us, but the fact is we would like to know which of

        45       our documents have been employed in the secret hearings.

        46

        47            Next, sir, we would ask you to ensure as best you can
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         1       that witnesses are treated courteously and not ridiculed.

         2       Next, sir, we would ask you as best you can to ensure that

         3       questions are not asked of witnesses which involve

         4       prejudgement of issues such as misleading the United

         5       Nations, and there are other examples.

         6

         7            We seek your assistance, sir, in ensuring that the

         8       examination of witnesses is conducted efficiently and

         9       fairly so as to avoid those circumstances that have often

        10       given rise to the ridicule where the witness has not

        11       accepted the case theory or an interpretation advanced by

        12       counsel assisting.

        13

        14            Finally, sir, which is an issue that, again, I raised

        15       at the outset, we are concerned at the oft criticism of our

        16       instructing solicitors concerning document management, the

        17       last instance of which, sir, fell from yourself this

        18       afternoon, in a circumstance, in responding to my friend

        19       Mr Forrest, you said something to the effect that the

        20       solicitors have had the documents since this inquiry was

        21       first mooted and probably for a year earlier.  Now, in our

        22       submission, as we submitted earlier, that is unfair,

        23       prejudicial and, as I'm instructed, as to the year earlier,

        24       incorrect.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is it the fact that your instructing

        27       solicitors were not involved in relation to any response to

        28       the Volcker Inquiry?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   They were; they plainly were.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   And back in February 2005.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Yes.  That's not to say, sir --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've only been in law for 40 years, but

        37       my assumption would be that at that point in time all of

        38       the relevant documents would have been marshalled.  They

        39       may not have done that, but that's what I would have

        40       expected to happen.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   I can understand that might be your expectation,

        43       sir, but my instructions are that's not correct.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I simply do not understand how a

        46       company could respond to an inquiry like this without doing

        47       that, they may not have done it, but as a matter of
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         1       practice I just don't understand how it could happen.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   That may well be so, and it may be that some

         4       witnesses have something to say about that.  But the

         5       assumption under which you, sir, have been proceeding is,

         6       on my instructions, wrong.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   My assumption that they were involved

         9       is right; the assumption that they marshalled all the

        10       documents is wrong.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that.

        15

        16       MR FORREST:   Mr Commissioner, insofar as matters raised by

        17       Mr Judd concern Messrs Long and Geary, we adopt them and we

        18       urge them upon you.  We reject the suggestion, if it were

        19       directed at them, that they have provided no more than a

        20       facade of cooperation.  We point out to the Commission that

        21       Mr Long now has been waiting - he's into his third week of

        22       waiting to give evidence.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand he provided another

        25       statement today, did he?

        26

        27       MR FORREST:   That's correct.  Mr Geary has attended now

        28       for three full days.  His examination is not finished, it's

        29       apparent.  It would be entirely unfair, we submit, to

        30       characterise any aspect of either Mr Geary's or Mr Long's

        31       pre-trial conduct or, indeed, Mr Geary's conduct under

        32       examination as lacking cooperation.  Cooperation does not

        33       mean submission.  If Mr Geary has --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Forrest, the remarks I directed were

        36       in relation to statements by the board of AWB.  I have no

        37       power to make anyone cooperate.  I have various compulsory

        38       powers, but what I was responding to was a series of

        39       statements, published by the board, the latest I think in

        40       the annual report, in which it was said that the board or

        41       the company - I forget which - was fully cooperating with

        42       the inquiry.  My view then was that the cooperation that I

        43       was getting was not full cooperation.  That's what I was

        44       responding to.  I was not speaking of Mr Long, and I

        45       haven't heard from Mr Long.  I wasn't speaking of Mr Geary.

        46       I was speaking of the cooperation that at that point in

        47       time was said to be forthcoming and it was emanating from
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         1       the solicitors then acting for AWB and still acting for AWB

         2       and also acting for all of the witnesses' statements that

         3       they provided to us.

         4

         5       MR FORREST:   It was for that reason, Mr Commissioner, that

         6       I predicated these remarks with the words "insofar as the

         7       matters raised by Mr Judd concern Messrs Long and Geary".

         8       I point out to you, Mr Commissioner, that you, in making

         9       the remarks you made last Wednesday, specifically directed

        10       them to me as well, and I appear for Messrs Long and Geary.

        11       I have no interest in the matters that you, Commissioner,

        12       raise concerning the board itself.  Page 1302, if it please

        13       you, Commissioner.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, those assisting you wrote to

        18       my learned friend Mr Judd's instructing solicitors as early

        19       as 9 December 2005 attaching a four-page statement of

        20       issues prior to the receipt of any documents from AWB, and

        21       referred to the offer that had been made to prepare

        22       statements from existing employees, and confirmed as a

        23       priority statements to be taken from Messrs Borlase, Long,

        24       Lindberg, Stott, Whitwell and Edmonds-Wilson.  We noted

        25       that work had already commenced on those

        26       statements - that's what we had been told - and we enclosed

        27       a note from senior counsel assisting concerning the matters

        28       to be addressed.  That note was four pages long.  Not one

        29       statement that has been received addresses the issues which

        30       are set out in the four pages:  not one.

        31

        32            In relation to those who provided statements to the

        33       IIC, particular questions were addressed in correspondence

        34       between those assisting you and those instructing on behalf

        35       of AWB.  Not one person has responded with either a can-say

        36       or a sworn statement detailing the matters which have been

        37       requested of them in that regard.

        38

        39            There was no detailed response as was requested.  For

        40       example, there was a request for the provision of

        41       statements dealing with AWB's letter to the Department of

        42       Foreign Affairs and Trade dated 30 October 2000.  A number

        43       of questions were set out in relation to that.  We've had a

        44       statement from Mr Stott which doesn't address all the of

        45       those questions, and, indeed, which addresses very few of

        46       them.

        47
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         1            Having written and set out the questions that we would

         2       like the statements to address, we wrote further drawing

         3       attention to the fact that we'd received documents and we

         4       asked questions about those documents, particularly the

         5       trip reports.  We have not had any response to that

         6       correspondence.  We wrote drawing attention to the fact

         7       that statements which were being provided were not verified

         8       and that, in many instances, they did not address or

         9       explain points of substance.  We made the point that they

        10       did not in any material way reduce the time to deal with

        11       the evidence of the witness.

        12

        13            We received the response that my learned friend

        14       referred to of 21 December 2005 and we responded by saying:

        15

        16            As to a further list of matters to be

        17            addressed, the inquiry considers the

        18            witness should address such matters in the

        19            list of issues provided on 9 December as

        20            they are able.  I also request that Messrs

        21            Long and Lindberg address, either now or in

        22            a supplementary statement, the matters

        23            requested in our letter of 9 December 2005.

        24            Further copies are enclosed for your

        25            assistance.

        26

        27       We received a further statement from Mr Long today, and I

        28       have yet to go through all of it in detail, but we have yet

        29       to receive from Mr Lindberg a full statement addressing the

        30       matters set out in our letter of 9 December.

        31

        32            My learned friend referred to the fact that our letter

        33       of 9 December did not ask any questions about the iron

        34       filings claim or about the 10 per cent or about the Arthur

        35       Andersen report.

        36

        37            On 9 December, when we wrote setting out our four-page

        38       request, we had not been told anything about the iron

        39       filings claim, we had not been told anything about the

        40       Arthur Andersen report, and as to the impost of

        41       10 per cent, we had AWB's position as it had been expressed

        42       in its letter to the IIC inquiry in October of last year,

        43       and we were content to rely upon that.  Nonetheless, we are

        44       still to receive any detailed statements - I put Mr Long's

        45       statement that we received today in a separate category,

        46       because I haven't yet reviewed all of it - in the terms

        47       that we requested on 9 December.
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         1

         2            The examination of Mr Lindberg has been long and

         3       tortuous.  The examination of Mr Geary has been much the

         4       same.  That is because, primarily, in their primary

         5       statements they have said very little about the substance

         6       and detail which it is incumbent upon this inquiry to cover

         7       in the course of its investigations.

         8

         9            Now, my learned friend Mr Judd may have many reasons

        10       why that detail is not addressed in those statements, but

        11       the fact is that the detail isn't addressed and the fact is

        12       that that material needs to be investigated.  If the AWB

        13       was truly cooperating, one would have expected to see in

        14       that material in those statements the detail that it has

        15       been necessary to cover in the course of oral examination.

        16

        17            To the extent to which there have been criticisms that

        18       that examination has been tortuous, it is plain that that

        19       examination has been by reference to documents, documents

        20       which were produced by the AWB.  Nearly the whole of the

        21       examination of Mr Lindberg and Mr Geary has been an

        22       examination upon the AWB's own documents, which the AWB

        23       holds and controls, which the AWB had access to during the

        24       whole of the course of the Volcker Inquiry - whether it

        25       chose to exercise that access or not is immaterial - but

        26       the whole of the examination has been on the AWB's own

        27       documents, none of which were addressed in any detail at

        28       all, if addressed at all, in the statements that have been

        29       provided by either Mr Lindberg or Mr Geary.

        30

        31            To say that had detailed statements been provided the

        32       examination would not have been any shorter is, with great

        33       respect to my learned friend, not a submission capable of

        34       being supported.  The fact is that evidently, as we now

        35       hear today, a deliberate decision was made not to provide

        36       that detail.  It cannot be said, in the absence of the

        37       provision of that sort of detail, that the AWB Limited, or

        38       AWBI Limited, is cooperating with this inquiry.  That

        39       suggestion is flatly rejected by those assisting you.  We

        40       have got what we have in terms of documents because of

        41       notices that have been served on my learned friend's

        42       clients and we have what we have in statements under the

        43       purport of the offering of assistance, but, in truth, as

        44       has been demonstrated to date, those statements contain

        45       none of the relevant detail.

        46

        47            To say that we were provided with all the documents is
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         1       to tell only 5 per cent of the story.  As at yesterday we

         2       were still receiving documents from AWB which related to

         3       notices that were served more than a month ago.  Without

         4       any reference to the content of those documents, but simply

         5       to provide thousands and thousands of documents and to

         6       leave those assisting you to sift through them, with the

         7       greatest of respect, is a long way short of full

         8       cooperation with this Commission.

         9

        10            In terms of the attack that has been made upon the

        11       alleged unfairness of the conduct of this Commission, let

        12       me say this:  it may be that the ACCC and ASIC have power

        13       to conduct investigations in private and it may be that, in

        14       relation to some of those investigations and hearings,

        15       there's a statutory requirement that the examinations be

        16       conducted in private.  There is no such statutory

        17       requirement in the Royal Commissions Act.  There is no

        18       urging to that effect in the Letters Patent.  There has

        19       been no application made to this Commission that the whole

        20       of this investigation be conducted in private.  One would

        21       not want to guess at what the public reaction might be if

        22       the whole of this investigation were to be conducted in

        23       private.

        24

        25            My friend has referred to "secret hearings".  Secret

        26       hearings are but one aspect of the way in which a

        27       Commission such as this goes about gathering its

        28       information.  It may interview witnesses, it may use its

        29       powers of compulsion to require witnesses to attend and

        30       conduct confidential hearings.  They have no special weight

        31       because they are conducted in confidence.  There is no

        32       requirement of the law that any material obtained - either

        33       by way of secret hearing, by way of the exercise of

        34       compulsory powers which require the production of

        35       documents, or by way of the volunteering of information by

        36       any member of the public - be made available to anybody who

        37       is summoned before a royal commission to give evidence

        38       before they give that evidence.  The requirements of

        39       natural justice in that regard are quite clear.

        40

        41            Those who are called, and indeed even those who are

        42       not called, will be given notice of any material which is

        43       adverse to them; they will have an opportunity to produce

        44       evidence if they wish which is contrary to that from which

        45       an adverse inference may be drawn; and, indeed, beyond what

        46       is required by the law in relation to natural justice, they

        47       will, assuming they comply with the practice note, have an
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         1       opportunity of examining those who provide the adverse

         2       material.  They will, in addition, have the opportunity to

         3       provide submissions.  There is nothing unfair about the

         4       conduct of confidential hearings, there is nothing unfair

         5       about not making that material available.

         6

         7            There is particularly nothing unfair about that in

         8       circumstances where, as is apparent from concessions that

         9       have been made, it appears that not all of the material

        10       that was available to AWB was provided to the IIC.

        11

        12            It is also apparent from concessions that have been

        13       made that the position that was maintained by the AWB in

        14       the course of the UN investigation is not the position that

        15       the AWB maintains now.  The problem is we have not had

        16       detailed or succinct statements from the AWB as to what its

        17       true position is.

        18

        19            The second aspect of unfairness that was touched upon

        20       was the reference to ridicule, and in that regard I myself

        21       was the subject of submission.  My learned friend has an

        22       obligation to make those submissions which he's instructed

        23       to make.  Such ridicule, if there has been any, that has

        24       flowed has flowed not so much from any question that might

        25       have been directed to any witness but to perhaps the

        26       incredulity with which any response that they made to

        27       questions might have provoked.  Examination in these

        28       circumstances is meant to be robust.  If a proposition is

        29       put which is unbelievable or untenable, then counsel

        30       assisting has an obligation to put to a witness that the

        31       proposition being put by the witness is untenable.  If it

        32       is a ridiculous proposition that's being put by the

        33       witness, and if later counsel assisting proposes to make a

        34       submission, contrary to the interests of that witness, that

        35       their response was ridiculous or unsustainable, then

        36       counsel assisting has an opportunity, and indeed an

        37       obligation, to put that submission to the witness and to

        38       give the witness an opportunity to deal with it.

        39

        40            If it be the fact that a 12-year-old reading a

        41       document would come to only one conclusion, and if it be

        42       the fact that the witness is obstinately refusing to make

        43       that concession, then counsel assisting, if that counsel

        44       wishes to make such submission in that regard later, has an

        45       obligation to put that fact to the witness.  Indeed, that

        46       is put as a matter of fairness.  The fact that the answer

        47       itself might be incredulous or that it might promote some
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         1       reaction in the press is not the responsibility of counsel

         2       assisting this Commission.  There has been no deliberate

         3       ridicule of any witness that has been called before this

         4       Commission.

         5

         6            There was also criticism of predetermination and the

         7       existence of a case theory.  Counsel assisting has a duty,

         8       given the concessions that have been made about the IIC

         9       findings, to put the substance of the IIC findings to

        10       witnesses that are called.  To the extent to which the IIC

        11       findings themselves constitute a case theory, that may be

        12       the case.  It is not the case theory of those assisting

        13       you, Mr Commissioner.  Those assisting you are here simply

        14       to put to witnesses propositions which appear to be

        15       relevant and to get their evidence in relation to them.

        16       There has been no adjustment of the evidence to fit any

        17       case theory.  Witnesses are publicly being given an

        18       opportunity to respond to such issues as arise from the IIC

        19       committee, particularly when those findings are compared

        20       with public statements made by the AWB.

        21

        22            To the extent to which there has been criticism of

        23       questions directed to witnesses to the effect that the UN

        24       may or may not have been deceived, let me respond in this

        25       way:  there are State offences available across the

        26       Commonwealth of Australia which set out as elements the

        27       obtaining of a benefit by deception.  Questions as to

        28       whether or not a particular person had an intention to

        29       deceive the United Nations are relevant questions if those

        30       offences are to be addressed and if facts are to be found,

        31       if that is to be the case, which may measure against the

        32       elements of those offences.  So it is quite appropriate, in

        33       our respectful submission, to direct questions to witnesses

        34       as to whether or not, in their belief, the United Nations

        35       was deceived when particular authorities or approvals were

        36       sought.

        37

        38            Answers to questions such as that may provide evidence

        39       of consciousness of wrongdoing.  It is completely not

        40       relevant on the issue of the state of mind of the witness

        41       as to whether or not the 661 Committee had obtained

        42       information itself relating to the conduct of the Iraqis in

        43       the management of their contracts.  There is no material

        44       that we are aware of - and we would be pleased to be guided

        45       to it - which indicates the 661 Committee at any time was

        46       aware that contracts for the supply of wheat by the AWB had

        47       their prices artificially inflated so that a fund of money
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         1       could be created for another purpose.  If that material is

         2       available, those assisting you would be pleased to receive

         3       it.

         4

         5            The fact that the committee had information about the

         6       general conduct of the Iraqis may ultimately be relevant at

         7       the end of this inquiry, but it is not relevant on the

         8       issue of the state of mind of a particular witness unless

         9       that particular witness was aware that the UN had that

        10       particular information at the time at which any alleged

        11       false statement was made to the UN.  That is the relevance

        12       of that material and, in our respectful submission, it is

        13       entirely appropriate that persons being called before this

        14       Commission, if they were involved in a deception of the

        15       United Nations, be questioned about that deception.

        16       If it be the case that that deception turns out not to be

        17       relevant for the findings of this inquiry, that can be a

        18       matter of submission at the end of the day.

        19

        20            There was again an attack on the fairness of this

        21       inquiry by suggesting that there was an element of

        22       prejudging.  To the extent to which that criticism is

        23       directed towards those assisting you, there has been no

        24       prejudgement.  There has been a testing - a rigid, a

        25       rugged, a robust testing - of that which has been said in

        26       the course of sworn evidence.  There has been a measurement

        27       of that material against the Volcker findings and there has

        28       been a measurement of that material against what was

        29       represented to the Volcker Inquiry.  The statement made to

        30       Mr Geary that he would not win was made in a particular

        31       factual circumstance.  The factual circumstance can be

        32       found in the transcript to which detailed reference is

        33       perhaps necessary.  Without taking up too much time, it is

        34       apparent that Mr Geary was being asked questions about

        35       particular contracts and, in our respectful submission -

        36       and it will be our submission - Mr Geary was deliberately

        37       obfuscating in answering those questions.  He was asked

        38       these questions:

        39

        40            MR AGIUS:   Q.   After the war the Iraqis

        41            indicated that they would abide by those

        42            contracts, did they not?

        43            A.   Not those contracts, no, sir.

        44            Q.   After the war, the Iraqis indicated

        45            that they would continue with the purchase

        46            of the million tonnes of wheat to which

        47            those contracts referred?
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         1            A.   Those contract numbers or those

         2            contracts?

         3            Q.   Those contracts covered the sale of a

         4            million tonnes of wheat for delivery in

         5            2003?

         6            A.   Yes, sir.

         7            Q.   After the war, the interim

         8            administration, and then later the new

         9            administration in Iraq, agreed that they

        10            would abide by those contracts and accept

        11            the delivery of the million tonnes of

        12            wheat; isn't that right.

        13            A.   Are you talking about the contract

        14            numbers or the contract - the fully

        15            operable contract?

        16            Q.   I'm talking about the wheat that was

        17            the subject of the contracts.

        18            A.   Which contract?

        19            Q.   1670 and 1680.

        20            A.   That's the contract number.

        21            Q.   They're the contracts.  I'm defining

        22            the contracts by reference to their number.

        23

        24       Then I put to the witness:

        25

        26            We can play this game all day, Mr Geary...

        27            but you will not win it, let me tell you

        28            that.

        29

        30       Mr Geary's response was:

        31

        32            No, I don't want to win a game.

        33

        34       The point of the question was to make a point with the

        35       witness that what was going on was indeed not a game and

        36       that it was not a game that could be played and won by the

        37       witness by continuing to obfuscate.  The point was made

        38       with the witness to direct his attention to the question

        39       and not to continually relay back to the question of

        40       contract numbers when it was plain that there was no issue

        41       at this point of the examination about any contract number.

        42       It is apparent that that tactic had effect, because from

        43       thereon, after objection, Mr Geary was able to direct his

        44       mind to the questions which were being directed to him.

        45       There was no issue about unfairness or prejudgement in

        46       relation to that examination.

        47
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         1            They're our submissions in relation to my learned

         2       friend's comments about the conduct of this inquiry.  To

         3       the extent to which my learned friend suggests that there

         4       has been any prejudgement on the part of this inquiry,

         5       those assisting you reject it for our part and we say,

         6       generally by way of submission, that one ought to bear

         7       steadily in mind a clear division of roles in this inquiry

         8       between those of senior counsel assisting and that of the

         9       Commissioner.  With the greatest of respect to my learned

        10       friend, this Commission - that is, this Commission, its

        11       investigations and findings by you, Mr Commissioner - ought

        12       not to be tainted by attacks upon counsel assisting,

        13       particularly when those attacks are completely

        14       unsustainable.  We have a particular job to do in relation

        15       to this investigation.  That job is not at all being

        16       assisted by the kinds of statements that we have received

        17       to date.  Again, I reserve from that criticism the

        18       statement that we received from Mr Long today.  They're our

        19       submissions on that, Commissioner.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, gentlemen.  I'll consider

        22       what has been said and I'll determine whether I'm going to

        23       say anything at all.  I'll now adjourn.

        24

        25       AT 5.07PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED TO

        26       TUESDAY, 31 JANUARY 2006 AT 10 AM

        27
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